RESEARCH ARTICLE



The success story of *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge in the Philippines (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae), with description of 18 new species

Thomas Kaltenbach^{1,2}, Jhoana M. Garces³, Jean-Luc Gattolliat^{1,2}

I Museum of Zoology, Palais de Rumine, Place Riponne 6, CH-1005 Lausanne, Switzerland **2** University of Lausanne (UNIL), Department of Ecology and Evolution, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland **3** Department of Biology, School of Science and Engineering, Ateneo de Manila University, Quezon City, 1108 Metro Manila, Philippines

Corresponding author: Thomas Kaltenbach (thomas.kaltenbach@bluewin.ch)

Academic editor: L. Pereira-da-Conceicoa Received 26 August 2020 Accepted 16 October 2020 Published 10 December 2020						

Citation: Kaltenbach T, Garces JM, Gattolliat J-L (2020) The success story of *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge in the Philippines (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae), with description of 18 new species. ZooKeys 1002: 1–114. https://doi.org/10.3897/zooKeys.1002.58017

Abstract

Material collected between 1994 and 2020 in the Philippines, covering most main islands like Luzon, Mindoro, Palawan, Negros, Cebu, Leyte, and Mindanao and some smaller islands, substantially increased our knowledge of *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge in this archipelago. Only three species were previously reported: *L. molawinensis* (Müller-Liebenau, 1982) and *L. sumigarensis* (Müller-Liebenau, 1982) from larvae and *L. boettgeri* (Ulmer, 1924) from adults. Eighteen new species have been identified using a combination of morphology and genetic distance (COI, Kimura 2-parameter). They are described and illustrated based on their larvae and a key to all species in the Philippines is provided. The total number of *Labiobaetis* in the Philippines has increased to 21 species. Additional diversity of *Labiobaetis* based on molecular evidence only is presented as Molecular Operational Taxonomic Units (MOTUs) without description. The interspecific K2P distances in the Philippines are between 15% and 27%, the intraspecific distances are usually between 0% and 3%. The total number of *Labiobaetis* species worldwide is augmented to 144.

Keywords

COI, genetic distance, integrated taxonomy, Molecular Operational Taxonomic Unit (MOTU), Southeast Asia

Copyright Thomas Kaltenbach et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY 4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Table of contents

Introduction	3
Materials and methods	4
Results	9
List of <i>Labiobaetis</i> species from the Philippines	9
Labiobaetis dendrisetis group of species (new group of species)	9
Labiobaetis dalisay sp. nov	9
Labiobaetis numeratus group of species (Kaltenbach and Gattoliat 2019)	14
Labiobaetis acei sp. nov.	14
Labiobaetis aldabae sp. nov	19
Labiobaetis camiguinensis sp. nov.	23
Labiobaetis lachicae sp. nov.	27
Labiobaetis palawano sp. nov.	32
Labiobaetis sabordoi sp. nov	36
Labiobaetis operosus group of species (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019)	40
Labiobaetis gamay sp. nov.	41
Labiobaetis pangantihoni sp. nov	45
Labiobaetis tagbanwa sp. nov	49
Labiobaetis valdezorum sp. nov	54
Labiobaetis wantzeni sp. nov	58
Labiobaetis sumigarensis group of species (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019)	63
Labiobaetis molawinensis (Müller-Liebenau, 1982)	63
Labiobaetis sumigarensis (Müller-Liebenau, 1982)	64
Labiobaetis baganii sp. nov	65
Labiobaetis delocadoi sp. nov	69
Labiobaetis freitagi sp. nov	73
Labiobaetis pelingeni sp. nov	77
Labiobaetis vallus group of species (new group of species)	81
Labiobaetis giselae sp. nov	82
Labiobaetis mendozai sp. nov	86
Key to the Labiobaetis species of the Philippines (larvae)	90
Distribution	92
Genetics	92
Discussion	97
Assignment to <i>Labiobaetis</i>	97
Species groups	104
Genetic distance	104
Biogeography and endemicity	105
Acknowledgements	108
References	108

Introduction

The family Baetidae has the highest species diversity among mayflies, comprising 1,070 species in 110 genera (Sartori and Brittain 2015; Jacobus et al. 2019), which is approx. one quarter of all mayfly species worldwide (Gattolliat and Nieto 2009; Jacobus et al. 2019). They have a cosmopolitan distribution except Antarctica and New Zealand. Investigations of the molecular phylogeny of the Order Ephemeroptera revealed the relatively primitive status of the family (Ogden and Whiting 2005; Ogden et al. 2009).

The genus Labiobaetis Novikova & Kluge (Novikova and Kluge 1987) is one of the richest genera of mayflies with 126 previously described species (Barber-James et al. 2013; Webb 2013; Kubendran et al. 2014, 2015; Shi and Tong 2014; Gattolliat et al. 2018; Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018, 2019, 2020). The distribution of Labiobaetis is nearly worldwide, except for the Neotropical realm, New Zealand and New Caledonia. The status and validity of the genus has often been a subject of controversy for a long time, but nowadays Labiobaetis is widely accepted as a valid genus (Gattolliat 2001; Fujitani et al. 2003; Fujitani 2008; McCafferty et al. 2010; Gattolliat and Staniczek 2011; Kluge and Novikova 2011, 2014, 2016; Kluge 2012; Webb 2013; Kubendran et al. 2014, 2015; Shi and Tong 2014). The history and concept of the genus Labiobaetis were recently summarized in detail (Shi and Tong 2014; Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018). Recently, Kluge and Novikova (2016) established a new tribe Labiobaetini including the genera Labiobaetis and Pseudopannota Waltz & McCafferty, 1987, based on a unique combination of imaginal and larval characters. All Oriental species previously transferred to Pseudocloeon (Lugo-Ortiz et al. 1999) were formerly reassigned to Labiobaetis by Shi and Tong (2014); the concept of *Pseudocloeon* is therefore limited to the type species P. kraepelini Klapálek, 1905 from Java. Molecular reconstructions indicated that the concept of Labiobaetis is probably at least diphyletic (Monaghan et al. 2005; Gattolliat et al. 2008).

Recently, integrative taxonomy was done on collections from the diverse and poorly explored Southeast Asia and New Guinea regions where 47 species were described and named (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018, 2019, 2020). This contribution will focus on the Philippines archipelago, one of the highly diverse parts of the Oriental region.

The megadiversity of the Philippines is partly attributed to the complex biogeographic history and isolation of the archipelago. The discussion of the biogeographic history of the Philippine archipelago includes landmass movements, collisions between landmasses of different origin in Miocene, and temporary Pleistocene land bridges which were possible colonization pathways of species. Originally part of the Eurasian continent, the oldest landmasses of the current Philippines are parts of Palawan, Mindoro, Romblon and Panay. Whether these landmasses were entirely submerged during the drift is still a matter of debate (Vane-Wright 1990; Turner et al. 2001; Hall 2002; Zamoras and Matsuoka 2004; Siler et al. 2012; Heaney et al. 2013), but undoubtedly these current islands are of different origin and age compared to the rest of the country which is of oceanic origin. Hence, it is expected that the adjacent areas (continental Southeast Asia, Taiwan, Borneo and Sulawesi) differ from most of the archipelago. Moreover, when the sea level was low during the Pleistocene, land bridges were formed interconnecting groups of Philippine islands, and the Sundaic landmasses with the western Philippine island (Greater Palawan) (Ong et al. 2002; Welton et al. 2014; Zettel and Freitag 2014; Freitag et al. 2016). This was the major basis of the intra-Philippine biogeographic region (Ong et al. 2002) and is subsequently reflected up to a certain extent on current species distribution (Siler et al. 2012; Zettel and Freitag 2014; Freitag et al. 2016), but not always (Heads 2013 and references therein). In his review of the biogeography of the Philippines, Heads (2013) outlined different species affinities and sister-group relationships of various taxa based on published records and available data - Philippine clades recovered sister to: Madagascar-Asia-Central America, Africa-Asia, Madagascar-Mascarenes-Asia, Indochina/China, Sundaland, Borneo, Sulawesi and further east. Several Philippine-endemic clades indeed have diverse sister groups with widespread intercontinental distributions, as opposed to simply coming from Borneo, Sulawesi or Taiwan as once previously thought. In addition, recent data suggest that even biogeographic regions previously categorized as one single unit (e.g., Greater Luzon) are in fact composed of distinct centres of endemism that correlate with tectonic features (Vallejo 2014), further exemplifying high endemism and niche specialization of species found in the country.

The diversity of *Labiobaetis* in the Philippines was poorly known, as only two species were previously reported from larvae (*L. molawinensis* and *L. sumigarensis* by Müller-Liebenau 1982) and one species from adults only (*L. boettgeri*). Here, we increase the total number of *Labiobaetis* species in the Philippines to 21, based on material collected between 1994 and 2020 on several islands (Figs 48, 49). We describe 18 new species of *Labiobaetis* based on larval stage only. The characters of some of the species groups are complemented based on the results of this study. Additionally, we have new reports of *L. molawinensis* and *L. sumigarensis*. We are also presenting cryptic diversity as Molecular Operational Taxonomic Units (MOTUs) based on molecular evidence only (COI), without description of species (Floyd et al. 2002; Blaxter et al. 2005; Morard et al. 2016).

Materials and methods

All specimens were collected between 1994 and 2020 by Dr. Hendrik Freitag and his team (Ateneo de Manila University) and preserved in 70%–96% ethanol.

The dissection of larvae was done in Cellosolve (2-Ethoxyethanol) with subsequent mounting on slides with Euparal liquid, using an Olympus SZX7 stereomicroscope.

The DNA of part of the specimens was extracted using non-destructive methods allowing subsequent morphological analysis (see Vuataz et al. 2011 for details). We amplified a 658 bp fragment of the mitochondrial gene cytochrome oxidase subunit 1 (COI) using the primers LCO 1490 and HCO 2198 (Folmer et al. 1994; see Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2020 for details). Sequencing was done with Sanger's method (Sanger et al. 1977). The genetic variability between specimens was estimated using Kimura-2-parameter distances (K2P, Kimura 1980), calculated with the program MEGA 7 (Kumar et al. 2016, http://www.megasoftware.net).

The GenBank accession numbers are given in Table 1, nomenclature of gene sequences follows Chakrabarty et al. (2013).

The nomenclature used for Molecular Operational Taxonomic Units (MOTUs) is somewhat different as the one proposed by Morard et al. (2016).

Drawings were made using an Olympus BX43 microscope. To facilitate the determination of species and the comparison of important structures, we partly used a combination of dorsal and ventral aspects in one drawing. Explanations are given in Fig. 1.

Photographs of larvae were taken using a Canon EOS 6D camera and the Visionary Digital Passport imaging system (http://www.duninc.com) and processed with Adobe Photoshop Lightroom (http://www.adobe.com) and Helicon Focus version 5.3 (http://www.heliconsoft.com). Photographs were subsequently enhanced with Adobe Photoshop Elements 13.

The distribution maps were generated with SimpleMappr (https://simplemappr.net, Shorthouse 2010). Google Earth (http://www.google.com/earth/download/ge/) was used to attribute approximate GPS coordinates to sample locations of Müller-Liebenau (1982).

The taxonomic descriptions were generated with a DELTA (Dallwitz 1980; Dallwitz et al. 1999; Coleman et al. 2010) database containing the morphological states of characters of the *Labiobaetis* species of the Philippines.

The dichotomous key was elaborated with the support of DKey version 1.3.0 (http://drawwing.org/dkey, Tofilski 2018).

The terminology follows Hubbard (1995) and Kluge (2004). The character states of some of the characters are depicted in Fig. 2.

Abbreviations:

AdMU Ateneo de Manila University, Quezon City (Philippines)

- MZL Musée de Zoologie Lausanne (Switzerland)
- PCSD Palawan Council for Sustainable Development, Puerto Princesa, Palawan (Philippines)
- **PNM** Museum of Natural History of the Philippine National Museum, Manila (Philippines)
- **ZSM** Zoologische Staatssammlung München (Germany).

Species	Species group	Locality	Specimens catalog #	GenBank #	GenSeq
			-	(COI)	Nomenclature
L. dalisay sp. nov.	<i>dendrisetis</i> gr.	Philippines: Luzon	GBIFCH 00763649	MT830940	genseq-2 COI
L. acei sp. nov.	<i>numeratus</i> gr.	Philippines: Luzon	GBIFCH 00763643	MT830941	genseq-1 COI
			GBIFCH 00763645	MT830942	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763651	MT830943	genseq-2 COI
L. aldabae sp. nov.	<i>numeratus</i> gr.	Philippines: Luzon	GBIFCH 00654913	MT830944	genseq-1 COI
			GBIFCH 00654908	MT830945	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763646	MT830946	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763648	MT830947	genseq-2 COI
		Philippines: Negros	GBIFCH 00654889	MT830948	genseq-2 COI
L. camiguinensis sp. nov.	<i>numeratus</i> gr.	Philippines: Camiguin	GBIFCH 00654915	MT830949	genseq-1 COI
L. lachicae sp. nov.	<i>numeratus</i> gr.	Philippines: Mindanao	GBIFCH 00654891	MT830950	genseq-1 COI
L. palawano sp. nov.	<i>numeratus</i> gr.	Philippines: Busuanga	GBIFCH 00763688	MT830987	genseq-1 COI
		Philippines: Palawan	GBIFCH 00763679	MT830988	genseq-2 COI
L. sabordoi sp. nov.	<i>numeratus</i> gr.	Philippines: Negros	GBIFCH 00654878	MT830951	genseq-2 COI
		Philippines: Romblon	GBIFCH 00763674	MT830952	genseq-2 COI
L. gamay sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Mindoro	GBIFCH 00654922	MT830953	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763637	MT830954	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763639	MT830955	genseq-2 COI
		Philippines: Luzon	GBIFCH 00763655	MT830956	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763657	MT830957	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763658	MT830958	genseq-2 COI
L. pangantihoni sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Palawan	GBIFCH 00763684	MT830959	genseq-2 COI
L. tagbanwa sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Palawan	GBIFCH 00654885	MT830960	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763681	MT830961	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763680	MT830962	genseq-2 COI
L. valdezorum sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Negros	GBIFCH 00654888	MT830963	genseq-1 COI
			GBIFCH 00654882	MT830964	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00654879	MT830965	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00654880	MT830966	genseq-2 COI
		Philippines: Cebu	GBIFCH 00763671	MT830967	genseq-2 COI
L. wantzeni sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Camiguin	GBIFCH 00654898	MT830968	genseq-1 COI
			GBIFCH 00654897	MT830969	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763641	MT830970	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763642	MT830971	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00654896	MT830972	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00654900	MT830973	genseq-2 COI
L. baganii sp. nov.	<i>sumigarensis</i> gr.	Philippines: Mindanao	GBIFCH 00654895	MT830974	genseq-1 COI
		Philippines: Camiguin	GBIFCH 00654899	MT830975	genseq-2 COI
L. delocadoi sp. nov.	<i>sumigarensis</i> gr.	Philippines: Cebu	GBIFCH 00654886	MT830976	genseq-1 COI
		Philippines: Leyte	GBIFCH 00763668	MT830977	genseq-2 COI
L. freitagi sp. nov.	<i>sumigarensis</i> gr.	Philippines: Palawan	GBIFCH 00763677	MT830978	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763678	MT830979	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763682	MT830980	genseq-2 COI
			GBIFCH 00763683	MT830981	genseq-2 COI
L. pelingeni sp. nov.	<i>sumigarensis</i> gr.	Philippines: Negros	GBIFCH 00654901	MT830982	genseq-2 COI
		Philippines: Cebu	GBIFCH 00763672	MT830983	genseq-2 COI
L. giselae sp. nov.	<i>vallus</i> gr.	Philippines: Luzon	GBIFCH 00654911	MT830984	genseq-2 COI
L. mendozai sp. nov.	<i>vallus</i> gr.	Philippines: Mindanao	GBIFCH 00654894	MT830985	genseq-2 COI

Table 1. Sequenced specimens.



Figure 1. Explanation of drawings **a** labrum **b** mandibles **c** maxilla **d** labium.



Figure 2. *Labiobaetis*, character states of selected characters **a**–**e** setae of the submarginal arc on the dorsal surface of the labrum: **a** simple **b** feathered **c** clavate **d** dendritic **e** lanceolate **f**–**h** distolateral process at scape of antenna: **f** absent **g** poorly developed **h** well developed **i**–**m** labial palp, distomedial protuberance of segment II: **i** thumb-like **j** broad thumb-like **k** slender thumb-like **l** hook-like **m** small thumb-like **n–p** distolateral excavation at maxillary palp segment II: **n** well developed **o** poorly developed **p** absent **q–t** hypopharynx, medial tuft of stout setae: **q** well developed, long **r** well developed, average length **s** well developed, short **t** poorly developed **u–x** hind protoptera: **u** absent **v** minute **w** small **x** well developed **y**, **z** paraproct: **y** distally not expanded **z** distally expanded.

Results

List of Labiobaetis species from the Philippines

dendrisetis group

1. L. dalisay sp. nov.

numeratus group

- 2. L. acei sp. nov.
- 3. L. aldabae sp. nov.
- 4. L. camiguinensis sp. nov.
- 5. L. lachicae sp. nov.
- 6. L. palawano sp. nov.
- 7. L. sabordoi sp. nov.

operosus group

- 8. L. gamay sp. nov.
- 9. L. pangantihoni sp. nov.
- 10. L. tagbanwa sp. nov.
- 11. L. valdezorum sp. nov.
- 12. L. wantzeni sp. nov.

sumigarensis group

- 13. L. molawinensis (Müller-Liebenau, 1982)
- 14. L. sumigarensis (Müller-Liebenau, 1982)
- 15. L. baganii sp. nov.
- 16. L. delocadoi sp. nov.
- 17. L. freitagi sp. nov.
- 18. L. pelingeni sp. nov.

vallus group

- 19. L. giselae sp. nov.
- 20. L. mendozai sp. nov.

Not assigned to a group

21. L. boettgeri (Ulmer, 1924), no further treatment in this study.

Labiobaetis dendrisetis group of species (new group of species)

Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of dendritic setae; B) labial palp segment II slender or small thumb-like; C) labial palp segment III wide; D) maxillary palp shorter than galea-lacinia, rather thick; E) seven pairs of gills.

Labiobaetis dalisay sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/0CF1B9F8-0208-4EF9-BF95-379DBFAA2FF0 Figures 3, 4, 41a, 48b

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with 6–8 long, dendritic setae; B) labial palp segment II with a slender thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III subrectangular; C) right mandible without row of thin setae at inner margin of innermost denticle; D) fore femur length 3.4 × maximum width, dorsal margin with 10–19 curved, spine-like setae; E) hind protoptera well developed; F) paraproct distally not expanded, with ca. 15 stout, marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 3, 4, 41a). Body length 4.8–6.5 mm. Cerci ca. ½ of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 41a, fore protoptera light brown with darker striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally light brown. Legs light brown, femur basally and apically brown with a distomedial brown spot and a brown streak distomedially along dorsal margin, tibia basally with brown area, tarsus medially brown. Caudalii light brown with a brown band both at base and at ca. 1/3 of cerci length, cerci distally brown.

Antenna (Fig. 4g) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, with well-developed distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 3a, b). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of 6–8 long, dendritic setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. six short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 3c, d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle without a row of thin setae; denticles of both incisor and kinetodontium of unused mandibles with secondary dentation. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 3f, g). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins slightly convex. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 3h). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae poorly developed; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.



Figure 3. *Labiobaetis dalisay* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** seta of arc on dorsal surface of labrum **c** right mandible **d** right prostheca **e** right incisor and kinetodontium **f** left mandible **g** left prostheca **h** hypopharynx and superlinguae **i** maxilla **j** labium **k** apex of paraglossa.

Maxilla (Fig. 3i). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and five medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp approx. as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II 1.6 × length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment slightly pointed, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 3j, k). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. ten spine-like setae increasing in length distally; apex with two long, robust, pectinate setae and one short, robust seta; outer margin with three spine-like setae; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa subrectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and 4–6 medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; outer, anterolateral margin with some long, spine-like setae; dorsally with a row of three long, spine-like setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I 0.9 × length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with slender, thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance 0.5 × width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with two or three spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III subrectangular; length 0.9 × width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 4h) well developed.

Foreleg (Fig. 4a–c). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.4:1.0:0.7:0.3. **Femur**. Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with a row of 10-19 curved, spine-like setae, apically rounded and sometimes with minute dentation; length of setae $0.13 \times$ maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of spine-like setae, apically rounded and sometimes with minute dentation and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch present. **Tibia.** Dorsal margin with two rows of short, spine-like setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, curved, spine-like setae, on apex some longer, partly bipectinate, spine-like setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal 2/3 area. **Tarsus.** Dorsal margin with one or two rows of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with one or two rows of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with one or two rows of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with one or two rows of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with one or two rows of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with one or two rows of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Claw with one row of 13-15 denticles; distally pointed; with five or six stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 4d). Surface with irregular rows of W-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, longer than wide.

Gills (Fig. 4e). Present on segments I–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill I ca. 2/3 length of segment II. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and 2/3 VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and 1/3 IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 4f). Distally not expanded, with ca. 15 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases and fine, simple setae. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.



Figure 4. *Labiobaetis dalisay* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** seta at apex of femur **c** fore claw **d** tergum IV **e** gill IV **f** paraproct **g** antennal scape **h** metanotum.

Etymology. Named after the Filipino word *dalisay* meaning pristine, which describes the localities where the species was collected.

Distribution. Philippines: Luzon (Fig. 48b).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from 60 m to 400 m, mainly in pristine areas.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Luzon, Maria Aurora, Wenceslao, Bingwangan River; 15°45'48"N, 121°25'21"E; 60 m; 05.II.1998; leg. Mendoza; on slide; GBIFCH 00592279; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Luzon, Nueva Ecija, Pantabangan, Candaclan River; 15°46'48"N, 121°13'17"E; 240 m; 05.II.1998; leg. Mendoza; on slide; GBIFCH 00654909; ZSM • 6 larvae; Luzon, Benguet, Tuba, Taloy Sur; 16°21'33"N, 120°30'31"E; 400 m; XI. 1997; leg. Mey; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830940; GBIFCH 00763649; AdMU; 5 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515405; MZL.

Labiobaetis numeratus group of species (Kaltenbach and Gattoliat 2019)

Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of simple setae, 1st and 2nd setae after submedian seta close together; B) labial palp segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; C) glossae with robust setae at inner margin; D) paraglossae with setae at anterolateral and lateral outer margin; E) right mandible with a pronounced hump between prostheca and mola, thin setae at base of mola; F) left mandible with convex margin between prostheca and mola; G) maxillary palp segment II much longer vs. segment I, bent; H) superlinguae sclerotized along margins (Fig. 47d); I) six pairs of gills, mostly oblong; J) hind protoptera present, minute; K) distolateral process at scape absent; L) spines at posterior margin of tergum IV always partly merged, mostly rounded and wider than long; M) femur dorsal margin with a partial second row of spine-like setae; N) ventral margin of tibia with a longer, spine-like seta distally at patellotibial suture.

Labiobaetis acei sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/256AE781-83A3-41C7-A109-78AB9EFA3906 Figures 5, 6, 41b, 46a, 48c

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of six or seven long, simple setae; B) labial palp segment II with a thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III conical; C) left mandible with a comb-shaped structure at base of mola; D) fore femur rather broad, length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width, dorsal margin with 9–12 curved, spine-like setae and a partial second row near margin; E) tergum IV with rounded, partly fused spines at posterior margin, surface with irregular, dense rows of U-shaped scale bases; F) paraproct distally not expanded, with 29–34 stout, marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 5, 6, 41b, 46a). Body length 4.2–10.3 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.



Figure 5. *Labiobaetis acei* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** detail of left mola **g** comb-shaped structure at left mola **h** hypopharynx and superlinguae **i** maxilla **j** labium.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally brown, with pattern as in Fig. 41b. Fore protoptera brown with dark brown striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally brown, abdominal segment IX ecru (Fig. 46a). Legs light brown, femur

with a distomedial brown spot and a brown apex. Caudalii light brown with a dark brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci length.

Antenna (Fig. 6f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 5a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus six or seven long, simple setae, the first two setae after the submedian seta are close together. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. five short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 5b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola with a pronounced hump. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present and many thin setae distally at base of mola.

Left mandible (Fig. 5d–g). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with three denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex, with minute denticles toward subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present. Comb-shaped structure at base of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 5h). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 5i). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and 5-7 medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.4 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.4 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment slightly pointed, without excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 5j). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. ten short, stout, spine-like setae plus distalmost one much longer, less robust, spine-like seta; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae and one short, robust seta; outer margin with six spine-like setae increasing in length distally; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and four or five medium, simple setae in anteromedial



Figure 6. *Labiobaetis acei* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

area; outer margin with some long, spine-like setae; dorsally with a row of six long, spine-like setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.7 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.5 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of 7–9 medium, spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex slightly pointed; length $1.0 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 6g) minute.

Foreleg (Fig. 6a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.4:1.0:0.8:0.2. **Femur.** Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with a row of 9-12 curved, spine-like setae, a partial row of spine-like setae and some additional spine-like setae near margin; length of setae $0.16 \times$ maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of curved, spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. **Tibia.** Dorsal margin with a row of short to medium, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae, on apex two longer, spine-like setae. Ventral margin with a row of short to medium curved, spine-like setae, distally of patellotibial suture one longer, curved, spine-like setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. **Tarsus.** Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Neutron surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. **Tarsus.** Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae.

Terga (Fig. 6c). Surface with dense, irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases. Posterior margin of tergum IV with rounded, partly fused spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 6d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and half of IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 6e). Distally not expanded, with 29–34 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Mr. Ace Kevin Amarga (Philippines/Taiwan), an outstanding collector and entomologist, for loaning some precious material to one of the authors (JG).

Distribution. Philippines: Luzon (Fig. 48c).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes of 1700 m and 1820 m, either on rock surface or bottom gravel in riffles or runs, or in root packs or grass bunches in riffles or runs.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Luzon, Mountain Province, Bauko, mineral rich mountain creek; 17°03'53"N, 121°05'10"E; 1820 m; XI.1997; leg. Mey; on slide; GenBank: MT830941; GBIFCH 00763643; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIP-PINES • 41 larvae; same data as holotype; 2 on slides; GBIFCH 00592360, GBIFCH 00592361; MZL; 13 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515445; MZL; 25 in alcohol; GBIF-CH 00515449; AdMU; 1 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515452; MZL • 64 larvae; Luzon, Ifugao, Banaue, Sumigar Bridge; 16°59'37"N, 121°02'51"E; 1700 m; IX.1997; leg. Mey; 3 on slides; GenBank: MT830942, MT830943; GBIFCH 00592329, GBIFCH 00763645, GBIFCH 00763651; MZL; 31 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515446, GBIFCH 00515447, GBIFCH 00515453; MZL; 30 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515448, GBIFCH 00515450; AdMU.

Labiobaetis aldabae sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/9B9F4A30-2C5A-4B83-9649-175F52920FC1 Figures 7, 8, 41c, 46b, 48c

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of 4–6 long, simple setae; B) labial palp segment II with a thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III conical; C) left mandible with a comb-shaped structure at base of mola; D) fore femur rather broad, length $3.4 \times$ maximum width, with ca. nine curved, spine-like setae and a partial second row near margin; E) claw with 12–15 denticles; F) paraproct distally not expanded, with 18–21 stout, marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 7, 8, 41c, 46b). Body length 4.1–5.4 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head dorsally light brown, thorax and abdomen dorsally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 41c. Fore protoptera light brown with darker and brighter striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 46b. Femur with a distormedial brown spot and a distodorsal brown streak, apically brown, tibia partially light brown, tarsus light brown, apically darker. Caudalii light brown with a brown dark band at ca. 1/3 of cerci length, distal area of cerci brown.

Antenna (Fig. 8f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 7a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus 4–6 long, simple setae, the first two setae after the submedian seta are close together. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. five short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 7b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola with a pronounced hump. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present and many thin setae distally at base of mola.



Figure 7. *Labiobaetis aldabae* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** comb-shaped structure at left mola **g** hypopharynx and superlinguae **h** maxilla **i** labium.

Left mandible (Fig. 7d–f). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with three denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola convex. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and

mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present. Comb-shaped structure at base of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 7g). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal half not expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 7h). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and three or four medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.4 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.6 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment slightly pointed, without excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 7i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. ten short, stout, spine-like setae plus distalmost one much longer, less robust, spine-like seta; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with five long, spine-like setae; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and two or three medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; outer margin with some long, spine-like setae; dorsally with a row of four long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I 0.8 × length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.7 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of six or seven long, spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex slightly truncate; length $1.3 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 8g) minute.

Foreleg (Fig. 8a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.3:1.0:0.7:0.3. **Femur.** Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with a row of ca. nine curved, spine-like setae, a partial row of spine-like setae near margin; length of setae $0.19 \times$ maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of curved, spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. **Tibia.** Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of short to medium curved, spine-like setae, distally of patellotibial suture one longer, curved, spine-like setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. **Tarsus.** Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. **Tarsus.** Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Spine-like setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. Tarsus. Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Claw with one row of 12–15 denticles on Luzon Is-



Figure 8. *Labiobaetis aldabae* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

land and ca. 17 denticles on Negros Island; distally pointed; with 4–7 stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 8c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with rounded, partly fused spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 8d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and 3/4 VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and ½ IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 8e). Distally not expanded, with 18–21 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases and fine, simple setae. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Ms. Kyra Mari Dominique Aldaba (Philippines), member of the AdMU Biodiversity Laboratory.

Distribution. Philippines: Luzon and Negros (Fig. 48c).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from 50 m to 1400 m, mainly in riverside pools, but also in root packs or grass bunches in the runs.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Luzon, Laguna, Samil River; 14°08'N, 121°31'E; 370 m; 27.VI.2018; leg. BIO-PHIL exped.; on slide; Gen-Bank: MT830944; GBIFCH 00654913; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 2 larvae; same data as holotype; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592273; ZSM; 1 in alcohol, GBIF-CH 00515409; ZSM • 1 larva; Luzon, Nueva Ecija, Pantabangan, Candaclan River; 240 m, 15°46'48"N, 121°13'17"E; 240 m; 05.II.1998; leg. Mendoza; on slide; Gen-Bank: MT830945; GBIFCH 00654908; ZSM • 39 larvae; Luzon, Benguet, Tuba, Taloy Sur; 16°21'33"N, 120°30'31"E; 400 m; XI.1997; leg. Mey; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830947; GBIFCH 00763648; AdMU; 38 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515443; ZSM • 126 larvae; Luzon, Benguet, Kabayan, Bongis Bridge; 16°34'11"N, 120°50'12"E; 1000 m; XI.1997; leg. Mey; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830946; GBIFCH 00515464; AdMU; 66 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515441; ZSM • 1 larva; Negros Oriental, Valencia, Malaunay, small river; 09°18'17"N, 123°10'07"E; 470 m; 01.IX.2019; leg. Garces and Pelingen; on slide; GenBank: MT830948; GBIFCH 00654889; ZSM.

Other material. PHILIPPINES • 27 larvae; Luzon, Ifugao, Tinoc; 16°40'58"N, 120°56'59"E; 1400 m; XI.1997; leg. Mey; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515444; AdMU • 4 larvae; Luzon, Ilocos Sur, Suyo Municipality, Tagudin-Cervantes-Sabangan Road, Besang Pass Area; 16°57'17"N, 120°38'52"E; 1200 m; 15.IV.2019; leg. Freitag, Garces and Pangantihon; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515442; ZSM.

Labiobaetis camiguinensis sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/A5674916-368A-4191-8F11-898F6CB52162 Figures 9, 10, 42a, 46c, 47d, 48c

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus four or five long, simple setae; B) labial palp segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; C) fore femur rather broad, length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width, dorsal margin with ca. ten curved, spine-like setae and a partial second row near margin; D) claw with 14 or 15 denticles; E) paraproct distally not expanded, with 15–17 stout, marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 9, 10, 42a, 46c, 47d). Body length 3.6–3.9 mm; antenna: approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head dorsally light brown, thorax and abdomen dorsally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 42a. Fore protoptera light brown with brown striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 46c. Femur ecru with distomedial brown spot, apex with brown spot, tibia and tarsus light brown. Caudalii light brown, with a brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci.

Antenna (Fig. 10f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 9a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus four or five long, simple setae, the first two setae after the submedian seta are close together. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. five short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 9b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola with a pronounced hump. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present and many thin setae distally at base of mola.

Left mandible (Fig. 9d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with three denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola convex. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Figs 9f, 47d). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua approx. as broad as long; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal half not expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin angulate; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 9g). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and three or four medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.4 \times as$ long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.8 \times length$ of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment slightly pointed, without excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 9h). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. seven short, stout, spine-like setae plus distalmost one much longer, less robust, spine-like seta; apex with two long and one medium, robust,



Figure 9. *Labiobaetis camiguinensis* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** maxilla **h** labium.

pectinate setae and one short, robust seta; outer margin with four spine-like setae increasing in length distally; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and a row of three medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; outer margin with some long, spine-like setae; dorsally with a row of five long,



Figure 10. *Labiobaetis camiguinensis* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.7 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.6 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of six short to medium, spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex rounded; length $1.2 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 10g) minute.

Foreleg (Fig. 10a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.4:1.0:0.8:0.3. *Femur.* Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with ca. ten curved, spine-like setae, proximally and medially a partial second row of spine-like setae near margin; length of setae

0.18 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a row of short to medium, spine-like setae, on apex two longer, spine-like setae. Ventral margin with a row of medium, curved, spine-like setae, distally of patellotibial suture one long, curved, spine-like setae, on apex some longer, partly bipectinate, spine-like setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with some short, stout setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae and some spine-like setae near margin. Claw with one row of 14 or 15 denticles; distally pointed; with 4–6 stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 10c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with rounded, partly fused spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 10d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 10e). Distally not expanded, with 15–17 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases, fine, simple setae and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Refers to the island Camiguin, where the specimens were collected. **Distribution.** Philippines: Camiguin (Fig. 48c).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes of 30 m and 900 m, mainly on bottom gravel.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Camiguin, Sagay, Bonbon, lower Binangawan River; 09°06'39"N 124°43'45"E; 30 m; 09.XII.2018; leg. Freitag and Wantzen; on slide; GenBank: MT830949; GBIFCH 00654915; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 2 larvae; same data as holotype; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592308; ZSM; 1 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515489; ZSM • 1 larva; Camiguin, Mt. Mabajao Sagay, upstream Binangawan Falls; 09°09'25"N, 124°43'57"E; 900 m; 09.XII.2018; leg. Freitag; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515454; AdMU.

Labiobaetis lachicae sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/60DC83D6-32F6-4181-B224-1A890EF26245 Figures 11, 12, 42b, 47a, 48c

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus 5–7 long, simple setae; B) labial palp segment II with a thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III conical; C) left mandible without setae at apex of mola; D) fore femur rather broad, length ca. 3 × maximum width, dorsal margin with 10–12 curved, spine-like setae and a partial second row near margin; E) claw with 15–17 denticles; F) paraproct distally not expanded, with ca. 13 stout, marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 11, 12, 42b, 47a). Body length 3.6–3.7 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head dorsally light brown, thorax and abdomen dorsally brown, with bright pattern as in Fig. 42b. Fore protoptera light brown with distinct brown striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 47a. Legs ecru, femur with two partly merged distomedial brown spots, apex with brown spot, tibia with distomedial brown area. Caudalii light brown, with a brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci, cerci brown in distal part.

Antenna (Fig. 12f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 11a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus 5–7 long, simple setae, the first two setae after the submedian seta are close together. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid setae; ventral surface with ca. six short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 11b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola with a pronounced hump. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present and many thin setae distally at base of mola.

Left mandible (Fig. 11d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with three denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola convex. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola absent.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 11f). Lingua shorter than superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin angulate; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 11g). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and four medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.3 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.6 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment slightly pointed, without excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 11h, i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. nine short, stout, spine-like setae plus distalmost one much longer, less robust, spine-like seta; apex with two long and one medium, robust,



Figure 11. *Labiobaetis lachicae* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** maxilla **h** labium **i** apex of paraglossa.

pectinate setae; outer margin with four spine-like setae increasing in length distally; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and four medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; outer margin with some long, spine-like setae; dorsally with a row of five long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.9 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae and one short, stout, simple seta at inner margin. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.8 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple



Figure 12. *Labiobaetis lachicae* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

setae; dorsally with a row of 6-8 medium, spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex rounded; length $1.1 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 12g) minute.

Foreleg (Fig. 12a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.4:1.0:0.8:0.3. *Femur.* Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with 10–12 curved, spine-like setae, proximally and medially a partial second row of spine-like setae and some additional stout setae near margin; length of setae 0.23 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a row of short to medium, spine-like setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of medium, curved, spine-like setae, distally of patellotibial suture one long, curved, spine-like setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with some short, stout setae near margin. Claw with one row of 15–17 denticles; distally pointed; with ca. six stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 12c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae and micropores. Posterior margin of tergum IV with rounded, partly fused spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 12d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae partly extending from main trunk towards outer and inner margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 12e). Distally not expanded, with ca. 13 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases, fine, simple setae and micropores. Cercotractor with small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Ms. Maria Kenosis Lachica (Philippines/Japan), friend of the AdMU Biodiversity Laboratory.

Distribution. Philippines: Mindanao (Fig. 48c).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from sea level to 120 m, in root packs, grass bunches or submerged wood in riffles or runs.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Mindanao, Agusan del Sur, San Francisco, Bayogan, Tagkunayan Creek; 08°28'N, 125°59'E; 120 m; 05.II.1998; leg. Mendoza; on slide; GenBank: MT830950; GBIFCH 00654891; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 2 larvae; same data as holotype; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592269; AdMU; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592310; ZSM. **Other material.** PHILIPPINES • 1 larva; Mindanao, Surigao del Sur, Tandag, middle Tandag River; 30 m; 09°03'33"N, 126°05'57"E; 04.XII.2018; leg. Pangantihon; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515332; AdMU • 1 larva; Mindanao, Surigao del Sur, Tandag, Pangi, Pangi River; 09°06'18"N, 126°08'53"E; 10 m; 30.XI.2018, leg. Pangantihon; on slide; GBIFCH 515520; ZSM.

Labiobaetis palawano sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/9E057916-4F3E-43F3-9AB7-B89D1A001EEA Figures 13, 14, 42c, 47b, 48c

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus seven long, simple setae; B) labial palp segment II with a thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III conical; C) mola of right mandible proximally beginning with a double hump; D) hypopharynx with medial tuft of stout setae poorly developed; E) fore femur rather broad, length ca. 3 × maximum width, dorsal margin with 10–13 curved, spine-like setae and a partial second row near margin; F) claw with 15–17 denticles; G) posterior margin of tergum IV with rounded spines, wider than long.

Description. Larva (Figs 13, 14, 42c, 47b). Body length 3-4 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. $2.5 \times$ as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally brown, with dark brown markings as in Fig. 42c. Fore protoptera light brown with brown striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally brown. Legs light brown, femur with a distomedial brown spot, apically brown. Caudalii light brown, with a brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci.

Antenna (Fig. 14f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 13a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus seven long, simple setae, the first two setae after the submedian seta are close together. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. eight short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 13b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola with a pronounced hump, mola proximally beginning with a double hump. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present and many thin setae distally at base of mola.

Left mandible (Fig. 13d–f). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with three denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola convex, with minute denticles toward subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted and partly with minute secondary dentation at the tips. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present. Comb-shaped structure at base of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins slightly convex. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.



Figure 13. *Labiobaetis palawano* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** comb-shaped structure at left mola **g** hypopharynx and superlinguae **h** maxilla **i** labium.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 13g). Lingua longer than superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae poorly developed; distal half not expanded. Superlinguae distally straight; lateral margin angulate; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 13h). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and four or five long, simple setae. Maxillary palp 1.2 × as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II 1.4 × length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment slightly pointed, without excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 13i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. nine short, stout, spine-like setae plus distalmost one much longer, less robust, spine-like seta; apex with two long, one medium and one short, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with four spine-like setae; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and 3–5 medium, simple setae in anteromedial area and one fine, simple seta in proximomedial area; outer margin with some long, spine-like setae; dorsally with a row of five long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I 0.8 × length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae and one short, stout, simple seta at inner margin. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.6 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of seven medium, spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex slightly truncate; length 1.0 × width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 14g) minute.

Foreleg (Fig. 14a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.4:1.0:0.8:0.3. *Femur.* Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with a row of 10–13 curved, spine-like setae in different length, and a partial second row of spine-like setae near margin; length of setae 0.28 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of curved, spine-like setae and some short, stout, apically rounded setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of short to long, curved, spine-like setae, distally of patellotibial suture one long, curved, spine-like seta. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with a row of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, stout setae. Claw with one row of 15–17 denticles; distally pointed; with 5–8 stripes; subapical setae absent.



Figure 14. *Labiobaetis palawano* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

Terga (Fig. 14c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae and micropores. Posterior margin of tergum IV with rounded, partly fused spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 14d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and ½ VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and 1/3 IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 14e). Distally not expanded, with ca. 17 stout, marginal spines and some submarginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases, fine, simple setae and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to the indigenous Palawano people of Palawan.

Distribution. Philippines: Palawan (incl. Busuanga) (Fig. 48c).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes below 100 m, partly on rock surface in riffles or runs.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Palawan, P. Princesa, Bindujan, Talabigan River; 10°01'26"N, 119°04'37"E; 10 m; 27.VII.2019; leg. Freitag and Molls; on slide; GenBank: MT830987; GBIFCH 00763688; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 2 larvae; Palawan, Busuanga, Coron, 4 km E San Nicolas; 12°03'46"N, 120°13'25"E; 25.XII.2019; leg. Freitag; 1 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515519; ZSM, temporarily stored in AdMU; 1 in alcohol; MT830988; GBIFCH 00763679; PNM • 1 larva; Busuanga, 5 km NW Coron town; Mabintangen R., small mount. riv.; 12°01'45"N, 120°12'19"E; 50 m; 02.II.2020; leg. Freitag; on slide; GBIFCH 00515521; AdMU • 1 larva; Palawan, P. Princesa Cabayugan District, Cabayugan River, near Nagsatayan Creek, S of Martarpi; 10°09'47"N, 118°50'37"E; 37 m; 05.VIII.2000; leg. Freitag; on slide; GBIFCH 00592355; ZSM, temporarily stored in AdMU.

Labiobaetis sabordoi sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/007986FB-400B-4665-9113-F1A130E70527 Figures 15, 16, 42d, 47c, 48c

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus five or six long, simple setae; B) labial palp segment II with a thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III conical; C) mola of right mandible proximally beginning with a double hump; D) hypopharynx with medial tuft of stout setae poorly developed; E) fore femur rather broad, length ca. 3 × maximum width, dorsal margin with 11–14 curved, spine-like setae and a partial second row near margin; F) claw with 16–18 denticles; G) posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Description. Larva (Figs 15, 16, 42d, 47c). Body length 3–3.5 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head dorsally light brown with brown markings, thorax and abdomen dorsally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 42d. Fore protoptera light brown with distinct


Figure 15. *Labiobaetis sabordoi* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** maxilla **h** labium.

brown striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 47c. Legs light brown, femur with two connected brown spots, apically brown. Caudalii light brown, with a brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci length, distal area of cerci brown.

Antenna (Fig. 16f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 15a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus five or six long, simple setae, the first two setae after the submedian seta are close together. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. five short, spinelike setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 15b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola with a pronounced hump, mola proximally beginning with a double hump. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present and many thin setae distally at base of mola.

Left mandible (Fig. 15d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with three denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola convex. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted and partly with minute secondary dentation at the tips. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 15f). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae poorly developed; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally straight; lateral margin angulate; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 15g). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and three or four medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp 1.4 \times as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II 1.7 \times length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment slightly pointed, without excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 15h). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. eight short, stout, spine-like setae plus distalmost one much longer, less robust, spine-like seta; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae and one short, robust seta; outer margin with five spine-like setae increasing in length distally; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and four medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; outer margin with some long, spine-like setae; dorsally with a row of four long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.9 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae and one or two short, stout, simple setae at inner margin. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.7 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of five or six me-



Figure 16. *Labiobaetis sabordoi* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

dium, spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex slightly truncate; length $1.2 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 16g) minute.

Foreleg (Fig. 16a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.4:1.0:0.8:0.3. *Femur.* Length ca. 3 × maximum width. Dorsal margin with a row of 11–14 curved, spine-like setae in different length, proximally and medially a partial second row of spine-like setae near margin; length of setae 0.22 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of curved, spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of short to long, curved, spine-like setae, distally of patellotibial suture one long, curved, spine-like setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with some short, stout and some fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae and some spine-like setae and some spine-like setae near margin. Claw with one row of 16–18 denticles; distally pointed; with ca. four stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 16c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular, partly fused spines, wider than long, sometimes apically rounded.

Gills (Fig. 16d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae partly extending from main trunk towards outer and inner margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 16e). Distally not expanded, with 13–23 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases, fine, simple setae and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Mr. Marc Ryan Sabordo (Philippines), collector and project assistant of the AdMU Biodiversity Laboratory.

Distribution. Philippines: Negros, Sibuyan and Tablas (Fig. 48c).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from sea level to 480 m, partly in leaf litter.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Negros Oriental, Valencia, Casaroro River downstream; 09°18'N, 123°14'E; 150 m; 01.IX.2019; leg. Garces and Pelingen; on slide; GBIFCH 00592270; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 1 larva; same data as holotype; on slide; GenBank: MT830951; GBIFCH 00654878; ZSM • 2 larvae; Romblon, Tablas, S of San Agustin; 12°33'38"N, 122°07'19"E; 40 m; 14.I.2019; leg. Freitag; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830952; GBIFCH 00 763674; ZSM; 1 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515334; ZSM • 2 larvae; Romblon, Sibuyan, Cajidiocan, Cambijang; 12°20'40"N, 122°40'37"E; 5 m; 16.I.2019; leg. Freitag; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515333; AdMU.

Labiobaetis operosus group of species (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019)

Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of feathered setae; B) labial palp segment II with thumb-like or lobed distomedial

protuberance; C) seven pairs of gills; D) hind protoptera well developed; E) distolateral process at scape well developed; F) fore tarsus with thin setae at ventrodistal margin.

Labiobaetis gamay sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/8FB0BC17-3C57-4B66-A271-95FA834C5FAC Figures 17, 18, 43a, 49a

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus 7–9 feathered setae with strongly reduced feathers; B) labial palp segment II with a broad, thumb-like distomedial protuberance; segment III conical; C) fore femur rather broad, length ca. 3 × maximum width, dorsal margin with 10–14 curved, spine-like setae; D) hind protoptera well developed; E) paraproct distally not expanded, with 19–22 stout marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 17, 18, 43a). Body length 4.6–5.2 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally grey-brown, with bright pattern as in Fig. 43a, abdominal tergites I, VII, and X mainly light brown. Fore protoptera light brown with darker striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally ecru, frons and genae grey-brown, abdominal sternites VIII and IX grey-brown. Legs ecru, femur with two sometimes merged grey-brown distomedial spots, tarsus distally greybrown. Caudalii light brown, with a grey- brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci, cerci distally grey-brown.

Antenna (Fig. 18f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, with well-developed distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 17a, b). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus 7–9 long, feathered setae with strongly reduced feathers. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. five short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 17c, d). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 17e, f). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola straight, with few minute denticles. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.



Figure 17. *Labiobaetis gamay* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** setae of arc on dorsal surface of labrum **c** right mandible **d** right prostheca **e** left mandible **f** left prostheca **g** hypopharynx and superlinguae **h** maxilla **i** labium.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 17g). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal

half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 17h). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and four long, simple setae. Maxillary palp slightly longer than length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II 1.4 × length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 17i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. nine spine-like setae, distalmost seta much longer than other setae; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae and one short, robust seta; outer margin with seven spine-like setae increasing in length distally; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and one or two medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of five long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I 0.8 × length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of three long, spine-like setae of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of three long, spine-like setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex slightly truncate; length 1.1 × width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 18g) well developed.

Foreleg (Fig. 18a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.4:1.0:0.8:0.3. *Femur.* Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with 10–14 curved, spine-like setae, mostly one or two setae additionally near margin in basal area; length of setae 0.19 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine simple setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of short, curved, spine-like setae, on apex some longer, partly bipectinate setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal 2/3. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with a row of short, stout setae and fine simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae and in distal area fine simple setae. Claw with one row of 12 or 13 denticles; distally pointed; with ca. four stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 18c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 18d). Present on segments I–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill I ca. 2/3 length of segment II. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and ½ VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segment VIII.



Figure 18. *Labiobaetis gamay* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

Paraproct (Fig. 18e). Distally not expanded, with 19–22 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases and fine, simple setae. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Named after the Cebuano word meaning reduced, referring to the strongly reduced feathers of the submarginal setae on the dorsal labrum surface.

Distribution. Philippines: Luzon and Mindoro (Fig. 49a).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from sea level to 140 m, partly on hygropetric rocks or rock surface in riffles or runs.

Type material. Holotype. PHILIPPINES • larva; Oriental Mindoro, Roxas, Brgy. San Vicente, lower reach of Taugad River; 12°37.30'N, 121°22.97'E; 140 m; 2016-2019; leg. Freitag and Garces; on slide; GBIFCH 00592274; PNM. Paratypes. PHILIPPINES • 27 larvae; same data as holotype; 2 on slide; GenBank. MT830953, MT830954; GBIFCH 00 654922, GBIFCH 00763637; ZSM; 25 in alcohol; GBIF-CH 00515433, GBIFCH 00515434, GBIFCH 00515458, GBIFCH 00515460; ZSM • 10 larvae; Oriental Mindoro, Roxas, Brgy. San Vicente; 12°37'06"N, 121°23'49"E; 140 m; 2016–2019; leg. Freitag, Garces and Pangantihon; 2 on slides; GenBank: MT830955; GBIFCH 00763639, GBIFCH 00763338; AdMU; 8 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515435, GBIFCH 00515459; AdMU • 15 larvae; Luzon, La Union, Sudipen Municipality, Amburayan River; 16°54'38"N, 120°28'40"E; 20 m; 14.IV.2019; leg. Freitag, Garces and Pangantihon; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830956; GBIFCH 00763655; ZSM; 14 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515436, GBIFCH 00515461; ZSM • 31 larvae; Luzon, Ilocos Sur, Suyo Municipality, big river downstream Sangbay n. Ragsak; 16°59'32"N, 120°32'21"E; 100 m; 15.IV.2019; leg. Freitag, Garces and Pangantihon; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830957; GBIFCH 00763657; ZSM; 30 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515437; ZSM • 14 larvae; Luzon, La Union, San Juan Municipality, Baroro River; 16°39'27"N, 120°25'55"E; 90 m; 19.IV.1996; leg. Mendoza; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830958; GBIFCH 00763658; ZSM; 13 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515438, GBIFCH 515439; ZSM.

Labiobaetis pangantihoni sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/AAA2FE3C-DA89-41AA-A20A-4AF457BB0848 Figures 19, 20, 43b, 49a

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus nine or ten long, feathered setae; B) labial palp segment II with a rather slender, thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III slightly pentagonal; C) fore femur rather broad, length $3.4 \times$ maximum width, dorsal margin with eleven or 12 curved, spine-like setae; D) claw with 10–13 denticles; E) paraproct distally not expanded, with ca. 16 stout marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 19, 20, 43b). Body length 3.5–4 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. 2.5 × as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally brown, with bright pattern as in Fig. 43b, fore protoptera brown with bright striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally light brown, genae brown, abdominal segments VIII and IX darker brown. Legs light brown, femur with distomedial brown spot, apex brown, tibia distally brown. Caudalii light brown with a brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci length.



Figure 19. *Labiobaetis pangantihoni* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** maxilla **h** labium **i** apex of paraglossa.

Antenna (Fig. 20f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, with well-developed distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 19a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple

setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus nine or ten long, feathered setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid setae; ventral surface with ca. four short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 19b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle without a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex, with minute denticles. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 19d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola straight. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 19f). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 19g). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and four or five long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.3 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.3 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 19h, i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. eight spine-like setae, distalmost seta much longer than other setae; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with six medium to long, spine-like setae; ventral surface with short, fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and two medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of four long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.9 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with rather slender, thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.8 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of four spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Labial partice with short, fine, simple setae; spine-like, simple setae of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of four spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III slightly pentagonal; apex slightly truncate; length $1.1 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 20g) well developed.

Foreleg (Fig. 20a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.2:1.0:0.6:0.2. *Femur.* Length ca. 3 × maximum width. Dorsal margin with eleven or twelve curved, spine-like setae;



Figure 20. *Labiobaetis pangantihoni* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

length of setae $0.16 \times$ maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of spinelike setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia*. Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae, near margin another row of short, spine-like setae. Ventral margin with row of short to medium, curved, spine-like setae, on apex some longer and partly bipectinate setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with a row of short stout setae and fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Claw with one row of 10–13 denticles; distally pointed; with ca. four stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 20c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 20d). Present on segments I–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill I ca. 1/2 length of segment II. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and 1/2 VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and 1/4 IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 20e). Distally not expanded, with ca. 16 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases, fine, simple setae and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Mr. Clister V. Pangantihon, outstanding collector, entomologist and project assistant of the AdMU Biodiversity Laboratory.

Distribution. Philippines: Palawan (Fig. 49a).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from sea level to 180 m, partly on submerged wood in runs or riffles.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Palawan, Balabac, Danglis River near the road; 07°57'39"N, 117°02'59"E; 170 m; 2019; leg. Pelingen and Pangantihon; on slide; GBIFCH 00592336; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 9 larvae; same data as holotype; 3 on slides; GenBank: MT830959; GBIFCH 00592321, GBIFCH 00763684, GBIFCH 00592335; ZSM, temporarily stored in AdMU; 5 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515426; PCSD; 1 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515400; AdMU • 1 larva; Palawan, Balabac, Danglis Falls/Busay; 07°57'39"N, 117°02'59"E; 180 m; 2019; leg. Pelingen and Pangantihon; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515427; AdMU • 5 larvae; Palawan, Quezon, Isugod, Aramaywan River; 09°21'07"N, 118°08'26"E; 14 m; 2019; leg. Pangantihon and Pelingen; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00515401, GBIFCH 00515402; AdMU • 2 larvae; Palawan, Quezon, Aramaywan River; 09°18'25"N, 118°07'42"E; 20 m; 2019; leg. Pangantihon and Pelingen; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515428; AdMU.

Labiobaetis tagbanwa sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/F6926F19-3CEB-4C21-8E62-A14C0D7F4839 Figures 21, 22, 43c, 49a

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus 8–10 long, feathered setae with reduced feathers; B) labial palp segment II with a broad thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III conical; C) fore femur rather broad, length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width, dorsal margin



Figure 21. *Labiobaetis tagbanwa* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** seta of arc on dorsal surface of labrum **c** right mandible **d** right prostheca **e** left mandible **f** left prostheca **g** hypopharynx and superlinguae **h** maxilla **i** labium.

Description. Larva (Figs 21, 22, 43c). Body length 4.1–5.3 mm. Cerci ca. 3/4 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally brown, with bright markings as in Fig. 43c, abdominal segments I, VII and X light brown, fore protoptera basally brown, distally light brown with bright striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally light brown, genae brown, abdominal segments laterally somewhat darker, abdominal segments VIII and IX brown, abdominal segment V, VI and VII medially with darker areas. Legs ecru, femur with distomedial brown spot, apex brown, tibia and tarsus distally light brown. Caudalii light brown, with a brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci length, cerci distally brown.

Antenna (Fig. 22f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, with well-developed distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 21a, b). Rectangular, length $0.8 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus 8–10 long, feathered setae with reduced feathers. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. six short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 21c, d). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 21e, f). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 21g). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal half not expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 21h). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and four long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.2 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.2 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.



Figure 22. *Labiobaetis tagbanwa* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

Labium (Fig. 21i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. eight spine-like setae; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae and one short, robust seta; outer margin with six

medium to long spine-like setae; ventral surface with short, simple setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and two medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of five long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.9 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with broad thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.5 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of three or four spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex slightly pointed; length $0.9 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 22g) medium developed.

Foreleg (Fig. 22a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.5:1.0:0.7:0.3. **Femur.** Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with ca. 13 curved, spine-like setae; length of setae $0.18 \times$ maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. **Tibia.** Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae, on apex a pair of longer, spine-like setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, curved, spine-like setae, on apex some longer setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal 2/3. **Tarsus.** Dorsal margin with a row of short, stout setae and fine, simple setae. Claw with one row of 11-14 denticles; distally pointed; with ca. four stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 22c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 22d). Present on segments I–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill I ca. 1/2 length of segment II. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and 1/2 VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segment VIII.

Paraproct (Fig. 22e). Distally not expanded, with ca. 18 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases and fine, simple setae. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to the indigenous Tagbanwa people of Palawan.

Distribution. Philippines: Palawan (Fig. 49a).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected from sea level to 100 m on rock surface or submerged wood in riffles or runs.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Palawan, Quezon, Aramaywan River, cogon grass; 09°22'33"N, 118°08'41"E; 15 m; 2019; leg. Pangantihon and Pelingen; on slide; GBIFCH 00592324; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 16 larvae; same data as holotype; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830962; GBIFCH 00763680; ZSM, temporarily stored in AdMU; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592350; AdMU; 3 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515432, GBIFCH 00515457; PNM; 2 in alcohol; GenBank: MT830961; GBIFCH 00763681, GBIFCH 00515430; ZSM, temporarily stored in AdMU; 6 in

alcohol; GBIFCH 00515431; PCSD; 3 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515410; AdMU • 1 larva; Palawan, Puerto Princesa, Luzviminda, Iwahig River; 09°41'20"N 118°37'29"E; 13.VI.2009; leg. Freitag; on slide; GenBank: MT830960; GBIFCH 00654885; AdMU • 1 larva; Palawan, Aborlan, Cabigaan, Talakaigan, mount. Riv. upstr. dam; 09°26'55"N, 118°26'44"E; 100 m; 14.VI.1995; leg. Freitag; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515456; AdMU.

Labiobaetis valdezorum sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/DCC0D1B4-B4C0-4FF4-A224-173008DCAF39 Figures 23, 24, 44a, 49a

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus 9–12 feathered setae; B) labial palp segment II with broad, thumb-like distomedial protuberance; C) fore femur rather broad, length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width, dorsal margin with 12–15 curved, spine-like setae, fore tarsus broad with dorsal and ventral margins slightly convex; D) claw with eleven or twelve denticles; E) paraproct distally not expanded, with 23–32 stout marginal spines and some additional submarginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 23, 24, 44a). Body length 5.5–5.9 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. $2.5 \times$ as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally light brown, with darker pattern as in Fig. 44a, abdominal segments VIII and IX dark brown. Fore protoptera light brown, basally darker, with bright striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally light brown, frons and genae darker brown, abdominal segments VIII and IX dark brown. Legs light brown, femur with distomedial dark brown spot, apically brown, tarsus dorsodistally dark brown. Caudalii light brown with a dark brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci length.

Antenna (Fig. 24f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, with well-developed distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 23a). Rectangular, length $0.8 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus 9–12 long, feathered setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. eight short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 23b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 23d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with four denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly



Figure 23. *Labiobaetis valdezorum* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** maxilla **h** labium.

convex, with minute denticles toward subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 23f). Lingua shorter than superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 23g). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and five medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp slightly longer than length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II 1.4 × length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 23h). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. ten spine-like setae increasing in length distally; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae and one short, robust seta; outer margin with eight long, spine-like setae; ventral surface with short, fine, simple and short, spine-like setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and one medium, simple seta in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of six or seven long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.8 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with broad thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.6 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of three or four spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex slightly pointed; length subequal to width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 24g) well developed.

Foreleg (Fig. 24a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.2:1.0:0.6:0.2. **Femur.** Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with a row of 12–15 curved, spine-like setae, sometimes a few additional setae near margin in basal area; length of setae 0.14 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. **Tibia.** Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of mainly short, spine-like setae, on apex some longer and partly bipectinate setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. **Tarsus.** Dorsal margin with a row of short, stout setae. Claw with one row of eleven or twelve denticles; with ca. six stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 24c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 24d). Present on segments I-VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer



Figure 24. *Labiobaetis valdezorum* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum.

margins. Gill I as long as length of segment II. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and half of VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segment VIII.

Paraproct (Fig. 24e). Distally not expanded, with 23–32 stout, marginal spines and some submarginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases and fine, simple setae. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines, apically pointed.

Etymology. Dedicated to Dr. Emma Aguada Valdez, Mr. Rolando Valdez and Mr. Francis Paolo Valdez for their generous help and support in the scientific projects of the AdMU Biodiversity Laboratory.

Distribution. Philippines: Negros and Cebu (Fig. 49a).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from 150 m to 480 m, on bottom gravel or submerged wood in runs or riffles.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Negros Oriental, Valencia, Casaroro River downstream; 09°18'N, 123°14'E; 150 m; 01.IX.2019; leg. Garces and Pelingen; on slide; GenBank. MT830963; GBIFCH 00654888; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 24 larvae; same data as holotype; 3 on slides; GenBank. MT830965, MT830966; GBIFCH 00654879, GBIFCH 00592277, GBIFCH 00654880; ZSM; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830964; GBIFCH 00654882; AdMU; 7 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515419; ZSM; 13 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515418, GBIFCH 00515420; AdMU • 1 larva; Negros Oriental, Valencia, Apolong, Casaroro River upstream; 09°17'N, 123°13'E; 470 m; 01.IX.2019; leg. Garces and Pelingen; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515421; ZSM • 15 larvae; Cebu, Cebu City, Lusaran; 10°28'13"N, 123°52'26"E; 200 m; 16.IX.1996; leg. Mendoza; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830967; GBIFCH 00515424; AdMU; 4 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515425; ZSM.

Labiobaetis wantzeni sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/1651E9BC-B331-4AB0-85C3-8BFB5746B3EC Figures 25, 26, 44b, 49a

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus 7–10 long, feathered setae; B) labial palp segment II with a broad, thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III conical; C) fore femur rather broad, length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width, dorsal margin with a row of ca. 18 curved, spine-like setae; D) claw with 10–13 denticles; E) hind protoptera medium developed; F) paraproct distally not expanded, with ca. 30 stout marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 25, 26, 44b). Body length 5.2-7.1 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. $2.5 \times$ as long as head length.

Colouration. Head dorsally light brown, thorax and abdomen dorsally mainly dark brown with pattern as in Fig. 44b, abdominal segments I, VI, and X light brown; fore protoptera basally dark brown, distally light brown with bright striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally mainly light brown, genae dark brown, abdominal seg-



Figure 25. *Labiobaetis wantzeni* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** maxilla **h** labium.

ments laterally with darker areas and abdominal segments VII–IX dark brown. Legs light brown, femur with distomedial and apical dark brown spots, tibia distally with dark brown area. Caudalii light brown with a brown band at ca. 1/3 of cerci length, cerci distally brown.

Antenna (Fig. 26f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, with well-developed distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 25a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus 7–10 long, feathered setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of lateral and anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid, pectinate setae; ventral surface with ca. four short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 25b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 25d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 25f). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 25g). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and five medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.2 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.5 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 25h). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. 8 spine-like setae increasing in length distally; apex with two long, one medium and one short, robust setae; outer margin with five long, spine-like setae; ventral surface with short, fine, simple and short, spine-like setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and one or two medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of five long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.8 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with broad thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.5 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with two or three spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex rounded; length $0.9 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera (Fig. 26g, h) medium to well developed.



Figure 26. *Labiobaetis wantzeni* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape **g** metanotum **h** metanotum.

Foreleg (Fig. 26a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.3:1.0:0.5:0.2. *Femur.* Length ca. 3 × maximum width. Dorsal margin with a row of 15–18 curved, spine-like setae, sometimes a few extra setae basally near margin; length of setae 0.14 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with one or two pairs of spine-like setae and some short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femo-ral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine, simple setae, near margin another row of short, spine-like setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, spine-like setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal 2/3. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with a row of short, stout setae. Ventral margin with a row of 10–13 denticles; distally pointed; with ca. six stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 26c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, mainly longer than wide.

Gills (Fig. 26d). Present on segments I–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill I ca. 2/3 length of segment II. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and half VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and 1/4 IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 26e). Distally not expanded, with ca. 30 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases, fine, simple setae and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Prof. Karl Matthias Wantzen (France), collector of some material, for his outstanding contribution to freshwater ecological research and conservation.

Distribution. Philippines: Camiguin and Mindanao (Fig. 49a).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from sea level to 900 m, on bottom gravel, submerged wood, leaf packs or grass bunches in runs or riffles.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Camiguin, Sagay, Bonbon, lower Binangawan River; 09°06'39"N 124°43'45"E; 30 m; 09.XII.2018; leg. Freitag and Wantzen; on slide; GenBank: MT830968; GBIFCH 00654898; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 8 larvae; same data as holotype; 3 on slides; GenBank: MT830973, MT830969, MT830972; GBIFCH 00654900, GBIFCH 00654897, GBIFCH 00654896; ZSM; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592276; AdMU; 2 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515412, GBIFCH 00515413; AdMU; 2 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515416, GBIF-CH 00515417; ZSM • 2 larvae; Camiguin, Looc /Tuasan R, ca. 9.5 km SE Mambajao; 09°12'N, 124°41'E; 240 m; 08.XII.2018; leg. Freitag; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00515522; AdMU; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830970; GBIFCH 00763641; ZSM • 1 larva; Camiguin, Mt. Mabajao Sagay, upstream Binangawan Falls; 09°09'25"N, 124°43'57"E; 900 m; 09.XII.2018; leg. Freitag; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515414; AdMU • 7 larvae; Mindanao, Ozamis, Tangub, Labo River; 08°09'42"N, 124°42'28"E; 470 m; 13.IV.1994; leg. Mendoza; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830971; GBIFCH 00763642; ZSM; 6 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515415; AdMU.

Labiobaetis sumigarensis group of species (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019)

Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate, apically smooth setae; B) labial palp segment II with large, lobed or thumb-like distomedial protuberance, outer margin of protuberance predominantly concave (sometimes with hook-like modification of the protuberance); C) left mandible without setae at apex of mola, with minute denticles between prostheca and mola; D) six pairs of gills; E) hind protoptera absent; F) distolateral process at scape poorly developed or absent; G) patellotibial suture short, on basal 1/3 area of tibia; H) colour of larvae dorsally uniform brown.

Labiobaetis molawinensis (Müller-Liebenau, 1982)

Figures 27, 49b

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of ca. 15 clavate setae; B) labial palp segment II with a large, lobed distomedial protuberance, segment III slightly pentagonal, apically slightly truncate; C) left mandible without setae at apex of mola; D) fore femur rather slender, length 3.6 × maximum width, dorsal margin with a row of ca. ten curved, spine-like



Figure 27. *Labiobaetis molawinensis*, larva morphology **a** labrum **b** labium **c** paraproct.

setae; E) tarsal claw with ca. eleven denticles; F) paraproct distally not expanded, with > 40 stout marginal spines.

Examined material. *Paratype.* PHILIPPINES • 1 larva; rapids, Molawin Creek, college, Laguna; 28.VII.1977; leg. C.R. Realon; Coll. Pescador; on slide; ZSM.

Other material. PHILIPPINES • 1 larva; Luzon, Laguna, Los Banos, UP Campus, Molawin River; 14°10'05"N, 121°11'44"E; 29.IX.1998; leg. Mendoza; on slide; GBIFCH 00654910; AdMU • 1 larva; Luzon, Laguna, Samil River; 14°08'N, 121°31'E; 27.VI.2018; 370 m; leg. Freitag et al.; on slide; GBIFCH 00654912; ZSM • 1 larva; Luzon, Aurora, Baler, Cemento, rocky coast; 15°45'21"N, 121°34'46"E; 0 m; 04.II.1998; leg. Mendoza; on slide; GBIFCH 00654892; AdMU.

Labiobaetis sumigarensis (Müller-Liebenau, 1982)

Figures 28, 49b

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of ca. 26 clavate setae; B) labial palp segment II with a hook-like



Figure 28. Labiobaetis sumigarensis, larva morphology a labrum b maxilla c labial palp.

distomedial protuberance, segment III slightly pentagonal, apically slightly pointed; C) left mandible without setae at apex of mola; D) fore femur rather broad, length $3.4 \times$ maximum width, dorsal margin with ca. 15 curved, spine-like setae; E) tarsal claw with ca. ten denticles; F) paraproct slightly expanded, with 35–39 stout marginal spines, some with split tips.

Examined material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • 1 larva; Mountain Prov., Sumigar Stream, Sumigar, Banaue; 03.X.1967; leg. Pescador; on slide; ZSM.

Other material. PHILIPPINES • 1 larva; Luzon, Ifugao, Banaue, Sumigar Bridge; 16°59'37"N, 121°02'51"E; 1700 m; IX.1997; leg. Mey; on slide; GBIFCH 00592357; AdMU.

Labiobaetis baganii sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/69A8B24A-CED0-4E1A-AC2D-59D31B156558 Figures 29, 30, 44c, 49b

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of 17–21 long, clavate setae; B) labial palp segment II with a thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III slightly pentagonal; C) left mandible without setae at apex of mola; D) fore femur rather slender, length ca. 4 × maximum width, dorsal margin with 8–11 curved, spine-like setae; E) paraproct distally expanded, with 39–43 stout, marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 29, 30, 44c). Body length 3.1–5 mm. Cerci ca. 1/2 of body length. Paracercus: ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally brown, thorax with pattern as in Fig. 44c, fore protoptera brown. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally light brown. Legs light brown, femur with a brown distomedial spot connected to a brown streak along ventral margin, apex brown. Caudalii light brown.

Antenna (Fig. 30f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 29a, b). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium to long, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of 17–21 long, clavate setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid setae; ventral surface with ca. five short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 29c, d). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex, with minute denticles. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 29e, f). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola straight,



Figure 29. *Labiobaetis baganii* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** seta of arc on dorsal surface of labrum **c** right mandible **d** right prostheca **e** left mandible **f** left prostheca **g** hypopharynx and superlinguae **h** maxilla **i** labium.

with minute denticles towards subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola absent.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 29g). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally straight; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 29h). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and three or four medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.4 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.5 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 29i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with six spine-like setae increasing in length distally; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with five spine-like setae increasing in length distally; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and a row of three or four medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of four long, spine-like, simple setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I 0.8 × length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance 0.7 × width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with two long, spine-like, simple setae near outer margin. Segment III slightly pentagonal; apex rounded; length 1.3 × width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera absent.

Foreleg (Fig. 30a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.1:1.0:0.4:0.1. *Femur.* Length ca. 4 × maximum width. Dorsal margin with 8–11 long, curved, spine-like setae; length of setae 0.24 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of long, curved, spine-like setae and one or two short, stout setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of short, curved, spine-like setae, on apex some longer, partly bipectinate setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Claw with one row of ten or eleven denticles; distally pointed; with ca. three stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 30c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 30d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and half VI combined. Gill VII little longer than length of segment VIII.



Figure 30. *Labiobaetis baganii* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape.

Paraproct (Fig. 30e). Distally expanded, with 39–43 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases, fine, simple setae and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Mr. Bagani Sularte (Philippines), outstanding illustrator and friend of one of the authors (JG), for support in her dissertation work.

Distribution. Philippines: Mindanao and Camiguin (Fig. 49b).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from sea level to 660 m, mainly in submerged wood or leaf packs in the runs.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Mindanao, Agusan N, Cabadbaran River; 09°10'15"N, 125°40'55"E; 240 m.; 03.VI.2018; leg. Freitag and Pangantihon; on slide; GenBank: MT830974; GBIFCH 00654895; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 2 larvae; same data as holotype; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592303; ZSM; 1 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515483; AdMU • 1 larva; Mindanao, Agusan del Sur, San Francisco, Bayogan, Tagkunayan Creek; 08°28'N, 125°59'E; 120 m; 05.II.1998; leg. Mendoza; on slide; GBIFCH 00592317; AdMU • 1 larva; Mindanao, Agusan del Norte, Jabonga, Creek upstream of village near Mainit; 09°20'40"N, 125°30'50"E; 50 m; 02.IV.2019, leg. Freitag; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515484; ZSM • 1 larva; Mindanao, Agusan N, Cabadbaran, Del Pilar, Payas River; 09°11'34"N, 125°36'34"E; 660 m; 23.VI.2018; leg. Pangantihon; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515485; ZSM • 15 larvae; Camiguin, Sagay, Bonbon, lower Binangawan River; 09°06'39"N 124°43'45"E; 30 m; 09.XII.2018; leg. Freitag and Wantzen; 2 on slides; GenBank: MT830975; GBIFCH 00654899, GBIFCH 592326; ZSM; 2 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515486, GBIFCH 00515488; AdMU; 11 in alcohol; GBIFCH 515487; AdMU.

Labiobaetis delocadoi sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/61631C84-8BAE-4C88-8CDE-AC051839D419 Figures 31, 32, 44d, 49b

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combinations of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of 16–19 long, clavate setae; B) labial palp segment II with a hook-like distomedial protuberance, segment III slightly pentagonal; C) left mandible without setae at apex of mola; D) fore femur rather slender, length ca. 4 × maximum width, dorsal margin with ca. eleven curved, spine-like setae; E) paraproct distally expanded, with 36–39 stout, marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 31, 32, 44d). Body length 3.2–4.6 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally light brown, fore protoptera light brown with bright striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally light brown. Legs light brown, femur with a distomedial brown spot and a brown streak at dorsal margin, apex brown, tibia darker in distomedial area. Caudalii light brown, with a brown band at ca. 1/2 of cerci length.

Antenna (Fig. 32f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, with very poorly developed distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 31a, b). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of 16–19 long, clavate



Figure 31. *Labiobaetis delocadoi* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** seta of arc on dorsal surface of labrum **c** right mandible **d** right prostheca **e** left mandible **f** left prostheca **g** hypopharynx and superlinguae **h** maxilla **i** labium **j** apex of paraglossa.

setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid setae; ventral surface with ca. three short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 31c, d). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with

a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex, with minute denticles. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 31e, f). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola straight, with minute denticles towards subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola absent.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 31g). Lingua shorter than superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally straight; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 31h). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and three or four medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.3 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.6 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 31i, j). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. seven spine-like setae increasing in length distally; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with four or five long, spine-like setae; ventral surface with short, fine, simple and short, spine-like setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and a row of four medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of three long, spine-like setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.6 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with hook-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.8 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with one or two long, spine-like setae near outer margin. Segment III slightly pentagonal; apex slightly pointed; length $1.3 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera absent.

Foreleg (Fig. 32a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.1:1.0:0.4:0.2. *Femur.* Length ca. $4 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with ten or eleven long, curved, spine-like setae; length of setae 0.28 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of long, curved, spine-like setae and one or two short, stout setae and some fine, simple setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a partial row of short, spine-like setae and a row of fine, simple setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of short,



Figure 32. *Labiobaetis delocadoi* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape.

curved, spine-like setae, on apex one longer, bipectinate, spine-like seta and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal 1/3. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with some fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Claw with one row of 11–13 denticles; distally pointed; with ca. three stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 32c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered fine, simple setae and micropores. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.
Gills (Fig. 32d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae partly extending from main trunk towards outer and inner margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and 1/3 VI combined. Gill VII little longer than length of segment VIII.

Paraproct (Fig. 32e). Distally expanded, with 36–39 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Mr. Emmanuel Delocado (Philippines), entomologist and member of the AdMU Biodiversity Laboratory.

Distribution. Philippines: Cebu and Leyte (Fig. 49b).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes of 50 m and 700 m, partly on rock surface in riffles or runs.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Cebu, Cantipla; 10°24'55"N, 123°49'05"E; 750 m; 30.X.1995; leg. Mendoza; on slide; GenBank: MT830976; GBIFCH 00654886; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 2 larvae; same data as holotype; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592307; ZSM; 1 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515451; AdMU • 86 larvae; Leyte, Southern Leyte, Brgy. Malico, San Francisco, Taglibas River; 10°01'07"N, 125°12'35'E; 50 m; 19–20.X.2019; leg. Garces and Pelingen; 1 on slide; MT830977; GBIFCH 00763668; AdMU; 6 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515467; ZSM; 79 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515494; AdMU.

Labiobaetis freitagi sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/2BC2CBB7-4E28-423E-B02D-6CB35711BDCC Figures 33, 34, 45a, 49b

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of ca. 17 long, clavate setae; B) labial palp segment II with a thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III sub-rectangular; C) left mandible without setae at apex of mola; D) fore femur rather slender, length 3.6 × maximum width, dorsal margin with ca. ten curved, spine-like setae; E) paraproct distally expanded, with 39–46 stout, marginal spines.

Description. Larva (Figs 33, 34, 45a). Body length 3.1–4.8 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally light brown, fore protoptera light brown with bright striation. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally light brown, genae brown. Legs light brown, femur with a distomedial brown spot, dorsal and ventral margin and apex brown. Caudalii light brown.

Antenna (Fig. 34g) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 33a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium to long, fine,



Figure 33. *Labiobaetis freitagi* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** maxilla **h** labium.

simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of 16 or17 long, clavate setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid setae; ventral surface with ca. four short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 33b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex, with minute denticles. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 33d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola straight, with minute denticles towards subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola absent.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 33f). Lingua shorter than superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally slightly concave; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 33g). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and four medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.7 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.5 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 33h). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. five spine-like setae increasing in length distally; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with four spine-like setae; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and a row of three or four medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of three long, spine-like setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.8 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.8 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with one long, spine-like seta near outer margin. Segment III subrectangular; apex rounded; length $1.0 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera absent.

Foreleg (Fig. 34a–c). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.2:1.0:0.6:0.2. **Femur.** Length ca. $4 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with ten or eleven long, curved, spine-like setae; length of setae 0.25 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of long, curved, spine-like setae and some short stout and fine, simple setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. **Tibia.** Dorsal margin sometimes with a row of spine-like setae and always with a row of fine, simple



Figure 34. *Labiobaetis freitagi* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore tibia **c** fore claw **d** tergum IV **e** gill IV **f** paraproct **g** antennal scape.

setae, on apex two longer, spine-like setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, curved, spine-like setae, on apex some longer, partly bipectinate setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present

on basal 1/3. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Claw with one row of ten or eleven denticles; distally pointed; with ca. three stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 34d). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 34e). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae partly extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins, pigmentation mainly limited to main trunk. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and 1/3 VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segment VIII.

Paraproct (Fig. 34f). Distally expanded with 39–46 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Prof. Hendrik Freitag (Philippines/Germany), collector of some material, for his outstanding contribution to freshwater biodiversity research in Southeast Asia.

Distribution. Philippines: Palawan (Fig. 49b).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from sea level to 150 m, in leaf packs or submerged wood in runs or riffles.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Palawan, Brooke's Point, Mainit 7 Falls; 08°51'48"N, 117°47'45"E; 150 m; 2019; leg. Pelingen and Pangantihon; on slide; GBIFCH 00592322; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 22 larvae; same data as holotype; in alcohol; GenBank: MT830978; GBIFCH 00515497, GBIFCH 00763677; AdMU • 7 larvae; Palawan, P.Princesa Cabayugan District, Cabayugan River, near Nagsatayan Creek, S of Martarpi; 10°09'47"N, 118°50'37"E; 37 m; 05.VIII.2000; leg. Freitag; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830978; GBIFCH 00763678; ZSM, temporarily stored in AdMU; 6 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515498; PNM • 11 larvae; Palawan, Quezon, Isugod, Aramaywan River; 09°21'07"N, 118°08'26"E; 14 m; 2019; leg. Pangantihon and Pelingen; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592332; AdMU; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00592333; ZSM, temporarily stored in AdMU; 6 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515496; AdMU; 3 in alcohol; GenBank: MT830980; GBIFCH 00763682, GBIFCH 00515496; ZSM, temporarily stored in AdMU • 10 larvae; Palawan, Balabac, Suray River, Indalawan, near the road; 07°57'01"N, 117°04'29"E; 16 m; 2019; leg. Pangantihon and Pelingen; in alcohol; GenBank: MT830981; GBIFCH 00763683, GBIFCH 00515499; PCSD.

Labiobaetis pelingeni sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/613FE6FB-4601-4A01-A07E-7FDF97AF55B1 Figures 35, 36, 45b, 49b

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of 15–17 long, clavate setae; B) labial palp segment II with a thumb-like distomedial protuberance, segment III slightly pentagonal; C) left mandible without setae at apex of mola; D) fore femur rather broad, length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width, dorsal margin with 11–14 curved, spine-like setae; E) paraproct distally expanded, with ca. 35 stout, marginal spines.



Figure 35. *Labiobaetis pelingeni* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** maxilla **h** labium **i** apex of paraglossa.

Description. Larva (Figs 35, 36, 45b). Body length 3.5–4.2 mm. Cerci ca. 1/2 of body length. Paracercus ca. 2/3 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally light brown, fore protoptera light brown. Head, thorax, and abdomen ventrally light brown. Legs light brown, femur with distomedial brown spot and brown apex. Caudalii light brown.

Antenna (Fig. 36f) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 35a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium to long, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of 15–17 long, clavate setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid setae; ventral surface with ca. four short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 35b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex, with minute denticles. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 35d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola straight, with minute denticles towards subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola absent.

Both mandibles with lateral margins almost straight. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 35f). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally straight; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 35g). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and three or four medium to long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.3 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.6 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 35h, i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with six spine-like setae increasing in length distally; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with four spine-like setae increasing in length distally; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and two medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of three long, spine-like setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I $0.8 \times$ length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with thumb-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.6 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with two long, spine-like, simple setae near outer



Figure 36. *Labiobaetis pelingeni* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** antennal scape.

margin. Segment III slightly pentagonal; apex slightly truncate; length $1.2 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera absent.

Foreleg (Fig. 36a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.2:1.0:0.5:0.2. *Femur.* Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with 11–14 long, curved, spine-like setae; length

of setae 0.27 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded; with a pair of long, curved, spine-like setae and one or two short, stout setae and some fine, simple setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia*. Dorsal margin with a row of short, spine-like setae and fine simple setae, on apex one longer, spine-like seta. Ventral margin with a row of short, curved, spine-like setae, on apex some longer, partly bipectinate setae and a tuft of fine, simple setae. Anterior surface scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal 1/3. *Tarsus*. Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Claw with one row of nine or ten denticles; distally pointed; with ca. two stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 36c). Surface with irregular rows of U-shaped scale bases and scattered micropores. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 36d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and 1/3 VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segment VIII.

Paraproct (Fig. 36e). Distally expanded, with ca. 35 stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases, fine, simple setae and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous small, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to Mr. Arthien Lovell Pelingen (Philippines), entomologist and former project assistant of the AdMU Biodiversity Laboratory.

Distribution. Philippines: Negros and Cebu (Fig. 49b).

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes of 50 m and 480 m, on submerged wood or in riverside pools.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Negros Oriental, Valencia, Malaunay, small tributary; 09°18'17"N, 123°10'07"E; 480 m; 01.IX.2019; leg. Garces and Pelingen; on slide; GBIFCH 00592315; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 11 larvae; same data as holotype; 2 on slides; GenBank: MT830982; GBIFCH 00654901, GBIFCH 00592305; ZSM; 7 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515490, GBIFCH 515491; AdMU; 2 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515463; ZSM • 9 larvae; Cebu, Sogod, Bagatayam; 10°45'32"N, 123°59'49"E; 50 m.; 08.IX.1996; leg. Mendoza; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830983; GBIFCH 00763672; AdMU; 5 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515492; AdMU; 3 in alcohol; GBIFCH 515493, GBIFCH 00515462; ZSM.

Labiobaetis vallus group of species (new group of species)

Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of lanceolate setae; B) labial palp segment II with rather small, slender, thumb-like protuberance, distally bent upwards; C) hypopharynx with medial tuft of stout setae consisting of setae with minute apical serration; D) six pairs of gills; E) hind protoptera absent; F) no distolateral process at scape; G) paracercus short, ca. ¹/₄ of cerci length.

Labiobaetis giselae sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/9F0DC137-4C52-4B1C-A2DD-E2C40A8588DE Figures 37, 38, 45c, 49c

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of three long, lanceolate setae; B) labial palp segment II with a hook-like distomedial protuberance, segment III conical; C) hypopharynx with well-developed medial tuft of long, stout setae, setae apically with minute serration; D) fore femur rather broad, length 2.6 × maximum width, dorsal margin with ca. 12 long, curved, spine-like setae and a second row of spine-like setae near margin; E) paraproct distally expanded with ca. six stout, marginal spines; F) paracercus short, ca. ¼ of cerci length.

Description. Larva (Figs 37, 38, 45c). Body length 3.4–4.5 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 1/4 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head and pronotum dorsally brown, meso- and metanotum light brown, fore protoptera light brown with brown apex. Abdominal segments II–VI dorsally dark brown, segments I and VII–X light brown, segments VII and X with brown markings as in Fig. 45c. Head and thorax ventrally light brown, abdominal segments II–VI ventrally dark brown, segments I and VII–X light brown, segment IX with brown anterior margin and segment X laterally darker. Femur ecru with a distomedial brown spot connected to brown streaks at dorsal and ventral margin and a basal brown area; tibia and tarsus light brown. Caudalii light brown.

Antenna (Fig. 38g) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 37a). Rectangular, length $0.6 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of three long, lanceolate setae. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid setae; ventral surface with ca. four short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 37b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with four denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle without a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola straight. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 37d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with four denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola straight, with minute denticles towards subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins slightly convex. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.



Figure 37. *Labiobaetis giselae* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** hypopharynx, detail of tuft of stout setae **h** hypopharynx, seta of tuft of stout setae **i** maxilla **j** labium **k** apex of paraglossa.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 37f–h). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, long, setae apically with minute serration; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally rounded; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin. *Maxilla* (Fig. 37i). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like, middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one spine-like, pectinate seta and one long, simple seta. Maxillary palp 1.6 × as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II 1.1 × length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 37j, k). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. four spine-like setae, distalmost seta much longer than other setae; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with five long, spine-like setae; ventral surface with short, fine, simple and short, spine-like setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area; dorsally with two or three long, spine-like setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I 0.9 × length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with hook-like distomedial protuberance; distomedial protuberance $0.5 \times$ width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with one long, spine-like seta near outer margin. Segment III conical; apex slightly pointed; length $1.0 \times$ width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera absent.

Foreleg (Fig. 38a, b). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.2:1.0:0.6:0.2. *Femur.* Length ca. 3 × maximum width. Dorsal margin with ca. 12 long, curved, spine-like setae and a second row of long, spine-like setae near margin; length of setae 0.29 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded, with a pair of curved, spine-like setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. *Tibia.* Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, curved, spine-like setae, on apex one longer, spine-like setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal half. *Tarsus.* Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Claw with one row of 12 or 13 denticles; distally pointed; with ca. four stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 38c). Surface with scattered micropores. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, approx. as long as wide.

Gills (Fig. 38d). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and 1/3 VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and 1/3 IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 38e, f). Distally expanded, with ca. six stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with short, broad, lanceolate setae and micropores. Cercotractor with numerous broad, marginal spines, apically denticulate.

Etymology. Dedicated to the late Mrs. Gisela Horzel (Germany), mother of one of the authors (TK).

Distribution. Philippines: Luzon (Fig. 49c).



Figure 38. *Labiobaetis giselae* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** fore claw **c** tergum IV **d** gill IV **e** paraproct **f** seta of paraproct **g** antennal scape.

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at an altitude of 240 m on bottom gravel in runs or riffles.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Luzon, Nueva Ecija, Pantabangan, Candaclan River; 15°46'48"N, 121°13'17"E; 240 m; 05.II.1998, leg. Mendoza; on slide; GBIFCH 00592280; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 4 larvae; same data as hol-

otype; 2 on slides; GenBank: MT830984; GBIFCH 00654911, GBIFCH 00515469; ZSM; 2 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515482; AdMU.

Labiobaetis mendozai sp. nov.

http://zoobank.org/58715368-B200-4AF6-87ED-38FB7CA90E58 Figures 39, 40, 45d, 49c

Diagnosis. Larva. Following combination of characters: A) dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus 5–8 long, lanceolate setae; B) labial palp segment II with a slender, thumb-like protuberance, segment III slightly pentagonal with small apical projection; C) hypopharynx with well-developed medial tuft of long, stout setae, setae apically with minute serration; D) fore femur length 3.4 × maximum width, dorsal margin with 8–11 curved, spine-like setae and at least a partial row of spine-like setae near margin; E) paraproct distally expanded, with ca. nine stout, marginal spines; F) paracercus short, ca. 1/4 of cerci length.

Description. Larva (Figs 39, 40, 45d). Body length 3.2–4.6 mm. Cerci ca. 2/3 of body length. Paracercus ca. 1/4 of cerci length. Antenna approx. twice as long as head length.

Colouration. Head, thorax, and abdomen dorsally brown with bright pattern as in Fig. 45d. Head, thorax, and abdomen light brown. Femur ecru with a distomedial brown spot connected to a brown streak at ventral margin and a light brown basal area. Tibia and tarsus light brown. Caudalii light brown.

Antenna (Fig. 40g) with scape and pedicel subcylindrical, without distolateral process at scape.

Labrum (Fig. 39a). Rectangular, length $0.7 \times$ maximum width. Distal margin with medial emargination and a small process. Dorsally with medium to long, fine, simple setae scattered over surface; submarginal arc of setae composed of one plus 5–8 long, lanceolate setae, submedian seta and last seta of arc narrower. Ventrally with marginal row of setae composed of anterolateral long, feathered setae and medial long, bifid setae; ventral surface with ca. three short, spine-like setae near lateral and anterolateral margin.

Right mandible (Fig. 39b, c). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles, inner margin of innermost denticle with a row of thin setae. Prostheca robust, apically denticulate. Margin between prostheca and mola slightly convex. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Left mandible (Fig. 39d, e). Incisor and kinetodontium fused. Incisor with five denticles; kinetodontium with three denticles. Prostheca robust, apically with small denticles and comb-shaped structure. Margin between prostheca and mola straight, with minute denticles towards subtriangular process. Subtriangular process long and slender, above level of area between prostheca and mola. Denticles of mola apically constricted. Tuft of setae at apex of mola present.

Both mandibles with lateral margins slightly convex. Basal half with fine, simple setae scattered over dorsal surface.



Figure 39. *Labiobaetis mendozai* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** labrum **b** right mandible **c** right prostheca **d** left mandible **e** left prostheca **f** hypopharynx and superlinguae **g** hypopharynx, seta of tuft of stout setae **h** maxilla **i** labium.

Hypopharynx and superlinguae (Fig. 39f, g). Lingua approx. as long as superlinguae. Lingua longer than broad; medial tuft of stout setae well developed, long, setae apically with minute serration; distal half laterally expanded. Superlinguae distally straight; lateral margin rounded; fine, long, simple setae along distal margin.

Maxilla (Fig. 39h). Galea-lacinia ventrally with two simple, apical setae under canines. Inner dorsal row of setae with three denti-setae, distal denti-seta tooth-like,

middle and proximal denti-setae slender, bifid and pectinate. Medially with one bipectinate, spine-like seta and two or three long, simple setae. Maxillary palp $1.4 \times$ as long as length of galea-lacinia; 2-segmented; palp segment II $1.3 \times$ length of segment I; setae on maxillary palp fine, simple, scattered over surface of segments I and II; apex of last segment rounded, with slight excavation at inner distolateral margin.

Labium (Fig. 39i). Glossa basally broad, narrowing toward apex; shorter than paraglossa; inner margin with ca. seven spine-like setae increasing in length distally; apex with two long and one medium, robust, pectinate setae; outer margin with five or six spine-like setae increasing in length distally; ventral surface with fine, simple, scattered setae. Paraglossa sub-rectangular, curved inward; apex rounded; with three rows of long, robust, distally pectinate setae in apical area and three medium, simple setae in anteromedial area; dorsally with a row of three long, spine-like setae near inner margin. Labial palp with segment I 0.6 × length of segments II and III combined. Segment I ventrally with short, fine, simple setae. Segment II with slender, thumb-like, distomedial protuberance, distally bent upward; distomedial protuberance 0.8 × width of base of segment III; ventral surface with short, fine, simple setae; dorsally with a row of 2–4 medium, spine-like setae near outer margin. Segment III slightly pentagonal; apex with small projection; length 1.2 × width; ventrally covered with short, spine-like, simple setae and short, fine, simple setae.

Hind protoptera absent.

Foreleg (Fig. 40a–c). Ratio of foreleg segments 1.2:1.0:0.4:0.1. **Femur.** Length ca. $3 \times$ maximum width. Dorsal margin with 8–11 curved, spine-like setae and at least a partial row of spine-like setae near margin; length of setae 0.27 × maximum width of femur. Apex rounded; with a pair of curved, spine-like setae. Many stout, lanceolate setae scattered along ventral margin; femoral patch absent. **Tibia.** Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of short, curved, spine-like setae, on apex one longer, spine-like setae. Patellotibial suture present on basal 1/3. **Tarsus.** Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae scattered with stout, lanceolate setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Dorsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Norsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Norsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae. Norsal margin with a row of fine, simple setae. Ventral margin with a row of curved, spine-like setae with minute marginal pectination (pectination difficult to see). Claw with one row of ten denticles; distally pointed; with ca. three stripes; subapical setae absent.

Terga (Fig. 40d). Surface with irregular rows of W-shaped scale bases and scattered micropores. Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines, wider than long.

Gills (Fig. 40e). Present on segments II–VII. Margin with small denticles intercalating fine simple setae. Tracheae extending from main trunk to inner and outer margins. Gill IV as long as length of segments V and half VI combined. Gill VII as long as length of segments VIII and 1/3 IX combined.

Paraproct (Fig. 40f). Distally expanded, with ca. nine stout, marginal spines. Surface scattered with U-shaped scale bases and fine, simple setae. Cercotractor with numerous broad, marginal spines.

Etymology. Dedicated to the late Mr. Joseph Mendoza (Philippines), outstanding insect collector.

Distribution. Philippines: Mindanao (Fig. 49c).



Figure 40. *Labiobaetis mendozai* sp. nov., larva morphology **a** foreleg **b** seta of ventral margin of tarsus **c** fore claw **d** tergum IV **e** gill IV **f** paraproct **g** antennal scape.

Biological aspects. The specimens were collected at altitudes from sea level to 120 m, on bottom gravel or submerged wood, or in leaf litter in side pools.

Type material. *Holotype.* PHILIPPINES • larva; Mindanao, Surigao del Sur, Tandag, Pangi, Pangi River; 09°06'18"N, 126°08'53"E; 10 m; 30.XI.2018, leg. Pangantihon;

on slide; GBIFCH 00592272; PNM. *Paratypes.* PHILIPPINES • 5 larvae; same data as holotype; 1 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515480; ZSM; 4 in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515481; AdMU • 2 larvae; Mindanao, Agusan del Sur, San Francisco, Bayogan, Tagkunayan Creek; 08°28'N, 125°59'E; 120 m; 05.II.1998; leg. Mendoza; 1 on slide; GBIFCH 00515476; AdMU; 1 on slide; GenBank: MT830985; GBIFCH 654894; ZSM • 1 larva; Mindanao, Surigao del Sur, Tandag, Buenavista River; 09°08'18"N, 126°08'45"E; 80 m; 03.XII.2018; leg. Panganthion; in alcohol; GBIFCH 00515478; ZSM.

Key to the Labiobaetis species of the Philippines (larvae)*

1	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of simple setae (Fig. 2a)
	(numeratus group) 2
_	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of other types of setae7
2	Setae at apex of mola of left mandible absent (Fig. 11d) L. lachicae sp. nov.
-	Setae at apex of mola of left mandible present
3	Hypopharynx with medial tuft of stout setae poorly developed (Fig. 2t); mola of right mandible proximally beginning with a double hump (Fig. 13b)4
-	Hypopharynx with medial tuft of stout setae well developed, short (Fig. 2s); mola of right mandible proximally not beginning with a double hump 5
4	Posterior margin of tergum IV with triangular spines (Fig. 16c)
	<i>L. sabordoi</i> sp. nov.
_	Posterior margin of tergum IV with rounded spines (Fig. 14c)
5	Left mandible with comb-shaped structure at base of mola (Fig. 5f, g)6
_	Left mandible without comb-shaped structure at base of mola (Fig. 9d)
	L. camiguinensis sp. nov.
6	Paraproct with 18–21 marginal spines L. aldabae sp. nov.
-	Paraproct with 29-34 marginal spines plus a few submarginal spines
	I decise pov
	<i>L. acei</i> sp. nov.
7	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c)
7	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c)
7	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c) (sumigarensis group) 8 Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of other types of setae13
7 8	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c) (sumigarensis group) 8 Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of other types of setae13 Labial palp segment II enlargement pronounced hook-like with inner margin straight, segment III oblong and apically slightly truncate (Fig. 28c)
7 - 8	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c) (sumigarensis group) 8 Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of other types of setae13 Labial palp segment II enlargement pronounced hook-like with inner margin straight, segment III oblong and apically slightly truncate (Fig. 28c) <i>L. sumigarensis</i>
7 - 8 -	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c) (sumigarensis group) 8 Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of other types of setae13 Labial palp segment II enlargement pronounced hook-like with inner margin straight, segment III oblong and apically slightly truncate (Fig. 28c) Labial palp different
7 	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c) (sumigarensis group) 8 Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of other types of setae13 Labial palp segment II enlargement pronounced hook-like with inner margin straight, segment III oblong and apically slightly truncate (Fig. 28c) Labial palp different
7 	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c) <i>(sumigarensis</i> group) 8 Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of other types of setae13 Labial palp segment II enlargement pronounced hook-like with inner margin straight, segment III oblong and apically slightly truncate (Fig. 28c) <i>L. sumigarensis</i> Labial palp different
7 	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of clavate setae (Fig. 2c)

^{*} Some of the species may be difficult to identify below the species group level, more than one good slide is recommended

10	Labial palp segment III apically slightly pointed (Fig. 31i); maxillary palp
	longer than galea-lacinia (ca. 1.3×) (Fig. 31h)
_	Lablai paip segment III apically rounded (Fig. 55n); maxillary paip much longer than galea-lacinia (ca. 1.7×) (Fig. 33g)
11	Paraproct distally not expanded (Fig. 27c); distolateral process at scape poorly
	developed (Fig. 2g)
_	Paraproct distally expanded (Fig. 30e); distolateral process at scape absent
	(Fig. 2f)12
12	Maxillary palp with distolateral excavation (Fig. 29h); dorsal surface of la-
	brum with submarginal arc of 17–21 clavate setae (Fig. 29a)
	<i>L. baganii</i> sp. nov.
_	Maxillary palp with slight distolateral excavation (Fig. 35g); dorsal surface of
	labrum with submarginal arc of 15–17 clavate setae (Fig. 35a)
	L. pelingeni sp. nov.
13	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of lanceolate setae (Fig. 2e)
-0	(vallus group) 14
_	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of other types of setae 15
14	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of ca. three lanceolate setae:
11	row of fine setae at innermost denticle of kinetodontium of right mandible
	absent (Fig. 37b)
_	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of one plus call eight lanceolate
	setae: row of fine setae at innermost denticle of kinetodontium of right man-
	dible present (Fig. 39b)
15	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of feathered setae (Fig. 2b).
- /	feathers may be reduced or strongly reduced: labial palp segment II enlarge-
	ment thumb-like, segment III conical (Fig. 2i): femoral patch absent
	(<i>aperosus</i> group) 16
_	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of dendritic setae (Fig. 2d):
	labial palp segment II enlargement parrow elongate thumb-like segment III
	apically rounded (Fig. 3i): femoral patch present (Fig. 4a)
	(dendrisetis group) I dalisau sp. pov
16	Dorsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of setae with reduced or
10	strongly reduced feathers (Figs 17b 21b)
	Darsal surface of labrum with submarginal arc of feathered setae feathers not
-	reduced (Fig. 19a)
17	Feathered setae of submarginal arc on dorsal surface of labrum strongly re-
17	duced with few lateral branches only (Fig. 17b): hind protoptera well devel-
	oped (Fig. 18g)
_	Feathered setae of submarginal arc on dorsal surface of labrum moderately
	reduced (Fig. 21b): hind protopters of medium size (Fig. 22g)
	I tanhanna en nov
	D. ingounioù sp. nov.

18	Labial palp segment II enlargement narrow thumb-like (Fig. 19h); row of
	fine setae at innermost denticle of kinetodontium of right mandible absent
	(Fig. 19b) <i>L. pangantihoni</i> sp. nov.
_	Labial palp segment II enlargement broad thumb-like (Fig. 23h); row of
	fine setae at innermost denticle of kinetodontium of right mandible present
	(Fig. 23b) 19
19	Fore tarsus dorsoventrally concave (broadened) (Fig. 24a); spines at posterior
	margin of tergum IV shorter than wide (Fig. 24c) L. valdezorum sp. nov.
_	Fore tarsus dorsoventrally parallel sided (Fig. 26a); spines at posterior margin
	of tergum IV mainly longer than wide (Fig. 26c) L. wantzeni sp. nov.

Distribution

The material treated in this study was collected in many different locations across the Philippine archipelago, including most of the big islands as well as some smaller islands (Figs 48, 49). There are still many regions in the Philippines as well as in Southeast Asia where no sampling of mayflies has yet been done and many species known to date are from a single population only. This implies that the current diversity and distribution must be still considered very preliminary. In terms of altitude, the *Labiobaetis* species of the Philippines were found from sea level to mountain areas up to 1,820 m. The GPS coordinates of the locations of examined material are given in Table 2.

Genetics

COI sequences were obtained from all 18 new species (Table 1). The genetic distances (K2P) of the species in the Philippines are between 15% and 27%, and therefore much higher than 3.5%, which is generally considered as a likely maximal value for intraspecific divergence (Hebert et al. 2003, Ball et al. 2005, Zhou et al. 2010) (Table 3). Very

Table 2. GPS coordinates of locations of examined specime
--

Species	Species group	Locality	GPS coordinates
L. dalisay sp. nov.	<i>dendrisetis</i> gr.	Philippines: Luzon	15°45'48''N, 121°25'21''E
			15°46'48''N, 121°13'17''E
			16°21'33"N, 120°30'31"E
L. acei sp. nov.	numeratus gr.	Philippines: Luzon	17°03'53"N, 121°05'10"E
			16°59'37"N, 121°02'51"E
L. aldabae sp. nov.	<i>numeratus</i> gr.	Philippines: Luzon	14°08'N, 121°31'E
			15°46'48''N, 121°13'17''E
			14°32'47''N, 121°13'42''E
			16°57'17''N, 120°38'52' E
			16°34'11"N, 120°50'12"E
			16°21'33"N, 120°30'31"E
			16°40'58"N, 120°56'59"E
		Philippines: Negros	09°18'17''N, 123°10'07''E
L. camiguinensis sp. nov.	<i>numeratus</i> gr.	Philippines: Camiguin	09°06'39''N, 124°43'45''E
			09°09'25''N, 124°43'57''E

Species	Species group	Locality	GPS coordinates
L. lachicae sp. nov.	numeratus gr.	Philippines: Mindanao	08°28'N, 125°59'E
-	_		09°03'33''N, 126°05'57''E
			09°06'18''N, 126°08'53''E
L. palawano sp. nov.	numeratus gr.	Philippines: Busuanga	12°03'46''N, 120°13'25''E
	_		12°01'45''N, 120°12'19''E
		Philippines: Palawan	10°09'47''N, 118°50'37''E
			10°01'26''N, 119°04'37''E
L. sabordoi sp. nov.	numeratus gr.	Philippines: Negros	09°18'N, 123°14'E
		Philippines: Romblon	12°33'38''N, 122°07'19''E
			12°20'40''N, 122°40'37''E
L. gamay sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Mindoro	12°37'06''N, 121°23'49''E
			12°37'18"N, 121°22'58"E
		Philippines: Luzon	16°54'38"N, 120°28'40"E
			16°59'32"N, 120°32'21"E
			16°39'27"N, 120°25'55"E
L. pangantihoni sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Palawan	07°57'39''N, 117°02'59''E
			07°57'39''N, 117°02'59''E
			09°21'07''N, 118°08'26''E
			09°18'25''N, 118°07'42''E
L. tagbanwa sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Palawan	09°41'20''N, 118°37'29''E
			09°26'55''N, 118°26'44''E
			09°22'33''N, 118°08'41''E
L. valdezorum sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Negros	09°18'N, 123°14'E
			09°17'N, 123°13'E
		Philippines: Cebu	10°28'13"N, 123°52'26"E
L. wantzeni sp. nov.	operosus gr.	Philippines: Camiguin	09°06'39''N, 124°43'45''E
			09°12'N, 124°41'E
			09°09'25''N, 124°43'57''E
		Philippines: Mindanao	08°09'42''N, 124°42'28''E
L. molawinensis	sumigarensis gr.	Philippines: Luzon	14°09'53''N, 121°14'48''E
			14°10'05''N, 121°11'44''E
			14°08'N, 121°31'E
			15°45'21''N, 121°34'46''E
L. sumigarensis	sumigarensis gr.	Philippines: Luzon	16°59'37''N, 121°02'51''E
<i>L. baganii</i> sp. nov.	<i>sumigarensis</i> gr.	Philippines: Mindanao	09°10'15''N, 125°40'55''E
			09°20'40"N, 125°30'50"E
			08°28'N, 125°59'E
			09°11'34"N, 125°36'34"E
		Philippines: Camiguin	09°06'39"N, 124°43'45"E
<i>L. delocadoi</i> sp. nov.	<i>sumigarensis</i> gr.	Philippines: Cebu	10°24'55"N, 123°49'05"E
		Philippines: Leyte	10°01'0/"N, 125°12'35'E
<i>L. freitagi</i> sp. nov.	<i>sumigarensis</i> gr.	Philippines: Palawan	08°51′48″N, 11/°4/′45″E
			10°09'4/'N, 118°50'3/'E
			09°21 0/ N, 118°08 26 E
<u> </u>			0/°5/°01″N, 11/°04′29″E
L. pelingeni sp. nov.	<i>sumigarensis</i> gr.	Philippines: Negros	09°18 1/ N, 123°10 0/ E
T studeness and		Philippines: Cebu	10'45 52 IN, 125'59 49"E
L. giseide sp. nov.	vallus gr.	Dhilippines: Luzon	13 46 48 IN, 121 13 1/ E
L. menuozai sp. nov.	vallus gr.	r muppines: Mindanao	09 00 10 1N, 120 00 42 E
			00 20 IN, 123 37 E
			07 00 18 IN, 120 08 33 E

limited genetic distances (between 0% and 3%) were found between specimens of the same species, as in *L. acei* sp. nov., *L. palawano* sp. nov., *L. sabordoi* sp. nov., *L. gamay* sp. nov., *L. tagbanwa* sp. nov., *L. valdezorum* sp. nov., *L. wantzeni* sp. nov., *L. baganii*

maximum
minimum-1
; mean;
%
-parameter;
\sim
Kimura
÷
0
0
w specie
of the ne
distances
c genetic
interspecifi
and
(p
: (bol
Intraspecific
m.
Table (
-

		1	2	3	4	5	9	7	~	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18
-	L. dalisay sp. nov.	0																	
2	L. acei sp. nov.	18	0																
3	L. aldabae sp. nov.	20	16	3															
		20-22	15-16	0-6															
4	L. camiguinensis sp. nov.	23	19	16	0														
5	L. lachicae sp. nov.	22	18	18	6	0													
9	L. palawano sp. nov.	22	17	18	15	16	2												
	-	21-22	16-17	17-18	14-15	15-16													
~	L. sabordoi sp. nov.	22	17	19	20	18	16	1											
		21-22		18-19		17-18	15-16												
8	L. gamay sp. nov.	25	21	20	20	21	20	22	0										
		24–25	21–22	19–21			19–20	22-23	0-1										
6	L. pangantihoni sp. nov.	22	15	17	17	18	17	17	20	0									
				16-17			16-18		20-21										
10	L. tagbanwa sp. nov.	22	20	17	19	19	20	19	13	20	1								
				17-18			19-20	18-19			0-1	-							
=	L. valdezorum sp. nov.	22	22	20	21	22	22	23	18	23	17	0							
				19-21			21-22	22-23	18-19		17-18								
12	L. wantzeni sp. nov.	24	19	18	21	23	20	21	21	19	21	20	1						
				17–19			19-21	20-21					0-2						
13	L. baganii sp. nov.	22	18	18	20	21	18	19	21	20	19	24	21	2					
				17–19	19–20	20-21			20-21	19–20	18–20								
14	L. delocadoi sp. nov.	24	24	23	23	23	21	23	23	22	23	24	23	24	2				
		23-24	23-24	21–25	22-23	22-23	20-21	22-24	22-24	21–22	22-23			23-24					
15	L. freitagi sp. nov.	26	25	22	23	23	23	23	26	23	26	27	26	22	23	0			
				21-22	22-23	23-24	23-24	22-23	26-27	22-23	25-26	26-27			22-24	0-1			
16	L. pelingeni sp. nov.	24	19	19	22	19	20	22	24	21	22	23	24	21	23	23	ŝ		
		23-24	18-19	18-21	21-22		19–20	21-22	23-24		21-22	23-24	22-24	20-21	22–23	22-24			
17	L. giselae sp. nov.	21	18	18	21	20	23	20	22	19	20	20	17	21	21	23	22	0	
				17–19			22-23				19–20	20-21	17–18	20-21	20-21	22-23	21–22		
18	L. mendozai sp. nov.	23	21	19	20	20	19	22	22	23	19	20	24	22	24	27	21	21	0
							18-19				18–19	20-21	23-25		23-24	26-27			



Figure 41. Habitus, larvae, dorsal view **a** *Labiobaetis dalisay* sp. nov. **b** *Labiobaetis acei* sp. nov. **c** *Labiobaetis aldabae* sp. nov.

sp. nov., *L. delocadoi* sp. nov., *L. freitagi* sp. nov. and *L. pelingeni* sp. nov. An exception is *L. aldabae* sp. nov., where we found a genetic distance up to 5% between different locations on the same island (Luzon) and 6% between locations on different islands (Luzon and Negros).



Figure 42. Habitus, larvae, dorsal view **a** *Labiobaetis camiguinensis* sp. nov. **b** *Labiobaetis lachicae* sp. nov. **c** *Labiobaetis palawano* sp. nov. **d** *Labiobaetis sabordoi* sp. nov.



Figure 43. Habitus, larvae, dorsal view **a** *Labiobaetis gamay* sp. nov. **b** *Labiobaetis pangantihoni* sp. nov. **c** *Labiobaetis tagbanwa* sp. nov.

Discussion

Assignment to Labiobaetis

For the assignment of the new species to *Labiobaetis* we refer to Kluge and Novikova (2014), Müller-Liebenau (1984) and McCafferty and Waltz (1995). *Labiobaetis* is



Figure 44. Habitus, larvae, dorsal view **a** *Labiobaetis valdezorum* sp. nov. **b** *Labiobaetis wantzeni* sp. nov. **c** *Labiobaetis baganii* sp. nov. **d** *Labiobaetis delocadoi* sp. nov.



Figure 45. Habitus, larvae, dorsal view **a** *Labiobaetis freitagi* sp. nov. **b** *Labiobaetis pelingeni* sp. nov. **c** *Labiobaetis giselae* sp. nov. **d** *Labiobaetis mendozai* sp. nov.



Figure 46. Habitus, larvae, ventral view **a** *Labiobaetis acei* sp. nov. **b** *Labiobaetis aldabae* sp. nov. **c** *Labiobaetis camiguinensis* sp. nov.



Figure 47. Habitus, larvae, ventral view **a** *Labiobaetis lachicae* sp. nov. **b** *Labiobaetis palawano* sp. nov. **c** *Labiobaetis sabordoi* sp. nov. **d** Hypopharynx and superlinguae of *Labiobaetis camiguinensis* sp. nov.



Figure 48. Distribution of *Labiobaetis* in the Philippines **a** Philippines, overview **b** Group *dendrisetis* **c** Group *numeratus*.

characterized by a number of derived characters, some of which are not found in other taxa (Kluge and Novikova 2014): antennal scape sometimes with a distolateral process (Fig. 2h); maxillary palp two segmented with excavation at inner distolateral margin of segment II, excavation may be poorly developed or absent (Fig. 2n–p); labium with paraglossae widened and glossae diminished; labial palp segment II with distomedial protuberance (Fig. 2i–m). All these characters vary and may be secondarily lost (Kluge and Novikova 2014). The concept of *Labiobaetis* is also based on additional characters, summarized and discussed in Kaltenbach and Gattolliat (2018, 2019).



Figure 49. Distribution of *Labiobaetis* in the Philippines **a** Group *operosus* **b** Group *sumigarensis* **c** Group *vallus*.

From the 16 species of *Labiobaetis* (or previously assigned to *Pseudocloeon*) only known at the imaginal stage, one was described from the Philippines (Mindanao; *Pseudocloeon boettgeri Ulmer*, 1924). As the identification of the imaginal stage of *Labiobaetis* is generally very difficult, we consider it unrealistic to safely associate the larval stage with old type material at the imaginal stage. In this case, rearing material will provide little help. Furthermore, the generic assignment of the species remains questionable. Therefore, we did not take this species into account in our study and wait for an eventual clarification of its status in the future by using ancient DNA methods.

Species groups

The morphological groups within *Labiobaetis* are primarily a working tool but could also serve as a basis for future studies on the generic delimitation and phylogeny of this genus. The inclusion of nuclear gene sequences may prove that some are natural groups. Most of the species in the Philippines belong to three different groups only, six to the *numeratus* group, five to the *operosus* group, and six to the *sumigarensis* group. These groups are widespread and highly diversified in Asia. Species of the *numeratus* group are also known from Sri Lanka, Malaysia, Indonesia and China, species of the *operosus* group from Malaysia and Indonesia and species of the *sumigarensis* group from India, Sri Lanka, Malaysia, Indonesia, Brunei, China and Taiwan (Müller-Liebenau 1984; Müller-Liebenau and Hubbard 1985; Kang et al. 1994; Shi and Tong 2014; Kubendran et al. 2015; Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019, 2020). None of these groups are known from New Guinea (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018).

Interestingly, a few of these newly described species share characters with the fauna of New Guinea. *Labiobaetis dalisay* sp. nov. shares the dendritic setae on the dorsal surface of the labrum with *L. dendrisetis* Kaltenbach & Gattoliat from New Guinea; it also has a similar labial palp and maxillary palp and seven pairs of gills (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018). So far, *L. dendrisetis* is the only species with seven pairs of gills in New Guinea. Therefore, we erect the *dendrisetis* group of species including these two species. However, there are also important differences between the two species: *L. dalisay* sp. nov. has a well-developed scape process, hind protoptera and a femoral patch, while *L. dendrisetis* is missing these characters. Because of these important differences, especially the absence of a femoral patch in *L. dendrisetis*, we consider this group to be preliminary. Further species with dendritic setae either from the Philippines or from New Guinea may clarify the validity of this group in the future.

Labiobaetis giselae sp. nov. and L. mendozai sp. nov. share the lanceolate setae on the dorsal surface of the labrum with L. vallus Kaltenbach & Gattolliat from New Guinea, have a similar labial palp and also no scape process, no hind protoptera and six pairs of gills (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018). We therefore erect the vallus group of species to include these three species. The lanceolate, apically pointed setae on the dorsal surface of the labrum as well as the short paracercus (unknown in L. vallus) are unusual in Labiobaetis, but the protogonostyli developing under the larval cuticle of male late instar larvae of L. mendozai sp. nov. are folded as in the Labiobaetis type (Kluge 2004: fig. 29I) and all three species have a distolateral protuberance on segment II of the labial palp, which is an important character of Labiobaetis. Therefore, we have no doubt concerning the assignment of these species to Labiobaetis.

Genetic distance

In general, the genetic distances between the different species of *Labiobaetis* in the Philippines are rather high, between 15% and 27% (K2P, Table 3), which is in line with the genetic distances found in New Guinea (average 22%; Kaltenbach and Gat-

tolliat 2018), Indonesia (11%-24%; Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019) and Borneo (19%–25%; Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2020). Ball et al. (2005) reported a mean interspecific, congeneric distance of 18% for mayflies from the United States and Canada. The intraspecific distances are mostly very low as expected, ranging from 0 % to 3% (K2P). This result is certainly biased as it is based on a limited number of sequenced specimens per species, which were often from a single population. The exception is L. aldabae sp. nov. with up to 5% genetic distance between different locations on the same island (Luzon) and 6% between locations on Luzon and Negros (Fig. 48c). Here, the larger genetic distance may be explained by a possible isolation of some locations in northern mountainous areas of Luzon, while others may be connected between themselves and to other locations in the South, as well as by the geographic distance and probably stronger isolation between the islands of Luzon and Negros. Interestingly, the location with a genetic distance of 5% to other locations in Luzon has a genetic distance of only 2% to the sequenced specimen in Negros. Intraspecific distances of 4%-6% were also reported in some cases for Labiobaetis species in New Guinea, Indonesia and Borneo (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018, 2019, 2020), as well as in aquatic beetles in the Philippines (Komarek and Freitag 2020). Ball et al. (2005) also reported a case with 6% intraspecific distance in a mayfly in North America and intraspecific K2P distances of more than 3.5% are not uncommon within Plecoptera as well (Gill et al. 2015; Gattolliat et al. 2016).

In addition to the species described in this paper, we obtained nine COI sequences with clearly interspecific genetic distance to other specimens with the same morphology. To give a more complete view on the diversity, including this cryptic diversity, we are presenting them as Molecular Operational Taxonomic Units (MOTUs) based on genetic evidence only (COI; Table 4). MOTUs were originally defined and used to investigate and cluster the enormous diversity of small organisms like nematodes or foraminifera (Floyd et al. 2002, Blaxter et al. 2005, Morard et al. 2016). All identified MOTUs of *Labiobaetis* belong to the dominant species groups of the Philippines (group *numeratus, operosus*, and *sumigarensis*). Because of the absence of morphological support, they remain as species hypotheses for now without further treatment in this paper. Additional material and investigations will be necessary to confirm their status in the future.

Biogeography and endemicity

As mentioned above, of the 21 species of *Labiobaetis* known from the Philippines, six belong to the *numeratus* group, five to the *operosus* group and six to the *sumigarensis* group. All these groups are widespread and highly diversified in Southeast Asia. Members of *sumigarensis* and *operosus* group are also known from Borneo (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2020) and members of *numeratus* group from Sumatra and Sulawesi (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019). From Taiwan only one species of the *sumigarensis* group and other species without relation to the Philippines are known (Kang et al. 1994; Kang and Yang 1996) and none of these groups are represented in New Guinea

MOTU denomination	Species group	Locality	Specimens catalog #	GenBank #	GenSeq
				(COI)	Nomenclature
L. cf. lachicae sp. nov. I	numeratus group	Philippines: Mindanao	GBIFCH 00654893	MT830932	genseq-4 COI
L. cf. aldabae sp. nov. I	numeratus group	Philippines: Luzon	GBIFCH 00654905	MT830934	genseq-4 COI
L. cf. wantzeni sp. nov. I	operosus group	Philippines: Mindanao	GBIFCH 00654876	MT830931	genseq-4 COI
L. cf. wantzeni sp. nov. II	operosus group	Philippines: Mindanao	GBIFCH 00763665	MT830937	genseq-4 COI
L. cf. wantzeni sp. nov. III	operosus group	Philippines: Mindanao	GBIFCH 00763666	MT830938	genseq-4 COI
L. cf. baganii sp. nov. I	sumigarensis group	Philippines: Camiguin	GBIFCH 00654887	MT830933	genseq-4 COI
L. cf. delocadoi sp. nov. I	<i>sumigarensis</i> group	Philippines: Negros	GBIFCH 00654890	MT830935	genseq-4 COI
L. cf. pelingeni sp. nov. I	sumigarensis group	Philippines: Luzon	GBIFCH 00763654	MT830936	genseq-4 COI
L. cf. molawinensis I	<i>sumigarensis</i> group	Philippines: Mindanao	GBIFCH 00763673	MT830939	genseq-4 COI

Table 4. Molecular Operational Taxonomic Units (MOTUs) of Labiobaetis in the Philippines.

(Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018). This points to the direction of a single or very limited colonisation events for each of these groups in the past from Southeast Asia, probably facilitated by the at least partial land bridges between the Philippines and Borneo during Pleistocene (Brown and Diesmos 2010), and followed by local radiation in the Philippines. Additionally, there could have been a limited stepping-stone exchange between the Philippines and New Guinea, as we found members of the group *vallus* and *dendrisetis* on both these archipelagos (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018) and both groups are not known from anywhere else.

Based on the present data, all the Philippine *Labiobaetis* species are endemic to the Philippines. Moreover, most species (14) are restricted to one island. Although partly due to localities missing in this study, island endemics are quite common among aquatic insect species of the Philippines (Freitag and Balke 2011; Freitag 2013; Freitag and Zettel 2013; Komarek and Freitag 2014, 2020; Vidal et al. 2017; Garces et al. 2018, 2020; Pelingen and Freitag 2020). This island endemic pattern suggests allopatry as a major driver of speciation, as already discussed for *Labiobaetis* in New Guinea and in Indonesia (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2018 and citations therein, Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019).

In a few cases, we have more than one species of the same species group occuring on the same island: *L. acei* sp. nov. and *L. aldabae* sp. nov. from *numeratus* group on Luzon; *L. sumigarensis* and *L. molawinensis* from *sumigarensis* group on Luzon. Moreover, we have additional diversity as MOTUs partly sharing the same species groups and islands (Table 4). Although the high diversity in Luzon can be considered as sampling bias given that most expeditions and course projects of the Ateneo laboratory were done in Luzon, it may also be due to the diversity of sampling habitats included. Among the material examined, samples from Luzon have the highest altitudes (up to 1,800 m). This indicates that there are certainly other mechanisms of speciation involved as well, such as differentiation along elevational and environmental gradients or rising and falling sea levels between mid to late Pleistocene with subsequent separation and re-connection of islands (Brown and Diesmos 2010). In a recent study of the structuration of the mayfly community on three neighbouring volcanos in Sumatra, elevation was found to be the only factor driving the within-species genetic structuring of two species of Baetidae and an important factor for two others (Gueuning et al. 2017). On the same volcanos, Kaltenbach et al. (2020) reported two different species of *Procerobaetis* Kaltenbach & Gattolliat, 2020, at different elevations and ecological conditions, which points to the direction that these factors could be drivers of speciation. In the caddisfly genus *Hydropsyche* Pictet, 1834 Mey (2003) reported adaptive radiation of the *hamifera* group from spring brooks in the highest mountains to the slowly flowing sections in the lowlands in Luzon that gave rise to the high species diversity on the island.

We also have cases of species, which are distributed on more than one island: *L. baganii* sp. nov. and *L. wantzeni* sp. nov. both on Mindanao and Camiguin and with a genetic distance of 2% between the islands; *L. sabordoi* sp. nov. on Negros and Romblon (K2P 1%); *L. aldabae* sp. nov. on Luzon and Negros (K2P 2%–6%); *L. gamay* sp. nov. on Luzon and Mindoro (K2P 0%–1%); *L. pelingeni* sp. nov. on Negros and Cebu (K2P 3%); *L. delocadoi* sp. nov. on Cebu and Leyte (K2P 2%). Based on the small genetic distances and the mostly close geographic distances, these cases suggest either current or remnant intra-archipelagic dispersal crossing sea channels. Interestingly, most of these island pairs do not belong to the same intra-Philippine biogeographic region (Greater Luzon, Greater Mindoro, Romblon, West Visayas, Camiguin, and Greater Mindanao) (Ong et al. 2002). Even the smaller islands (Camiguin, Romblon) included here were never connected by aggregate to islands complexes during Pleistocene. We can also expect that additional data may increase the number of species present on more than one island.

Four species in Palawan offer an interesting zoogeographic affinity based on morphology. The morphology of *L. freitagi* sp. nov. (*sumigarensis* group) is closer to *L. delocadoi* sp. nov. than to the species from Borneo (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2020). The morphology of *L. palawano* sp. nov. (*numeratus* group) presents more affinities with *L. sabordoi* sp. nov., *L. acei* sp. nov. and *L. aldabae* sp. nov. than with the species from Indonesia (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019). The morphologies of *L. tagbanwa* sp. nov. and *L. pangantihoni* sp. nov. (*operosus* group) do not show more similarities with other species from the Philippines than to *L. dayakorum* Kaltenbach & Gattolliat from Borneo and *L. paraoperosus* Kaltenbach & Gattolliat from Sumatra (Kaltenbach and Gattolliat 2019, 2020). This suggests that at least *L. freitagi* sp. nov. and *L. palawano* sp. nov. are part of the local radiation in the Philippines and are not remaining species from a possible colonisation across the Palawan land bridge during Pleistocene.

The number of sampled localities and different habitats is still limited and there are regions without any collection activities so far (Figs 48, 49). High-altitude gradients can be found on several islands in the Philippines, incl. the under-sampled Mindanao and Palawan. In addition, we have nine species hypotheses based on genetics only (MOTUs, Table 4), which may be confirmed as valid species in the future. Therefore, we can expect that the number of *Labiobaetis* species in the Philippines will continue to increase substantially with further collections.

Acknowledgements

This study was made possible with the Gratuitous Permits (GP 0133-17 and renewals) for the collection of aquatic wildlife as kindly issued by the Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources (BFAR), Quezon City and the Palawan Council for Sustainable Development, Puerto Princesa City (No. 2019-20). Prerequisite permissions were given by the respective local government units.

We sincerely thank Hendrik Freitag, Emmanuel Delocado, Clister V. Pangantihon, Arthien Lovell Pelingen, Marc Ryan Sabordo, and Kyra Mari Dominique Aldaba (AdMU, Philippines) for the assistance in the field and collection management. Additional precious materials were contributed by Ace Kevin Amarga (Philippines/Taiwan), Joseph Mendoza (Philippines), Wolfram Mey (Germany), and Karl Matthias Wantzen (France). We are deeply thankful to Lars Hendrich (Zoologische Staatssammlung München, ZSM, Germany) and Janice Peters (Florida A&M University, Tallahassee, USA) for the loan of *Labiobaetis* type material from Southeast Asia and Sri Lanka, to Frederico F. Salles for the structure of a DELTA database which we used for the development of our own database of *Labiobaetis*, and to Tanja Schwander (University of Lausanne, UNIL) for the possibility to work in her lab and for her general support. We are also grateful to Michel Sartori (MZL) for his constant interest and support for our project, and to Marion Podolak (MZL) and Maud Liégeois (University of Lausanne, UNIL) for their support with lab work and preparation of the COI barcodes.

Lastly, the authors are grateful to Cassandra Caedo (USA) for the corrections and improvements of the English language and to the reviewers for the recommendations and comments on the manuscript.

Expeditions and management of aquatic macroinvertebrate material in the AdMU Biodiversity Laboratory were partly supported by the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD project BIO-PHIL 57393541) and School of Science and Engineering Industry 4.0 Research Fund (SI4-013).

References

- Ball SL, Hebert PDN, Burian SK, Webb JM (2005) Biological identifications of mayflies (Ephemeroptera) using DNA barcodes. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 24: 508–524. https://doi.org/10.1899/04-142.1
- Barber-James HM, Sartori M, Gattolliat J-L, Webb J (2013) World checklist of freshwater Ephemeroptera species. http://fada.biodiversity.be/group/show/35
- Blaxter M, Mann J, Chapman T, Thomas F, Whitton C, Floyd R, Abebe E (2005) Defining operational taxonomic units using DNA barcode data. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B 360: 1935–1943. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2005.1725
- Brown RM, Diesmos AC (2010) Philippines, Biology. In: Gillespie RG, Clague DA (Eds) Encyclopedia of Islands. University of California Press, Berkeley, Los Angeles, London, 723–732.
- Chakrabarty P, Warren M, Page LM, Baldwin CC (2013) GenSeq: An updated nomenclature and ranking for genetic sequences from type and non-type sources. ZooKeys 346: 29–41. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.346.5753
- Coleman OC, Lowry JK, Macfarlane T (2010) DELTA for beginners: an introduction into the taxonomic software package DELTA. ZooKeys 45: 1–75. https://doi.org/10.3897/zook-eys.45.263
- Dallwitz MJ (1980) A general system for coding taxonomic descriptions. Taxon 29: 41–46. https://doi.org/10.2307/1219595
- Dallwitz MJ, Paine TA, Zurcher EJ (1999 onwards) User's guide to the DELTA Editor. Version: 16 November 2016. http://www.delta-intkey.com
- Floyd R, Abebe E, Papert A, Blaxter M (2002) Molecular barcodes for soil nematode identification. Molecular Ecology 11: 839–850. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294X.2002.01485.x
- Folmer O, Black M, Hoeh W, Lutz R, Vrijenhoek R (1994) DNA primers for amplification of mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase subunit I from diverse metazoan invertebrates. Molecular Marine Biology and Biotechnology 3: 294–299. http://www.mbari.org/staff/vrijen/ PDFS/Folmer_94MMBB.pdf
- Freitag H (2013) Ancyronyx Erichson, 1847 (Coleoptera, Elmidae) from Mindoro, Philippines, with description of the larvae and two new species using DNA sequences for the assignment of the developmental stages. ZooKeys 321: 35–64. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.321.5395
- Freitag H, Balke M (2011) Larvae and a new species of Ancyronyx Erichson, 1847 (Insecta, Coleoptera, Elmidae) from Palawan, Philippines, using DNA sequences for the assignment of the developmental stages. ZooKeys 136: 47–82. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.136.1914
- Freitag H, Jäch MA, Wewalka G (2016) Diversity of aquatic and riparian Coleoptera of the Philippines: checklist, state of knowledge, priorities for future research and conservation. Aquatic Insects 37: 177–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/01650424.2016.1210814
- Freitag H, Zettel H (2013) Aquatic Coleoptera of the Lake Manguao Catchment, Palawan, the Philippines. The Philippine Scientist 50: 1–38.
- Fujitani T (2008) The family Baetidae from Japan. In: Hauer FR, Stanford JA, Newell RL (Eds) International Advances in the Ecology, Zoogeography and Systematics of Mayflies and Stoneflies. University of California Press, Berkeley, 205–218. https://doi.org/10.1525/ california/9780520098688.003.0015
- Fujitani T, Hirowatari T, Tanida K (2003) Genera and species of Baetidae in Japan: Nigrobaetis, Alainites, Labiobaetis, and Tenuibaetis n. stat. (Ephemeroptera). Limnology 4: 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10201-003-0105-2
- Garces JM, Sartori M, Freitag H (2020) Integrative taxonomy of the genus *Dudgeodes* Sartori, 2008 (Insecta, Ephemeroptera, Teloganodidae) from the Philippines with description of new species and supplementary descriptions of Southeast Asian species. ZooKeys 910: 93–129. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.910.48659
- Gattolliat J-L (2001) Six new species of *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) from Madagascar with comments on the validity of the genus. Annales de Limnologie 37: 97–123. https://doi.org/10.1051/limn/2001013

- Gattolliat J-L, Kondratieff BC, Kaltenbach T, Al Dhafer HM (2018) *Labiobaetis* from the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (Insecta: Ephemeroptera: Baetidae). ZooKeys 774: 77–104. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.774.25273
- Gattolliat J-L, Monaghan MT, Sartori M, Elouard JM, Barber-James H, Derleth P, Glaizot O, de Moor F, Vogler AP (2008) A molecular analysis of the Afrotropical Baetidae. In: Hauer FR, Stanford JA, Newell RL (Eds) International Advances in the Ecology, Zoogeography and Systematics of Mayflies and Stoneflies. University of California Press, Berkeley, 219– 232. https://doi.org/10.1525/california/9780520098688.003.0016
- Gattolliat J-L, Nieto C (2009) The family Baetidae (Insecta: Ephemeroptera): synthesis and future challenges. Aquatic Insects 31: 41–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/01650420902812214
- Gattolliat J-L, Staniczek A (2011) New larvae of Baetidae (Insecta: Ephemeroptera) from Espiritu Santo, Vanuatu. Stuttgarter Beiträge zur Naturkunde A, Neue Serie 4: 75–82.
- Gattolliat J-L, Vinçon G, Wyler S, Pawlowski J, Sartori M (2016) Toward a comprehensive COI DNA barcode library for Swiss Stoneflies (Insecta: Plecoptera) with special emphasis on the genus Leuctra. Zoosymposia 11: 135–155. https://doi.org/10.11646/zoosymposia.11.1.15
- Gill BA, Sandberg JB, Kondratieff BC (2015) Evaluation of the morphological species concepts of 16 western Nearctic *Isoperla* species (Plecoptera: Perlodidae) and their respective species groups using DNA barcoding. Illiesia 11: 130–146. http://illiesia.speciesfile.org/papers/ Illiesia11-11.pdf
- Gueuning M, Suchan T, Rutschmann S, Gattolliat J-L, Jamsari J, Kamil AI, Pitteloud C, Buerki S, Balke M, Sartori M, Alvarez M (2017) Elevation in tropical sky islands as the common driver in structuring genes and communities of freshwater organisms. Scientific Reports 7: 16089–16103. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16069-y
- Hall R (2002) Cenozoic Geological and Plate Tectonic Evolution of SE Asia and the SW Pacific: Computer-Based Reconstructions, Model and Animations. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 20: 353–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1367-9120(01)00069-4
- Heads M (2013) Biogeography of the Philippines. Biogeography of Australasia: A Molecular Analysis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 356–401. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CBO9781139644464.011
- Heaney L, Balete D, Rickart E (2013) Models of oceanic island biogeography: changing perspectives on biodiversity dynamics in archipelagos. Frontiers of Biogeography 5: 249–257. https://doi.org/10.21425/F5FBG18991
- Hebert PDN, Cywinska A, Ball SL, DeWaard JR (2003) Biological identifications through DNA barcodes. Proceedings of The Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 270: 313–321. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2218
- Hubbard MD (1995) Towards a standard methodology for the description of mayflies (Ephemeroptera). In: Corkum LD, Ciborowski JJH (Eds) Current Directions in Research on Ephemeroptera. Canadian Scholar's Press, Toronto, 361–369.
- Jacobus LM, Macadam CR, Sartori M (2019) Mayflies (Ephemeroptera) and their contributions to ecosystem services. Insects 10: 1–26. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects10060170
- Kaltenbach T, Gattolliat J-L (2018) The incredible diversity of *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge in New Guinea revealed by integrative taxonomy (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae). ZooKeys 804: 1–136. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.804.28988

- Kaltenbach T, Gattolliat J-L (2019) The tremendous diversity of *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge in Indonesia (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae). ZooKeys 895: 1–117. https://doi.org/10.3897/ zookeys.895.38576
- Kaltenbach T, Gattolliat J-L (2020) *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge in Borneo (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae). ZooKeys 914: 43–79. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.914.47067
- Kaltenbach T, Garces JM, Gattolliat J-L (2020) A new genus of Baetidae (Insecta, Ephemeroptera) from Southeast Asia. European Journal of Taxonomy 612: 1–32. https://doi. org/10.5852/ejt.2020.612
- Kang C-H, Chang H-C, Yang C-T (1994) A revision of the genus *Baetis* in Taiwan (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae). Journal of Taiwan Museum 47: 9–44.
- Kang S-C, Yang C-T (1996) Two new species of *Baetis* Leach (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) from Taiwan. Chinese Journal of Entomology 16: 61–66.
- Kimura M (1980) A simple method for estimating evolutionary rates of base substitutions through comparative studies of nucleotide sequences. Journal of Molecular Evolution 16: 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01731581
- Kluge NJ (2004) The Phylogenetic System of Ephemeroptera. Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 442 pp. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0872-3
- Kluge NJ (2012) Non-African representatives of the plesiomorphion Protopatellata (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae). Russian Entomological Journal 20: 361–376. https://doi.org/10.15298/ rusentj.20.4.02
- Kluge NJ, Novikova EA (2011) Systematics of the mayfly taxon Acentrella (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae), with description of new Asian and African species. Russian Entomological Journal 20: 1–56. https://doi.org/10.15298/rusentj.20.1.01
- Kluge NJ, Novikova EA (2014) Systematics of *Indobaetis* Müller-Liebenau & Morihara 1982, and related implications for some other Baetidae genera (Ephemeroptera). Zootaxa 3835: 209–236. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3835.2.3
- Kluge NJ, Novikova EA (2016) New tribe Labiobaetini tribus n., redefinition of *Pseudopannota* Waltz & McCafferty 1987 and descriptions of new and little known species from Zambia and Uganda. Zootaxa 4169: 1–43. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4169.1.1
- Komarek A, Freitag H (2014) Revision of *Anacaena* Thomson, 1859 XI. Republic of the Philippines (Coleoptera: Hydrophilidae). Koleopterologische Rundschau 84: 235–276.
- Komarek A, Freitag H (2020) Taxonomic revision of Agraphydrus Régimbart, 1903. V. Philippine species and their first DNA barcodes (Coleoptera: Hydrophilidae: Acidocerinae). Koleopterologische Rundschau 90: 201–242.
- Kubendran T, Balasubramanian C, Selvakumar C, Gattolliat J-L, Sivaramakrishnan KG (2015) Contribution to the knowledge of *Tenuibaetis* Kang & Yang 1994, *Nigrobaetis* Novikova & Kluge 1987 and *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) from the Western Ghats (India). Zootaxa 3957: 188–200. https://doi.org/10.11646/ zootaxa.3957.2.3
- Kubendran T, Rathinakumar T, Balasubramanian C, Selvakumar C, Sivaramakrishnan KG (2014) A new species of *Labiobaetis* Novikova & Kluge, 1987 (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) from the southern Western Ghats in India, with comments on the taxonomic status of *Labiobaetis*. Journal of Insect Science 14: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1673/031.014.86

- Kumar S, Stecher G, Tamura K (2016) MEGA 7: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 7.0 for bigger data sets. Molecular Biology and Evolution 33: 1870–1874. https://doi. org/10.1093/molbev/msw054
- Lugo-Ortiz CR, McCafferty WP, Waltz RD (1999) Definition and reorganization of the genus *Pseudocloeon* (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) with new species descriptions and combinations. Transactions of the American Entomological Society 125: 1–37.
- McCafferty WP, Lenat DR, Jacobus LM, Meyer MD (2010) The mayflies (Ephemeroptera) of the southeastern United States. Transactions of the American Entomological Society 136: 221–233. https://doi.org/10.3157/061.136.0303
- McCafferty WP, Waltz RD (1995) *Labiobaetis* (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae): new status, new North American species, and related new genus. Entomological News 106: 19–28.
- Mey W (2003) Insular radiation of the genus *Hydropsyche* (Insecta, Trichoptera: Hydropsychidae) Pictet, 1834 in the Philippines and its implications for the biogeography of Southeast Asia. Journal of Biogeography 30: 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.2003.00830.x
- Monaghan MT, Gattolliat JL, Sartori M, Elouard JM, James H, Derleth P, Glaizot O, de Moor F, Vogler AP (2005) Trans-oceanic and endemic origins of the small minnow mayflies (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae) of Madagascar. Proceedings of The Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 272: 1829–1836. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3139
- Morard R, Escarguel G, Weiner AKM, André A, Douady CJ, Wadw CM, Darling KF, Ujiié Y, Seears HA, Quillévéré F, De Garidel-Thoron T, De Vargas C, Kucera M (2016) Nomenclature for the nameless: a proposal for an integrative molecular taxonomy of cryptic diversity exemplified by planktonic Foraminifera. Systematic Biology 65: 925–940. https://doi. org/10.1093/sysbio/syw031
- Müller-Liebenau I (1982) New species of the family Baetidae from the Philippines (Insecta, Ephemeroptera). Archiv für Hydrobiologie 94: 70–82.
- Müller-Liebenau I (1984) New genera and species of the family Baetidae from West-Malaysia (River Gombak) (Insecta: Ephemeroptera). Spixiana 7: 253–284.
- Müller-Liebenau I, Hubbard MD (1985) Baetidae from Sri Lanka with some general remarks on the Baetidae of the Oriental Region (Insecta: Ephemeroptera). Florida Entomologist 68: 537–561. https://doi.org/10.2307/3494855
- Novikova EA, Kluge NJ (1987) Systematics of the genus *Baetis* (Ephemeroptera, Baetidae), with descriptions of new species from Middle Asia. Vestnik Zoologii 1987(4): 8–19. [in Russian]
- Odgen TH, Whiting MF (2005) Phylogeny of Ephemeroptera (mayflies) based on molecular evidence. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 37: 625–643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ympev.2005.08.008
- Ogden TH, Gattolliat J-L, Sartori M, Staniczek AH, Soldan T, Whiting MF (2009) Towards a new paradigm in mayfly phylogeny (Ephemeroptera): combined analysis of morphological and molecular data. Systematic Entomology 34: 616–634. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3113.2009.00488.x
- Ong PS, Afuang LE, Rosell-Ambal RG (2002) Philippine Biodiversity Conservation Priorities: A Second Iteration of the National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan. Department of Environment and Natural Resources – Protected Areas and Wildlife Bureau, Conserva-

tion International Philippines, Biodiversity Conservation Program University of the Philippines Center for Integrative and Development Studies, Foundation for t, Quezon City.

- Pelingen AL, Freitag H (2020) Description of *Neoperla mindoroensis* sp. nov., the first record of a stonefly from Mindoro, Philippines (Plecoptera, Perlidae), and identification of its life stages using COI barcodes. ZooKeys 954: 47–63. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.954.53746
- Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR (1977) DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 74: 5463–5467. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.74.12.5463
- Sartori M, Brittain JE (2015) Order Ephemeroptera. In: Thorp J, Rogers DC (Eds) Ecology and General Biology: Thorp and Corvich's Freshwater Invertebrates. Academic Press, 873–891. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385026-3.00034-6
- Shi W, Tong X (2014) The genus *Labiobaetis* (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) in China, with description of a new species. Zootaxa 3815: 397–408. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3815.3.5
- Shorthouse DP (2010) SimpleMappr, an online tool to produce publication-quality point maps. [Retrieved from https://www.simplemappr.net. Accessed July 03, 2020].
- Siler CD, Swab JC, Oliveros CH, Diesmos AC, Averia L, Alcala AC, Brown RM (2012) Amphibians and reptiles, Romblon island group, central Philippines: Comprehensive herpeto-faunal inventory. Check List 8: 443–462. https://doi.org/10.15560/8.3.443
- Tofilski A (2018) DKey software for editing and browsing dichotomous keys. ZooKeys 735: 131–140. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.735.21412
- Turner H, Hovenkamp P, van Welzen PC (2001) Biogeography of Southeast Asia and the West Pacific. Journal of Biogeography 28: 217–230. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.2001.00526.x
- Ulmer G (1924) Ephemeropteren von den Sunsa-Inseln und den Philippinen. Treubia 6: 28-91.
- Vane-Wright RI (1990) The Philippines Key to the biogeography of Wallacea? In: Knight WJ, Holloway JD (Eds), Insects and the rain forests of South East Asia (Wallacea). Royal Entomological Society of London, London, 19–34.
- Vallejo BJ (2014) Biogeography of Luzon Island, Philippines. In: Telnov D (Ed), Biodiversity, Biogeography and Nature Conservation in Wallacea and New Guinea. The Entomological Society of Latvia, Riga, 47–59. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.150137
- Vidal AR, Go KCTS, Freitag H (2017) Hydraenidae (Insecta: Coleoptera) of Mindoro, Philippines. I: *Hydraena* Kugelann, 1794 of the Baroc River basin, Roxas, Oriental Mindoro with description of three new species. Aquatic Insects 38: 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/0165 0424.2017.1303517
- Vuataz L, Sartori M, Wagner A, Monaghan MT (2011) Toward a DNA taxonomy of Alpine *Rhithrogena* (Ephemeroptera: Heptagenidae) using a mixed Yule-Coalescent Analysis of mitochondrial and nuclear DNA. PLoS ONE 6: 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0019728
- Webb JM (2013) A new species of *Labiobaetis* Novikova and Kluge, 1987 (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) from Washington, USA. Zootaxa 3750: 95–99. https://doi.org/10.11646/ zootaxa.3750.1.8
- Welton LJ, Wood PL, Oaks JR, Siler CD, Brown RM (2014) Fossil-calibrated phylogeny and historical biogeography of Southeast Asian water monitors (*Varanus salvator* Com-

plex). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 74: 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ympev.2014.01.016

- Zamoras LR, Matsuoka A (2004) Accretion and postaccretion tectonics of the Calamian Islands, North Palawan block, Philippines. Island Arc 13: 506–519. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1440-1738.2004.00443.x
- Zettel H, Freitag H (2014) The True Aquatic Bugs (Nepomorpha), the Semiaquatic Bugs (Gerromorpha), and the Shore Bugs (Leptopodomorpha) (Insecta: Heteroptera) of the Philippine Islands, 34 pp.
- Zhou X, Jacobus LM, DeWalt RE, Adamowicz SJ, Hebert PDN (2010) Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera fauna of Churchill (Manitoba, Canada): insights into biodiversity patterns from DNA barcoding. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 29: 814–837. https://doi.org/10.1899/09-121.1

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Snakes of the Pernambuco Endemism Center, Brazil: diversity, natural history and conservation

Rafaela C. França^{1,2}, Mayara Morais³, Frederico G. R. França⁴, Dennis Rödder², Mirco Solé^{2,5}

I Programa de Pós-graduação em Ecologia e Conservação da Biodiversidade, Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz, Rodovia Jorge Amado, Km 16, CEP 45662-900 Ilhéus, Bahia, Brazil 2 Herpetology Section, Zoologisches Forschungsmuseum Alexander Koenig, Adenauerallee 160, 53113 Bonn, Germany 3 Programa de Pós-graduação em Zoologia, Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz, 11 Rodovia Jorge Amado, Km 16, CEP 45662-900 Ilhéus, Bahia, Brazil 4 Departamento de Engenharia e Meio Ambiente, Centro de Ciências Aplicadas e Educação, Universidade Federal da Paraíba – UFPB, Av. Santa Elizabete, s/n – Centro. CEP 58297-000, Rio Tinto, PB, Brazil 5 Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz, Rodovia Jorge Amado, km,16, 45662-900 Ilhéus, Bahia, Brazil

Corresponding author: Mirco Solé (msole@uesc.br)

Academic editor: R. Jadin	Received 10 February 2020	Accepted 14 April 2020	Published 10 December 2020				
http://zoobank.org/56565B89-F2AA-4AD4-8012-0CBC274C1365							

Citation: França RC, Morais M, França FGR, Rödder D, Solé M (2020) Snakes of the Pernambuco Endemism Center, Brazil: diversity, natural history and conservation. ZooKeys 1002: 115–158. https://doi.org/10.3897/zooKeys.1002.50997

Abstract

The Atlantic Forest is one of the largest and richest tropical rainforests on the planet, being one of the 25 world priorities for conservation. The Atlantic Forest portion located north of the São Francisco River corresponds to the Pernambuco Endemism Center (PEC). We describe the snake composition of the PEC, providing information about the diversity, natural history and geographical distribution of the species, based on records from five scientific collections and additional information from the literature. A total of 78 species of snakes distributed in eight families was registered in the Pernambuco Endemism Center. The Caatinga is the Brazilian biome that most shares species with the PEC, followed by Cerrado. On the other hand, seven species are considered endemic of this region. Most of the snake species in the PEC have been registered in forest (94.8%), followed by "Brejos Nordestinos" (46.1%), Tabuleiros (43.5%), Restingas (14.1%) and Mangroves (5.1%). The PEC snake fauna includes mainly terrestrial species (60.2%) and cryptozoic and/or fossorial species (21.7%), but also presents a high richness of semi-arboreal and arboreal species (29.5%). Vertebrates are the main food item consumed by the species (78% of species), among the main prey are mammals, lizards, and amphibians. Most species show a strictly nocturnal activity period (50%), followed by strictly diurnal (38%). The PEC is the most degraded and least known region of the

Copyright Rafaela C. França et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY 4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Atlantic Forest, yet it has revealed a high richness of snake species, including seven endemic species. It is emphasized that regional conservation efforts need to be intensified, because few forests in the region are formally protected, and the majority consist of small and poorly protected fragments, which means that many species in the region may be in risk of extinction.

Keywords

biodiversity, inventory, geographic distribution, natural history, Serpentes, richness

Introduction

The Atlantic Forest is considered one of the 25 priority areas for conservation worldwide (Myers et al. 2000). This biome was one of the largest tropical forests in the Americas, originally covering 150 million hectares along the Brazilian coast and parts of Paraguay and Argentina (Silva and Casteleti 2003). Today, the Atlantic Forest has been reduced to less than 12% of its original coverage (Ribeiro et al. 2009). Even having suffered an extensive fragmentation since long time ago, the Atlantic Forest still presents a great biodiversity, housing one of the highest percentages of endemic species in the world (Morellato and Haddad 2000).

Although practically the entire Brazilian coast was occupied by European colonization, it was in the northeast that the Atlantic Forest was more rapidly degraded, due to the economic cycle of brazilwood and sugar cane (Coimbra-Filho and Câmara 1996). This degradation is even more evident in the portion of the Atlantic Forest located north of the São Francisco River, where an important center of endemism is located in South America – The Pernambuco Endemism Center (hereafter PEC) (Prance 1982, Silva and Casteleti 2003). In this region, sugar cane is the main agricultural crop and other anthropic actions, such as animal and plant extractivism, have contributed to the reduction of biodiversity in the PEC (Coimbra-Filho and Câmara 1996, Tabarelli et al. 2002, 2006a). In the midst of this scenario, the PEC is considered the most devastated, least known and least protected sector of the Atlantic Forest, being one of the regions on the planet where conservation efforts are most urgent (Coimbra-Filho and Câmara 1996, Tabarelli et al. 2002, 2005).

Among reptiles, snakes are the group that currently presents the most underestimated risks of extinction, due to the scarcity of information on the natural history of most species, mainly because they have long periods of inactivity, are difficult to observe and live in low population densities (Seigel 1993). Although some studies carried out on Atlantic forest remnants of the PEC have provided important information about snakes in this region (e.g. Moura et al. 2011, Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, França et al. 2012, Roberto et al. 2012, 2015, Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Mesquita et al. 2018, Sampaio et al. 2018, Freitas et al. 2019a), the knowledge about the diversity, distribution and natural history of PEC snake species remains scarce and fragmented. In this direction, scientific collections perform a fundamental role in obtaining information that is the basis for the description of new species, biodiversity inventories and identification of endemism areas (Rocha et al. 2014). Herein, we describe the snake composition at the Pernambuco Endemism Center, providing information about the diversity, natural history and geographical distribution of the species, based on records from scientific collections and additional information from the literature.

Materials and methods

Study area

The study area comprises the Atlantic Forest located north of the São Francisco River, which corresponds to the Pernambuco Endemism Center (PEC) (Fig. 1) (Prance 1982, Silva and Casteleti 2003), located between the states of Alagoas and Rio Grande do Norte. This region has a humid tropical climate (Köppen's As'), with autumn-winter rains and rainfall ranging from 750 to 1500 mm per year (Tabarelli et al. 2006a).

The PEC region is composed by different native forest formations and ecosystems associated with the Atlantic Forest domain. A mosaic of ombrophilous and semi-deciduous forests is present in this region (Tabarelli et al. 2006a). Also, PEC comprises the "Brejos de Altitude" or "Brejos Nordestinos", which are "islands" of humid forests established in the semi-arid region, surrounded by Caatinga vegeta-



Figure 1. Map of the location of the Pernambuco Endemism Center, with the original coverage of Atlantic Forest (gray), and the actual remnants (green).

tion (Andrade-Lima 1982). Although the vegetation of the PEC is composed mainly of humid tropical forests, we can also find open physiognomies along the coast, which are called "Restingas", and in the interior, which are called "Tabuleiros". The restingas are formed by strips of beaches and dunes covered by herbaceous and shrubby vegetation (Araujo 1992). The Tabuleiros are considered natural enclaves of savannah, characterized by herbaceous vegetation, with scattered trees and shrubs or grouped in patches that are structurally similar to the coastal restingas, but without the marine influence (Andrade-Lima 1982). On the coast along the PEC, we can also find areas of mangroves, with a diversified aggregation of trees and shrubs that form the dominant plant communities in saline solution of the tides (Tabarelli et al. 2006b).

According to Uchoa Neto and Tabarelli (2002), the PEC presents the largest amount of remaining area of Atlantic Forest in the state of Pernambuco (1,363.23 km²), followed by the states of Alagoas (807.95 km²), Rio Grande do Norte (567.67 km²) and Paraíba (566.09 km²).

Data collection

The data presented here is the result of verification of 3,118 snake specimens deposited in five scientific collections (Coleção Herpetológica da Universidade Federal da Paraíba – UFPB; Coleção do Laboratório de Anfíbios e Répteis da Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte - CLAR; Coleção Herpetológica do Museu de História Natural da Universidade Federal de Alagoas – MUFAL; Coleção Herpetológica da Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco – CHUFRPE; Coleção Herpetológica da Universidade Federal de Pernambuco – CHUFRPE; Coleção Herpetológica da Universidade

The information on the distribution and occurrence of species in each environment were obtained through the records of the scientific collections and literature data, and was subsequently georeferenced. We include records of occurrence of species in the literature only when we were able to confirm the record by direct observation, photo or through museum records or documented vouchers. Information on diet, habitat use, and litter size of the species was obtained from personal data, records of scientific collections and literature data. We categorized the snake size considering the mean body size of each species based on published data as small (< 500mm), moderate (501–1000mm) and large (> 1001mm).

In this work, we have differentiated the habitats of the species into five vegetation physiognomies found in this region: Forests (when the species were found in areas with a typical forest physiognomy, with a large vegetation cover, reaching 35 meters high in the canopy, presenting epiphytes, lianas and bromeliads); Coastal Restingas; Mangroves; Tabuleiros; Brejos Nordestinos (remnants of humid forests scattered in the Caatinga) (Fig. 2); and urban areas. In addition, we compared the snake fauna found in the PEC with these of five other natural ecoregions in Brazil (Amazon, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pampas, and Pantanal). These regions are divided on the basis of geomorphology, climate, and vegetation (IBGE 2004).



Figure 2. Vegetation physiognomies found in the Pernambuco Endemism Center. A forest B forest interior C Coastal Restingas D mangroves, E tabuleiros F Brejos Nordestinos. Photograph credits: Ivan L. Sampaio, in the Barra de Gramame (A), Frederico França, in the APA da Barra do Rio Mamanguape (B, C), Marcelo Melo, in the APA da Barra do Rio Mamanguape (D), Frederico França, in the Reserva Biológica Guaribas (E) and Adonias Teixeira, in the Parque Estadual Mata do Pau-Ferro (F).

Taxonomic considerations

The species *Caaeteboia* sp. found in the PEC, differs from *Caaeteboia amarali* (at present the only representative of the genus) mainly because it presents 15 rows of dorsal scales without reduction, while *C. amarali* presents 17 rows of dorsal scales without reduction. In addition, there is a strong variation between the number of ventral and subcaudal scales between the two species (Pereira Filho et al. 2017).

We decided to use the name *Micrurus ibiboboca* according to Silva Jr (2016). Although Silva Jr (2016) affirms that *M. ibiboboca* may be a species complex throughout the distribution of the species, the author still maintains the proper name. Thus, the species designated here as *M. ibiboboca* is the same mentioned in previous works as *Micrurus* aff. *ibiboboca* (e.g. França et al. 2012, Rodrigues et al. 2015, França and França 2019).

Results

We registered a total of 78 species of snakes of eight families, distributed in the PEC (Table 1, Figs 3–7). The most species rich family was Dipsadidae (47 species, 60% of total), followed by Colubridae (12 species, 15.4%), Viperidae (6 species, 7.7%), Boidae and Typhlopidae, both with four species (5.1%), Elapidae (3 species, 3.8%) and Anomalepididae and Leptotyphlopidae, both with a single species (1.3%).



Figure 3. Snake species from the Pernambuco Endemism Center. A Boa constrictor B Corallus hortulanus
C Epicrates assisi D Epicrates cenchria E Chironius carinatus F Chironius exoletus G Chironius flavolineatus,
H Dendrophidion atlantica I Drymarchon corais J Drymoluber dichrous K Leptophis ahaetulla L Palusophis bifossatus M Oxybelis aeneus N Spilotes pullatus O Spilotes sulphureus. Photograph credits: Frederico França
(A, B, E, F, G, J, L, M, N, O), Vanessa Nascimento (D), Davi Pantoja (C, H, I), Rafaela França (K).

Table 1. Summary of the Information of Natural History of the Snakes in the Pernambuco Endemism Center. Abbreviations are: Habitats (BN = Brejos Nordestinos, F = forest, Tb = Tabuleiro, Rt = Restinga, Mg = Mangrove); Diet (abn = amphisbaenians, amp = amphibians, ann = annelids, art = arthropods, bi = birds, fi = fishes, mo = mollusks, li = lizards, mam = mammals, sn=snakes; Activity period (D = Diurnal, N = Nocturnal); Habits (AB = arboreal, SAB = semi-arboreal, AQ = aquatic, SAQ = semi-aquatic, CR = cryptozoic, FS = Fossorial, TE = terrestrial). * Endemic species of the Pernambuco Endemism Center (PEC).

Family/Species	Habitats	Diet	Habits	Diel activity
Anomalepididae	Tubruts	Ditt	Tiubits	Dici activity
Liotyphlops trefauti	F	art	FS	N
Boidae	-	urt	10	
Bog constrictor	BN, F. Th, Rt	mam, li, bi	SAB. TE	D. N
Corallus hortulanus	F	mam, bi, li, amp	AB	N
Epicrates assisi	BN, F. Tb	mam, li, bi	TE	N
Epicrates cenchria	F	mam, bi, li, amp	TE, SAB	Ν
Colubridae		, , , , , , , _I	,	
Chironius carinatus	F	amp, bi, li, mam	TE, AB	D
Chironius exoletus	BN, F. Tb	amp, li	AR, TE	D
Chironius flavolineatus	BN, F, Tb	amp	SAB	D
Dendrophidion atlantica*	F	-	TE	D
Drymarchon corais	F, Tb	amp, abn li, sn, bi,	TE	D
Duran la la distance	DNL E TL	mam 1:	TE	D
	DIN, F, ID	n, amp		D
Leptophis anaetulla	BIN, F	amp, li	AB, I E	D
Oxybelis deneus	BN, F, Ib	li, amp, fi	AB	D
Palusophis bijossatus	F, BIN	amp, mam, li	1 E	D
Spilotes pullatus	BN, F, 1b	mam, bi	SAB	D
Spilotes sulphureus		mam, bi	SAB	D
Iantilla melanocephala	BN, F, 1b, Kt	art	FS	D, N
Dipsadidae	1. 471	,	20	5
Apostolepis cearensis	F, I b	sn, abn	FS	D
Apostolepis longicaudata	F	sn	FS	D
Atractus caete*	F	ann	FS	N
Atractus maculatus	F	ann	FS	N
Atractus potschi		ann	FS	N
Boiruna sertaneja	1 b, F	sn, II, mam	TE	N
Caaeteboia sp.*	F	-	TE	D
Dipsas mikanii	BN, F, Ib	mo	TE	N
Dipsas neuwiedi	F, BIN	mo	IE AD TT	N
Dipsas sazimai	F	mo	AB, IE	N
Dipsas variegata	F	mo	AB, IE	N
Echinanthera cephalomaculata*	F	amp	TE	D
Echinanthera cephalostriata	F	amp	TE	D
Erythrolamprus aesculapu	F	sn, li	TE	D
Erythrolamprus almadensis	F	amp	SAQ	D
Erythrolamprus miliaris	F, BN	amp, fi	SAQ	D, N
Erythrolamprus poecilogyrus	BN, F, Ib, Mg	amp, li	IE CAO	D, N
Erythrolamprus reginae	F	amp, li, fi	SAQ	D
Erythrolamprus taeniogaster	F, Ib, Kt	amp, fi	SAQ	D
Erythrolamprus viridis	BN, F	amp, li	IE	D
Helicops angulatus	F, Mg, Rt	fi, amp	AQ	N
Helicops leopardinus	Kt, F	n, amp	AQ	N
Hyaroaynastes gigas	F, Kt	amp, fi, sn, mam	AQ, IE	D
Imantodes cenchoa	F, Ib	li, amp	AB	N
Leptodeira annulata	F, Kt, BN	amp, li	AB, IE	N
Lygopnis dilepis	BIN, F	amp	1 E	D

Family/Species	Habitats	Diet	Habits	Diel activity
Oxyrhopus guibei	BN, F, Tb	mam, li	TE	D, N
Oxyrhopus petolarius	BN, F, Tb	li, mam, bi, amp	TE	Ν
Oxyrhopus trigeminus	BN, F, Tb, Rt,	li, mam, bi	TE	D, N
Philodryas nattereri	BN, F, Tb	li, mam, amp, sn, bi	TE, SAB	D
Philodryas olfersii	BN, F, Tb, Mg	amp, li, bi, mam	TE, SAB	D
Philodryas patagoniensis	F, Tb, Rt	amp, li, mam, bi, sn	TE	D
Phimophis guerini	F, Tb	li, mam	TE	Ν
Pseudoboa nigra	BN, F, Tb	li, mam, sn	TE	Ν
Psomophis joberti	F	amp, li	TE	D
Sibon nebulatus	F, Tb	mo	AB	Ν
Siphlophis compressus	F, Tb	li, sn	AB, TE	Ν
Taeniophallus affinis	BN, F, Tb	li, amp, abn, mam	CR	Ν
Taeniophallus occipitalis	BN, F, Tb	li, amp, abn	CR	Ν
Thamnodynastes almae	BN	amp, li	AB, TE	Ν
Thamnodynastes hypoconia	BN	amp, li	TE, AB	Ν
Thamnodynastes pallidus	F, Tb	amp	TE, AB	Ν
Thamnodynastes phoenix	BN	amp	TE, AB	Ν
Xenodon merremii	BN, F, Tb	amp	TE	D
Xenodon rabdocephalus	F	amp	TE	D
Xenopholis scalaris	F	amp	TE	Ν
Xenopholis undulatus	BN, F	amp	TE	Ν
Elapidae				
Micrurus corallinus	F	abn, li, sn, amp	CR	D
Micrurus ibiboboca	BN, F, Tb	abn, sn, li	CR	D, N
Micrurus potyguara*	F, Tb	sn	CR	D, N
Leptotyphlopidae				
Epictia borapeliotes	F, BN, Rt	art	FS	D, N
Typhlopidae				
Amerotyphlops amoipira	Rt	art	FS	Ν
Amerotyphlops arenensis	BN, F	art	FS	Ν
Amerotyphlops brongersmianus	F, Tb	art	FS	Ν
Amerotyphlops paucisquamus	F, Tb	art	FS	Ν
Viperidae				
Bothrops bilineatus	F	mam, amp, bi, sn, li	AB	Ν
Bothrops erythromelas	F	li, mam	TE	Ν
Bothrops leucurus	F, BN, Tb, Mg	amp, li, sn, bi, mam	TE	Ν
Bothrops muriciensis*	F	amp, mam	TE	Ν
Crotalus durissus	BN, F, Rt	mam	TE	Ν
Lachesis muta	F	mam	TE	Ν

Many species of snakes that are found in PEC are also found in other Brazilian biomes. The Caatinga (58 species, 74.3% found in PEC) is the Brazilian biome that shares most species with the PEC, followed by Cerrado (44 species, 56.4%), Amazon Forest (35 species, 44.9%), Pantanal (35 species, 44.9%) and Pampas (13 species, 16.6%). On the other hand, some species (*Atractus caete, A. maculatus, Bothrops muriciensis, Caaeteboia* sp., *Dendrophidion atlantica, Echinanthera cephalomaculata* and *Micrurus potyguara*) are found only in the PEC and are considered endemic of this region.

Most of the snake species in the PEC have been registered in Forest areas (74 species, 94.8%), followed by Brejos Nordestinos (36 species, 46.1%), Tabuleiros (34 species, 43.5%), Restingas (11 species, 14.1%) and Mangroves (4 species, 5.1%). Six spe-



Figure 4. Snake species from the Pernambuco Endemism Center. A Tantilla melanocephala B Apostolepis cearensis C Apostolepis longicaudata D Atractus maculatus E Atractus potschi F Boiruna sertaneja G Caaeteboia sp. H Dipsas mikanii I Dipsas neuwiedi J Dipsas sazimai K Dipsas variegata L Erythrolamprus aesculapii M Erythrolamprus almadensis N Erythrolamprus poecilogyrus O Erythrolamprus reginae. Photograph credits: Frederico França (A, B, G, H, I), Anderson A. Santos (C, N), Rafaela França (D, E, J, K, L, M, O), Paulo R. S. Freitas (F).

cies were found in four different habitats and 31 species were found only in one habitat type (Table 1). Of these, 26 species were collected only in forested areas, three species only in the Brejos Nordestinos and one species was found only in restingas (Table 1).

The majority of snake species found in the PEC use the soil as substrate, of which 47 species (60.2%) are terrestrial and 17 (21.7%) are cryptozoic and/or fossorial. In



Figure 5. Snake species from the Pernambuco Endemism Center. A Erythrolamprus taeniogaster B Erythrolamprus viridis C Helicops angulatus D Helicops leopardinus E Hydrodynastes gigas F Imantodes cenchoa G Leptodeira annulata H Lygophis dilepis I Oxyrhopus guibei J Oxyrhopus petolarius K Oxyrhopus trigeminus L Philodryas nattereri M Philodryas olfersii N Philodryas patagoniensis O Phimophis guerini. Photograph credits: Frederico França (A, C, F, H, I, K, M, N, O), Vanessa Nascimento (B, D), Ivan L. Sampaio (E), Willianilson Pessoa (G), Rafaela França (J, L).

addition, 23 species are arboreal or semi-arboreal (29.5%) and 16 (20.5%) are aquatic or semi-aquatic. The diet of PEC snakes consists mainly of vertebrates (61 species, 78.2%), of which 23 species are considered generalists, feeding on three or more types of prey, 21 species feed on two types of prey, 23 species are specialists in amphibians, two species are specialists in snakes and two species are specialists in mammals. Only 14 species feed on invertebrates, of which six species feed on arthropods, three species



Figure 6. Snake species from the Pernambuco Endemism Center. A Pseudoboa nigra B Psomophis joberti, C Sibon nebulatus D Siphlophis compressus E Taeniophallus affinis F Taeniophallus occipitalis
G Thamnodynastes almae H Thamnodynastes hypoconia I Thamnodynastes pallidus J Thamnodynastes phoenix K Xenodon merremii L Xenodon rabdocephalus M Xenopholis scalaris N Xenopholis undulatus
O Micrurus corallinus. Photograph credits: Frederico França (A, B, C, D, F, H, K, N), Vanessa Nascimento (L), Samuel Cardoso (G), Davi Pantoja (M), Rafaela França (I), Anderson A. Santos (E), Paulo R. S. Freitas (J), Adrian Garda (O).

feed on annelids and five species feed on mollusks (Table 1). As for the period of activity, 39 (50 %) species are nocturnal, 30 (38.4%) species are diurnal and nine (11.5%) species are diurnal and nocturnal (Table 1).

We present below a commented list of species of snakes that occur in PEC, with notes on natural history and distribution. The "N" corresponds to the number of



Figure 7. Snake species from the Pernambuco Endemism Center. A Micrurus ibiboboca B Micrurus potyguara C Epictia borapeliotes D Amerotyphlops arenensis E Amerotyphlops brongersmianus F Amerotyphlops paucisquamus G Bothrops bilineatus H Bothrops erythromelas I Bothrops leucurus J Bothrops muriciensis K Crotalus durissus L Lachesis muta. Photograph credits: Frederico França (A, B, E, F, H, I, K, L), Ivan L. Sampaio (C), Gentil A. Pereira Filho (D), Willianilson Pessoa (J), Rafaela França (G).

individuals analyzed in the scientific collections. The species *L. trefauti*, *A. caete*, *A. potschi*, *E. cephalomaculata*, *E. cephalostriata*, *T. almae*, *T. hypoconia*, and *T. phoenix* were recorded only by literature data.

Commented list

Family Anomalepididae Taylor, 1939

Liotyphlops trefauti Freire, Caramaschi, Suzart & Argolo, 2007 - A small-sized fossorial species (total length = 366-389 mm; N = 3), with nocturnal activity (Freire et al. 2007). It has a restricted distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Abegg et al. 2017b). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 8A), being found in Forest areas (Freire et al. 2007, Abegg et al. 2017b). *Lioty-phlops trefauti*, as observed in other congeneric species, feeds on eggs and arthropod larvae (Marques et al. 2019).

Family Boidae Gray, 1825

Boa constrictor Linnaeus, 1758 - A large semiarboreal species (average SVL = 1023 mm; N = 42), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2001). It has a wide distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 8B), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros and Restinga Areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). This species can also occur in urban areas (França and França 2019). *Boa constrictor* feeds on mammals, birds and lizards (Pizzatto et al. 2010). Its litter can range from 18 to 60 hatchlings (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Pizzatto and Marques 2007, Fraga et al. 2013).

Corallus hortulanus (Linnaeus, 1758) - A moderate-sized arboreal snake (SVL = 745 mm; N = 11), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It has a wide distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Fraga et al. 2013, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 8B), being found in Forest. *Corallus hortulanus* feeds on mammals, birds, lizards and amphibians (Pizzatto et al. 2010). Its litter can range from 3 to 24 hatchlings (Pizzatto and Marques 2007, Fraga et al. 2013).

Epicrates assisi Machado, 1945 – A moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 691 mm; N = 135), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Cerrado, Caatinga and Atlantic Forest (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 8C), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, Restingas and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Epicrates assisi* feeds on mammals, birds, and lizards. Its litter can range from 7 to 14 hatchlings (Pizzatto and Marques 2007).

Epicrates cenchria (Linnaeus, 1758) – A large semi-arboreal or terrestrial species (average SVL = 1105 mm; N = 6), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It has a wide distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Cerrado and Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Passos and Fernandes 2008). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 8C), being found in Forest areas, but also in urban areas. *Epicrates cenchria* feeds on mammals, birds, lizards and amphibians (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Pizzatto et al. 2010). Its litter can range from 8 to 25 hatchlings (Pizzatto and Marques 2007).

Family Colubridae Oppel, 1811

Chironius carinatus (Linnaeus, 1758) – A large terrestrial and arboreal species (average SVL = 1001 mm; N = 15), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It has a disjunct distribution, occurring in the Amazon Forest and Atlantic Forest (Araújo et al. 2019).



Figure 8. Geographic distribution records for snakes of the Pernambuco Endemism Center (PEC). A Liotyphlops trefauti **B** Boa constrictor and Corallus hortulanus **C** Epicrates cenchria and E. assisi **D** Chironius carinatus and C. exoletus **E** Chironius flavolineatus and Dendrophidion atlantica **F** Drymarchon corais and Drymoluber dichrous **G** Leptophis ahaetulla and Palusophis bifossatus **H** Oxybelis aeneus and Tantilla melanocephala **I** Spilotes sulphureus and S. pullatus.

In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 8D), being found in Forest and urban areas when these are close to forests (Araújo et al. 2019). *Chironius carinatus* feeds on amphibians, birds, lizards and mammals (Dixon et al. 1993, Silva et al. 2010, Rodrigues et al. 2016). Its litter can have 5 to 12 eggs (Dixon et al. 1993, Goldberg 2007).

Chironius exoletus (Linnaeus, 1758) – A moderate-sized arboreal and terrestrial species (average SVL = 614 mm; N = 16), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It has a wide distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pantanal and Amazon Forest (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 8D), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos and Tabuleiro (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Rodrigues et al. 2015). *Chironius exoletus* feeds mainly on amphibians, but occasionally on lizards (Marques and Sazima 2004, Rodrigues et al. 2016). Its litter can range from 4 to 12 eggs (Dixon et al. 1993, Goldberg 2007).

Chironius flavolineatus (Linnaeus, 1758) – A moderate-sized semi-arboreal species (average SVL = 592 mm; N = 60), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It presents a wide distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest, Cerrado, Caatinga, Pantanal and Amazon Forest (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Dixon et al. 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 8E), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Rodrigues et al. 2015, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Chironius flavolineatus* feeds on amphibians (Pinto et al. 2008, Rodrigues et al. 2016). Its litter can range from 3 to 8 eggs (Dixon et al. 1993, Hamdan and Fernandes 2015).

Dendrophidion atlantica Freire, Caramaschi & Gonçalves, 2010 – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 366 mm; N = 24), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). *Dendrophidion atlantica* is endemic to the PEC and occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 8E), being found in Forest (Freire et al. 2010, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Barbosa et al. 2019). *Dendrophidion atlantica* feeds on amphibians (Marques et al. 2019). Its litter can have 3 eggs (Lima et al. 2019).

Drymarchon corais (Boie, 1827) – A large terrestrial species (average SVL = 1288 mm; N = 7), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It presents a wide distribution, being registered in the Amazon Forest, Cerrado, Caatinga and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Strussmann and Sazima 1993, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 8F), being found in Forest, Tabuleiros and urban areas (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Mesquita et al. 2018). Drymarchon corais feeds on amphibians, amphisbaenians, lizards, snakes, birds and mammals (Prudente et al. 2014). Its litter can range from 3 to 15 eggs (Prudente et al. 2014).

Drymoluber dichrous (Peters, 1863) – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 348 mm; N = 15), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, and Caatinga (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Paraíba (Fig. 8F), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros and urban areas (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Mesquita et al. 2018, França

and França 2019). *Drymoluber dichrous* feeds on lizards and amphibians (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Borges-Nojosa and Lima 2001). Its litter can range from 2 to 6 eggs (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Fraga et al. 2013).

Leptophis ahaetulla (Linnaeus, 1758) – An arboreal and terrestrial, moderate-sized species (average SVL = 582 mm; N = 42), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pantanal, and Pampas (Strussmann and Sazima 1993, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, 2019). In the PEC it can be found in all states (Fig. 8G) in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, França and França 2019). *Leptophis ahaetulla* feeds on amphibians and lizards (Albuquerque et al. 2007). Its litter can range from 3 to 12 eggs (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009).

Oxybelis aeneus (Wagler, 1824) – An arboreal, moderate-sized species (average SVL = 780 mm; N =46), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It presents a wide distribution, being found in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 8H), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Rodrigues et al. 2015, França and França 2019). *Oxybelis aeneus* feeds on lizards, amphibians, and occasionally fishes (Henderson 1982, Hetherington 2006, Grant and Lewis 2010, Mesquita et al. 2013, Franzini et al. 2018). Its litter can range from 4 to 9 eggs (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009, Fraga et al. 2013).

Palusophis bifossatus (Raddi, 1820) – A moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 801 mm; N = 5), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It presents a wide distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pampas, and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Strussmann and Sazima 1993, Lema 2003, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 8G), being found in Forest and Brejos Nordestinos (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Palusophis bifossatus* feeds on amphibians, mammals, and lizards (Leite et al. 2007). Its litter can range from 4 to 24 eggs (Costa et al. 2010).

Spilotes pullatus (Linnaeus, 1758) – A large, semi-arboreal species (average SVL = 1442 mm; N = 21), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It presents a wide distribution, being found in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC, it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 81), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Mesquita et al. 2018, França and França 2019). *Spilotes pullatus* feeds on mammals and birds (Silva et al. 2010, Marques et al. 2014). Its litter can range from 2 to 5 eggs (Hauzman et al. 2005, Fraga et al. 2013).

Spilotes sulphureus (Wagler, 1824) – A moderate-sized semi-arboreal species (average SVL = 911 mm; N =20), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It presents a wide distribution, being found in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga and Cerrado (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015,

2019). In the PEC, it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Paraíba (Fig. 8I), being found in Forest and urban areas (Morais et al. 2018). *Spilotes sulphureus* feeds on mammals and birds (Beebe 1946, Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Rufino and Bernardi 1999). Its litter can range from 7 to 15 eggs (Good 1989, Fraga et al. 2013, Morais et al. 2018).

Tantilla melanocephala (Linnaeus, 1758) – A small-sized fossorial species (average SVL = 233 mm; N = 172), with diurnal and nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). It presents a wide distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pampas, and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 8H), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and restingas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Mesquita et al. 2018, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Tantilla melanocephala* feeds on arthropods. Its litter can range from 1 to 3 eggs (Mesquita et al. 2009, Fraga et al. 2013)

Dipsadidae Bonaparte, 1838

Apostolepis cearensis Gomes, 1915 – A small-sized fossorial species (average SVL = 329 mm; N = 44), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga and Cerrado (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, Mesquita et al. 2018). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Rio Grande do Norte, Paraíba and Pernambuco (Fig. 9A), being found in Forest, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Mesquita et al. 2018, França and França 2019). *Apostolepis cearensis* feeds on small elongated reptiles (Mesquita et al. 2009, Amorim et al. 2015, Marques et al. 2019).

Apostolepis longicaudata Gomes, 1921 – A small-sized fossorial species (average SVL = 235 mm; N = 8), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Cerrado, Caatinga and Floresta Atlântica (Curcio et al. 2011, França et al. 2012). In the PEC it occurs only in a conservation unit (Reserva Biológica Guaribas) located in the state of Paraíba (Fig. 9A), being found in Forest. *Apostolepis longicaudata* feeds on small elongated reptiles (Marques et al. 2019). We found two eggs in a female.

Atractus caete Passos, Fernandes, Bérnils & Moura-Leite, 2010 - A small-sized fossorial and cryptozoic species (average SVL = 376 mm, N = 1), with nocturnal activity (Passos et al. 2010, Marques et al. 2019). This species is endemic to the PEC and occurs only in the state of Alagoas (Fig. 9B), being found in Forest areas. Atractus caete feeds mostly on earthworms (Passos et al. 2010).

Atractus maculatus (Günther, 1858) – A small-sized fossorial and cryptozoic species (average SVL = 326 mm; N = 5), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Passos et al. 2010, Abegg et al. 2017a). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 9B), being found in Forest and urban areas, when close to forests. *Atractus maculatus* feeds mostly on earthworms (Passos et al. 2010).

Atractus potschi Fernandes, 1995 – A small-sized fossorial and cryptozoic species (average SVL = 312 mm, N = 1), with nocturnal activity (Passos et al. 2010, Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Guedes et al.



Figure 9. Geographic distribution records for snakes of the Pernambuco Endemism Center (PEC). A Apostolepis longicaudata and A. cearensis B Atractus caete, A. maculatus and A. potschi C Boiruna sertaneja and Caaeteboia sp. D Dipsas mikanii and D. neuwiedi E D. sazimai and D. variegata F Echinanthera cephalomaculata and E. cephalostriata G Erythrolamprus almadensis, E. taeniogaster, E. miliaris, and E. aesculapii H E. poecilogyrus, E. viridis and E. reginae. I Helicops angulatus and H. leopardinus.

2014). In the PEC it occurs in the state of Alagoas (Fig. 9B), being found in Forest (Passos et al. 2010). *Atractus potschi* feeds mostly on earthworms (Passos et al. 2010).

Boiruna sertaneja Zaher, 1996 – A large terrestrial species (average SVL = 1358 mm; N = 2), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Guedes et al. 2014, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). In the PEC it can be found in the states of Pernambuco and Alagoas (Fig. 9C), in Tabuleiros and Forest (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Boiruna sertaneja* eats snakes, lizards and mammals (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Gaiarsa et al. 2013). Its litter can range from 4 to 14 eggs (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Gaiarsa et al. 2013).

Caaeteboia sp. – A small to moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 411 mm; N = 2), with diurnal activity (personal observation). This species is endemic to the PEC and occurs only in the states of Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 9C), being found in Forest.

Dipsas mikanii Schlegel, 1837 – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 302 mm; N = 72), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Cerrado, Caatinga and Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 9D), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). Dipsas mikanii feeds on mollusks (Laporta-Ferreira et al. 1986). Its litter can range from 3 to 10 eggs (Pizzatto et al. 2008).

Dipsas neuwiedi (Ihering, 1911) – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 369 mm; N = 17), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 9D), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos and urban areas (Pereira Filho et al. 2017). Dipsas neuwiedi feeds on mollusks (Laporta-Ferreira et al. 1986). Its litter can range from 4 to 12 eggs (Pizzatto et al. 2008).

Dipsas sazimai Fernandes, Marques & Argôlo, 2010 – A small-sized arboreal and terrestrial species (average SVL = 299 mm; N = 1), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Fernandes et al. 2010, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 9E), being found in Forest. *Dipsas sazimai* feeds on mollusks (Fernandes et al. 2010).

Dipsas variegata (Duméril, Bibron & Duméril, 1854) – A small to moderate size arboreal and terrestrial species (average SVL = 464 mm; N = 4), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Amazon Forest (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs only in the state of Alagoas (Fig. 9E), being found in Forest. *Dipsas variegata* feeds on mollusks (Marques et al. 2019).

Echinanthera cephalomaculata Di Bernardo, 1994 – A small to moderate size terrestrial species (average SVL = 297 mm, N = 2), with diurnal activity (Di-Bernardo 1994, Marques et al. 2019). This species is endemic to the PEC and occurs only in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 9F), being found in Forest (Roberto et al. 2015, Freitas et al. 2019b). *Echinanthera cephalomaculata* feeds on amphibians (Marques et al. 2019). *Echinanthera cephalostriata* Di Bernardo, 1996 – A moderate-sized terrestrial species, with diurnal activity (Di-Bernardo 1996, Marques et al. 2019). This species only occurs in the Atlantic Forest (Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the state of Alagoas (Fig. 9F), being found only in the Reserva Biológica de Pedra Talhada (Roberto et al. 2015). In the report of this species for the PEC Roberto et al. (2015) provide a photo and a voucher (URCA-H 4103). *Echinanthera cephalostriata* feeds on amphibians (Marques et al. 2009).

Erythrolamprus aesculapii (Linnaeus, 1758) – A moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 562 mm; N = 7), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2017a, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 9G), being found in Forest and urban areas. *Erythrolamprus aesculapii* feeds on snakes and lizards (Marques and Puorto 1992). Its litter can range from 1 to 8 eggs (Marques 1996a).

Erythrolamprus almadensis (Wagler, 1824) – A small-sized semi-aquatic species (average SVL = 298 mm; N = 4), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species has a wide distribution, occurring in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pantanal and Pampas (Dixon 1989, França et al. 2006, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Paraíba and Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 9G), being found in Forest (Pereira Filho et al. 2017, França and França 2019). *Erythrolamprus almadensis* feeds on amphibians (Bernarde and Abe 2010, Rodrigues et al. 2016). Its litter can have five eggs.

Erythrolamprus miliaris (Linnaeus, 1758) – A small-sized semi-aquatic species (average SVL = 382 mm; N = 7), with diurnal and nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon forest, Caatinga and Cerrado (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Nogueira et al. 2010, Marques et al. 2017a, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 9G), being found in Forest and Brejos Nordestinos. *Erythrolamprus miliaris* feeds on amphibians and fish (Marques et al. 2019). Its litter can range from 1 to 30 eggs (Pizzatto and Marques 2006).

Erythrolamprus poecilogyrus (Wied-Neuwied, 1825) – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 313 mm; N = 35), with diurnal and nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pantanal and Pampas (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 9H), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Mangroves, Tabuleiros and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Mesquita et al. 2018). *Erythrolamprus poecilogyrus* feeds on amphibians and lizards (Prieto et al. 2012). Its litter can range from 3 to 17 eggs (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009). In Figure 4N we show a juvenile that is in the process of changing its coloration to the adult stage. This species has a different color pattern in the region (Pereira Filho et al. 2017) if compared to other populations located more southwards.

Erythrolamprus reginae (Linnaeus, 1758) – A small-sized semi-aquatic species (average SVL = 355 mm; N = 4), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species

occurs in the Atlantic and Amazon forests, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 9H), being found in Forest. *Erythrolamprus reginae* feeds on amphibians, lizards, and fish (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Albarelli and Santos-Costa 2010, Silva et al. 2010, Rodrigues et al. 2016). Its litter can range from 1 to 4 eggs (Arzamendia 2016, Marques et al. 2016)

Erythrolamprus taeniogaster (Jan, 1863) – A small-sized semi-aquatic species (average SVL = 364 mm; N = 45), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 9G), being found in Forest, Tabuleiros, Restingas and urban areas (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Mesquita et al. 2018, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Erythrolamprus taeniogaster* feeds on amphibians and fish (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Rodrigues et al. 2016). Its litter can range from 7 to 10 eggs (Cunha and Nascimento 1993).

Erythrolamprus viridis (Günther, 1862)– A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 243 mm; N = 21), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 9H), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Erythrolamprus viridis* feeds on amphibians and lizards (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009). Its litter can range from 2 to 7 eggs (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009).

Helicops angulatus (Linnaeus, 1758) – A small to moderate sized aquatic species (average SVL = 413 mm; N = 236), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic and Amazon forests, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 9I), being found in Forest, Mangroves, Restingas and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Helicops angulatus* feeds on fish and amphibians. Its litter can range from 1 to 21 eggs (Braz et al. 2016).

Helicops leopardinus (Schlegel, 1837) – A small-sized aquatic species (average SVL = 324 mm; N = 9), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pantanal and Pampas (Strussmann and Sazima 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014, Rodrigues et al. 2016). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 9I), being found in Forest, Restingas and urban areas. *Helicops leopardinus* feeds on fish and amphibians (Ávila et al. 2006). Its litter can range from 3 to 31 eggs (Scartozzoni and Almeida-Santos 2006, Braz et al. 2016).

Hydrodynastes gigas (Duméril, Bibron & Duméril, 1854) – A large aquatic and terrestrial species (average SVL = 1296 mm; N = 10), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Cerrado, Pantanal and Pampas (Lema 2003, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Rodrigues et al. 2016). In

the PEC it occurs in the states of Paraíba and Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 10A), being found in Forest and Restingas (Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Hydro-dynastes gigas* feeds on fish, amphibians, mammals and snakes (López and Giraudo 2004). Its litter can range from 14 to 42 eggs (Vogel 1958, Fraga et al. 2013).

Imantodes cenchoa (Linnaeus, 1758) – An arboreal, moderate-sized species (average SVL = 633 mm; N = 23), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10B), being found in Forest and Tabuleiros (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Mesquita et al. 2018). *Imantodes cenchoa* feeds on amphibians and lizards (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Sousa et al. 2014). Its litter can range from 1 to 7 eggs (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Pizzatto et al. 2008, Fraga et al. 2013, Sousa et al. 2014).

Leptodeira annulata (Linnaeus, 1758) – A moderate-sized arboreal and terrestrial species (average SVL = 576 mm; N = 6), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Ávila and Morais 2007, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 10B), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, and Restingas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Roberto et al. 2015). *Leptodeira annulata* feeds on amphibians and lizards (Moura 1999, Mesquita et al. 2013, Santos-Silva et al. 2014). Its litter can range from 3 to 13 eggs (Petzold 1969, Pizzatto et al. 2008).

Lygophis dilepis Cope, 1862 – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 356 mm; N = 9), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga and Cerrado (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, Mesquita et al. 2018). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Pernambuco, Paraíba and Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 10A), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, França et al. 2012, Mesquita et al. 2018). *Lygophis dilepis* feeds on amphibians (Mesquita et al. 2009). Its litter can range from 4 to 6 eggs (Mesquita et al. 2009).

Oxyrhopus guibei Hoge & Romano, 1977 – A small sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 442 mm; N = 10), with diurnal and nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10C), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, and Tabuleiros (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Mesquita et al. 2018). *Oxyrhopus guibei* feeds on mammals and lizards (Andrade and Silvano 1996, Barbo et al. 2011). Its litter can range from 3 to 20 eggs (Pizzatto and Marques 2002).

Oxyrhopus petolarius (Linnaeus, 1758) – A small size terrestrial species (average SVL = 423 mm; N = 36), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10C), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Mesquita et al. 2018, Sampaio et al. 2018, França and França 2019).



Figure 10. Geographic distribution records for snakes of the Pernambuco Endemism Center (PEC). A Hydrodynastes gigas and Lygophis dilepis B Imantodes cenchoa and Leptodeira annulata C Oxyrhopus guibei and O. petolarius D O. trigeminus E Philodryas nattereri, P. olfersii and P. patagoniensis F Phimophis guerini and Pseudoboa nigra G Psomophis joberti, Sibon nebulatus and Siphlophis compressus H Taeniophallus affinis and T. occipitalis I Thamnodynastes almae, T. hypoconia, T. pallidus and T. phoenix.

Oxyrhopus petolarius feeds on lizards, mammals, birds and amphibians (Alencar et al. 2013). Its litter can range from 2 to 12 eggs (Lynch 2009, Gaiarsa et al. 2013).

Oxyrhopus trigeminus Duméril, Bibron & Duméril, 1854 – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 360 mm; N = 237), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10D), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Restingas, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Sampaio et al. 2018, França and França 2019). Oxyrhopus trigeminus feeds on lizards, mammals, and birds (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009, Alencar et al. 2012). Its litter can range from 6 to 9 eggs (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009).

Philodryas nattereri Steindachner, 1870 – A moderate-sized terrestrial or semi-arboreal species (average SVL = 712 mm; N = 76), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, Guedes et al. 2014, Mesquita et al. 2018). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10E), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Philodryas nattereri* feeds on lizards, mammals, amphibians, snakes, and birds (Mesquita et al. 2011b). Its litter can range from 4 to 13 eggs (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009).

Philodryas olfersii (Lichtenstein, 1823) – A moderate-sized terrestrial or semi-arboreal species (average SVL = 562 mm; N = 123), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pantanal and Pampas (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10E), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, Mangroves and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, França et al. 2012, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Philodryas olfersii* feeds on amphibians, lizards, birds and mammals (Hartmann and Marques 2005). Its litter can range from 1 to 16 eggs (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Fowler et al. 1998, Mesquita et al. 2009).

Philodryas patagoniensis (Girard, 1858) – A small to moderate sized terrestrial species (average (average SVL = 436 mm; N = 68), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pantanal and Pampas (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Pernambuco, Paraíba, and Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 10E), being found in Forest, Tabuleiros, Restingas, and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). *Philodryas patagoniensis* feeds on amphibians, lizards, mammals, birds, and snakes (Hartmann and Marques 2005). Its litter can range from 3 to 19 eggs (Fowler et al. 1998).

Phimophis guerini (Duméril, Bibron & Duméril, 1854) – A small to moderate sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 497 mm; N = 15), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pampas and Pantanal (Lema 2003, Marques et al. 2005, 2015, Guedes et al. 2014, Mesquita et al. 2018). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Paraíba (Fig. 10F), being found in Forest and Tabuleiros (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al.

2017). *Phimophis guerini* feeds on lizards and mammals (Alencar et al. 2013). Its litter can range from 3 to 7 eggs (Gaiarsa et al. 2013).

Pseudoboa nigra (Duméril, Bibron & Duméril, 1854) – A moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 543 mm; N = 64), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10F), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, França et al. 2012, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Mesquita et al. 2018). *Pseudoboa nigra* feeds on lizards, mammals, and snakes (Alencar et al. 2012). Its litter can range from 3 to 24 eggs (Orofino et al. 2010, Gaiarsa et al. 2013).

Psomophis joberti (Sauvage, 1884) – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 285 mm; N = 11), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest, Caatinga and Cerrado (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, Rodrigues et al. 2016, Mesquita et al. 2018). In the PEC it occurs only in the state of Paraíba (Fig. 10G), being found in Forest and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Psomophis joberti* feeds on amphibians and lizards (Strussmann and Sazima 1993, Rodrigues et al. 2016). Its litter can have 7 eggs (Mesquita et al. 2009, 2011a).

Sibon nebulatus (Linnaeus, 1758) – A small-sized arboreal species (average SVL = 377 mm; N = 21), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest and can also be found on relict moist forests in Caatinga (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10G), being found in Forest, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (França et al. 2012, Rodrigues et al. 2015). Sibon nebulatus feeds on mollusks (Duellman 2005). Its litter can have 5 eggs (Boos 2001).

Siphlophis compressus (Daudin, 1803) – A moderate-sized arboreal and terrestrial species (average SVL = 527 mm; N = 13), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Amazon Forest (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco, and Paraíba (Fig. 10G), being found in Forest and Tabuleiros (Roberto et al. 2015, Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). Siphlophis compressus feeds mainly on lizards, but may also feed on snakes (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Alencar et al. 2013). Its litter can range from 3 to 12 eggs (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Fraga et al. 2013, Gaiarsa et al. 2013).

Taeniophallus affinis (Günther, 1858) – A small-sized cryptozoic species (average SVL = 172 mm; N = 9), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco, and Paraíba (Fig. 10H), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, and Tabuleiros (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Taeniophallus affinis* feeds on lizards, amphibians, amphisbaenians, and mammals (Sousa and Cruz 2000, Barbo and Marques 2003, Zacariotti and Gomes 2010, Gomes 2012). Its litter can range from 5 to 7 eggs (Amaral 1978).

Taeniophallus occipitalis (Jan, 1863) – A small-sized cryptozoic species (average SVL = 272 mm; N = 63), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pampas (Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 10H), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, França and França 2019). *Taeniophallus occipitalis* feeds on lizards, amphibians, and snakes (Balestrin and Di-Bernardo 2005, Gomes 2012). Its litter can have two eggs.

Thamnodynastes almae Franco & Ferreira, 2003 – A moderate-sized arboreal and terrestrial, with nocturnal activity (Franco and Ferreira 2002, Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs only in Brejos Nordestinos in the state of Pernambuco (Fig. 10I) (Freitas et al. 2019a). *Thamnodynastes almae* feeds on amphibians and lizards (Marques et al. 2017a).

Thamnodynastes hypoconia (Cope, 1860) – A moderate-sized arboreal and terrestrial, with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2017a). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado and Pampas (Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, 2019). In PEC it occurs only in the Parque Estadual Mata do Pau-Ferro, state of Paraíba, a Brejo Nordestino (Fig. 10I) (Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Thamnodynastes hypoconia* feeds on amphibians and lizards (Bellini et al. 2013). Its litter can range from 4 to 13 hatchlings (Bellini et al. 2013).

Thamnodynastes pallidus (Linnaeus, 1758) – A small-sized arboreal and terrestrial (average SVL = 325 mm; N = 92), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest and Caatinga (Bailey et al. 2005, Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 10I), being found in Forest and Tabuleiros (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Thamnodynastes pallidus* feeds on amphibians (Guedes et al. 2014, Protázio et al. 2017). Its litter can range from 3 to 6 hatchlings (Cunha and Nascimento 1981, Araújo et al. 2018).

Thamnodynastes phoenix Franco, Trevine, Montingelli & Zaher, 2017 – A small to moderate size arboreal and terrestrial, with nocturnal activity (Franco et al. 2017, Marques et al. 2017a). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga and Cerrado (Guedes et al. 2014, Franco et al. 2017, Freitas et al. 2019a). In the PEC it occurs only in Brejos Nordestinos of the state of Pernambuco (Fig. 10I) (Freitas et al. 2019a). *Thamnodynastes phoenix* feeds on amphibians (Pergentino and Ribeiro 2017).

Xenodon merremii (Wagler, 1824) – A small to moderate size species (average SVL = 446 mm; N = 97), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pampas Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 11A), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, França et al. 2012, Rodrigues et al. 2015). *Xenodon merremii* feeds on amphibians (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009). Its litter can range from 4 to 30 eggs (Gaiarsa et al. 2013).

Xenodon rabdocephalus (Wied-Neuwied, 1824) – A moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 630 mm; N = 2), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Amazon Forest and Cerrado (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2015, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 11A), being found in Forest. *Xenodon rabdocephalus* feeds on amphibians (Martins and Oliveira 1998). Its litter can range from 6 to 8 eggs (Martins and Oliveira 1998).

Xenopholis scalaris (Wucherer, 1861) – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 167 mm; N = 10), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Amazon Forest (Marques et al. 2015, 2019, França et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Pernambuco (Fig. 11B), being found in Forest. *Xenopholis scalaris* feeds on amphibians (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Bernarde and Abe 2010). Its litter can range from 2 to 3 eggs (Martins and Oliveira 1998).

Xenopholis undulatus (Jensen, 1900) – A small-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 268 mm; N = 2), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga and Cerrado (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2015, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco, and Paraíba (Fig. 11B), being found in Forest and Brejos Nordestinos (Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Xenopholis undulatus* feeds on amphibians (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Kokobum and Maciel 2010). Its litter can have 3 eggs (Costa et al. 2013).

Elapidae Boie, 1827

Micrurus corallinus (Merrem, 1820) – A small to moderate size cryptozoic species (average SVL = 465 mm; N = 1), with diurnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest (Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs only in the state of Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 11C), being found in Forest. *Micrurus corallinus* feeds on amphisbaenians, lizards, snakes, and caecilians (Marques and Sazima 1997). Its litter can range from 2 to 12 eggs (Azevedo 1961, Marques 1996b).

Micrurus ibiboboca (Merrem, 1820) – A moderate-sized cryptozoic species (average SVL = 533 mm; N =391), with diurnal and nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Marques et al. 2017a, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in all states (Fig. 11C), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, França et al. 2012, Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Micrurus ibiboboca* feeds on amphisbaenians, snakes, and lizards (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Mesquita et al. 2009). We found 9 to 14 vitellogenic follicles in females.

Micrurus potyguara Pires, Da Silva Jr, Feitosa, Prudente, Preira-Filho & Zaher, 2014 – A moderate-sized cryptozoic species (average SVL = 523 mm; N = 14), with diurnal and nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). *Micrurus potyguara* is endemic to the PEC, occurring in the states of Pernambuco, Paraíba, and Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 11C), being found in Forest, Tabuleiros, and urban areas (Pires et al. 2014, Rodrigues et al. 2015, França and França 2019).



Figure 11. Geographic distribution records for snakes of the Pernambuco Endemism Center (PEC). **A** Xenodon merremii and X. rabdocephalus **B** Xenopholis scalaris and X. undulatus **C** Micrurus corallinus, M. ibiboboca and M. potyguara **D** Epictia borapeliotes **E** Amerotyphlops amoipira and A. arenensis **F** A. brongersmianus and A. paucisquamus **G** Bothrops bilineatus and B. erythromelas **H** B. leucurus and B. muriciensis **I** Crotalus durissus and Lachesis muta.

Leptotyphlopidae Stejneger, 1891

Epictia borapeliotes (Vanzolini, 1996) – A small-sized fossorial species (average SVL = 111 mm; N = 34), with diurnal and nocturnal activity (Guedes et al. 2014). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Guedes et al. 2014, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Pernambuco, Paraíba, and Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 11D), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, and in Restingas (Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018, Freitas et al. 2019a). *Epictia borapeliotes* feeds on arthropods (Marques et al. 2019).

Typhlopidae Merrem, 1890

Amerotyphlops amoipira (Rodrigues & Juncá, 2002) – A small-sized fossorial species (average SVL = 146 mm; N = 3), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Caatinga and Atlantic Forest (Brito and Freire 2012). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas and Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 11E), being found in Restinga (Brito and Freire 2012). *Amerotyphlops amoipira* feeds on arthropods (Marques et al. 2017a).

Amerotyphlops arenensis Graboski, Pereira Filho, Silva, Costa Prudente & Zaher, 2015 – A small-sized fossorial species (average SVL = 148 mm; N = 13). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Caatinga (Graboski et al. 2015, 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 11E), being found in Forest and Brejos Nordestinos (Roberto et al. 2012, Graboski et al. 2015). We found 7 to 8 vitellogenic follicles in females.

Amerotyphlops brongersmianus (Vanzolini, 1976) – A small-sized fossorial species (average SVL = 212 mm; N = 120), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in all Brazilian biomes (Graboski et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 11F), being found in Forest and Tabuleiros (Pereira Filho et al. 2017, Sampaio et al. 2018). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest (Marques et al. 2019). *Amerotyphlops brongersmianus* feeds on ant larvae (Avila et al. 2006). Its litter can range from 4 to 5 eggs (Avila et al. 2006).

Amerotyphlops paucisquamus (Dixon, 1979) – A small-sized fossorial species (average SVL = 133 mm; N = 153), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species is endemic to the PEC, occurring in all states (Fig. 11F), being found in Forest and Tabuleiros (Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017). We found four eggs in one female and another individual laid three eggs after being collected.

Viperidae Laurenti, 1768

Bothrops bilineatus (Wied-Neuwied, 1821) – A small to moderate sized arboreal species (average SVL = 495 mm; N = 5), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Amazon Forest (Bernarde et al. 2011, Marques et al. 2019). In PEC occurs only in Alagoas state (Fig. 11G), being found in

Forest. *Bothrops bilineatus* feeds on mammals, amphibians, birds, snakes, and lizards (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Martins et al. 2002, Turci et al. 2009). Its litter can range from 4 to 16 hatchlings (Dixon and Soini 1986, Campbell and Lamar 2004, Grego et al. 2012, Almeida et al. 2019).

Bothrops erythromelas Amaral, 1923 - A small to moderate size terrestrial species (average SVL = 445 mm; N = 3), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2017). This species occurs in the Caatinga, but can also be found in transitional areas with the Atlantic Forest (Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Pernambuco and Rio Grande do Norte (Fig. 11G), being found in Forest. *Bothrops erythromelas* feeds on arthropods when juveniles, and frogs, lizards, and mammals when adults (Martins et al. 2002). Its litter can range from 2 to 21 hatchlings (Barros et al. 2014, Reis et al. 2015).

Bothrops leucurus Wagler, 1824 – A moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 589 mm; N =207), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest (Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 11H), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, Tabuleiros, mangroves, and urban areas when near forest areas (Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011, Rodrigues et al. 2015, Pereira Filho et al. 2017, França and França 2019). *Bothrops leucurus* feeds on amphibians, lizards, snakes, birds, and mammals. Its litter can range from 5 to 7 hatchlings (Lira-da-Silva et al. 1994).

Bothrops muriciensis Ferrarezzi & Freire, 2001 - A moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 512 mm; N = 6), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest (Marques et al. 2019). This species is endemic to the PEC, occurring only in the Estação Ecológica de Murici (Fig. 11H), located in the state of Alagoas, being found in Forest. See Freitas et al. (2012) for additional information on this species. As observed in other congenerics, it probably feeds on anurans and small mammals.

Crotalus durissus Linnaeus, 1758 – A moderate-sized terrestrial species (average SVL = 790 mm; N = 13), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Cerrado, Pampas, and Pantanal (Marques et al. 2005, 2015, 2019, Bérnils et al. 2007, Guedes et al. 2014). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco, and Paraíba (Fig. 111), being found in Forest, Brejos Nordestinos, and Restingas (Lira-da-silva et al. 2009, Pereira Filho and Montingelli 2011). *Crotalus durissus* feeds on mammals (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Strussmann and Sazima 1993, Rodrigues et al. 2016). Its litter can range from 21 to 31 hatchlings (Vitt and Vangilder 1983).

Lachesis muta (Linnaeus, 1766) – A large size terrestrial species (average SVL = 1217 mm; N = 4), with nocturnal activity (Marques et al. 2019). This species occurs in the Atlantic Forest and Amazon Forest (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Marques et al. 2019). In the PEC it occurs in the states of Alagoas, Pernambuco and Paraíba (Fig. 11I), being found in Forest (Pereira Filho et al. 2017). *Lachesis muta* feeds on mammals (Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Martins and Oliveira 1998). Its litter can range from 1 to 18 eggs (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Souza 2007, Alves et al. 2014).
Our results show a broad view of PEC's snake fauna, including distribution data, natural history, and diversity. According to Marques et al. (2019), about 142 species of snakes occur in the Brazilian Atlantic Forest, the 78 species recorded in the PEC represent 51.3% of this total, which we can consider a high richness. In addition, new species are still being discovered in this region, for example, the species *D. atlantica* (Freire et al. 2010), *M. potyguara* (Pires et al. 2014), and *A. arenensis* (Graboski et al. 2015) have been described in the last ten years and at least one new species (*Caaeteboia* sp.) is being described at the moment (Pereira Filho et al. 2017).

The mixed composition of snake species that inhabit the Atlantic Forest located north of the São Francisco River can be considered a remarkable characteristic of this fauna (Pereira Filho et al. 2017). We can highlight that the main difference between the PEC and other portions of the biome is due to the large number of species of open areas and also of wide distribution that are present in this region. The PEC shares more species with the Caatinga and the Cerrado (74.3% and 56.4% of the shared species, respectively) than with the southern and southeastern regions of the Atlantic Forest (30% of the species are shared). This may be due to the fact that the PEC presents different physiognomic features, such as patches of Tabuleiros, which are natural enclaves of savannah found even in the middle of forests and which may provide adequate conditions for the establishment of populations of species from open areas (Mesquita et al. 2018). In addition, the proximity to the Caatinga may also have favoured the penetration and establishment of these populations (Pereira Filho et al. 2017). These arguments are supported by historical factors that are based on the expansion and retraction of the boundaries of dry and open habitat ecoregions, due to climatic fluctuations over geological time, which have reached coastal areas of northeastern Brazil (Ab'Saber 1977, Pennington et al. 2006). Thus, species considered previously endemic to the Caatinga, for example, *E. borapeliotes* and *E.* assisi (Guedes et al. 2014), and species considered endemic to the Cerrado, for example C. flavolineatus (Nogueira et al. 2010), are also abundant in the PEC.

Most reptiles are considered habitat specialists, which means that many species can only survive in one or a few distinct environments (Martins and Molina 2008). In the PEC, the great majority of snake species were found in forest areas and 26 species were collected only in this environment. Due to the occupation of the area for agriculture and urbanization, most of the forest in the PEC was lost or reduced to small fragments, mostly smaller than ten hectares, which represent less than 2% of the original coverage of the Center (Ranta et al. 1998, Tabarelli et al. 2005). This is especially worrying because species that do not use the surrounding matrix as part of their area of use or that cannot use these environments to move between the fragments, can become extinct regionally as the populations are becoming isolated, making them unviable in the long term, due to the reduced population size (Nunney and Campbell 1993). On the other hand, some species seem to be generalists in terms of habitat and can be found in different physiognomies of the PEC and even urban areas, as is the case of *B. constrictor*, *P. olfersii, B. leucurus* and *O. trigeminus*. Most snake species found in the PEC mainly use soil as substrate, as well as snakes in other regions of Brazil, such as the Caatinga (Guedes et al. 2014), Atlantic Forest (Marques et al. 2017b), Cerrado (França and Braz 2013), Pantanal (Strussmann and Sazima 1993) and Amazon (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Bernarde and Abe 2006). However, PEC also harbours a great variety of semi-arboreal and arboreal species, which is a characteristic of forest biomes, such as the Atlantic Forest and Amazon (Martins and Oliveira 1998, Argôlo 2004, Marques and Sazima 2004, Bernarde and Abe 2006).

More than half of PEC snakes feed on lizards or amphibians. These types of prey are commonly found in the snake diet, although other vertebrates like mammals, birds, and snakes are also important preys (Bernarde and Abe 2006, Hartmann et al. 2009, Mesquita et al. 2009). Some species of the PEC are generalists, as boids and snakes of the genus *Philodryas* and *Oxyrhopus*. Snakes belonging to the genera *Apostolepis*, *Dipsas*, and *Atractus* have specialized diet, feeding on snakes, mollusks and earthworms, respectively, as well as the genera *Xenodon* and *Xenopholis*, which are specialists in amphibians. (Vitt and Vangilder 1983, Laporta-Ferreira et al. 1986, Cunha and Nascimento 1993, Martins and Oliveira 1998, Mesquita et al. 2009, Bernarde and Abe 2010, Fernandes et al. 2010, Kokubum and Maciel 2010).

It is important to emphasize that the PEC presents at least seven endemic species (*A. caete, A. maculatus, B. muriciensis, Caaeteboia* sp., *D. atlantica, E. cephalomaculata,* and *M. potyguara*) of which basic information on natural history and ecology are scarce. Most of these species have a very restricted distribution, have been little recorded in nature and consequently are poorly represented in scientific collections. For example, *B. muriciensis* has only nine records and was found only in a single location (Freitas et al. 2012), the *E. cephalomaculata* has seven known records and was found only in four locations (Freitas et al. 2019b) and *Caaeteboia* sp., which has only three records and should be a new species for the region (Pereira Filho et al. 2017). Moreover, some species have confused taxonomy, such as *M. ibiboboca* and *D. neuwiedi*, being a complex of different taxa. Some of these taxa could figure as endemic species in PEC in the future. Besides the endemic species, other PEC species deserve special attention due to the absence of information on natural history and ecology, for being rare in the region and for presenting a restricted distribution in the PEC, for example, *L. trefauti, A. potschi, D. sazimai, D. variegata, E. cephalostriata*, and *A. arenensis*.

The conservation status of PEC snake species is still little known. Of the 78 species registered in the region, only 25 species have been evaluated by the IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature) to date. On the Brazilian list of threatened species, some PEC species are present, they are: *A. amoipira, A. caete, and B. muriciensis* as "endangered" and *A. paucisquamus* and *E. cephalomaculata* as "vulnerable" (ICMBio 2018). Given the high richness of snake species, the number of endemic species and the fragmented conditions of the region's forests, regional conservation efforts need to be intensified, because few forests north of the São Francisco River are formally protected, and the majority are small, which means that many species in the region may be threatened with extinction (Ranta et al. 1998, Uchoa Neto and Tabarelli 2002, Tabarelli et al. 2006a).

In general, many studies still need to be developed in the PEC region, so that we can better understand the snake fauna of this region. Fauna inventories in areas that are not well sampled, population dynamics studies and distribution patterns are important for better conservation planning of PEC snake species.

Acknowledgements

RCF thanks FAPESB for a PhD scholarship (BOL0353/2016) and CNPq for Doutorado Sanduíche no Exterior (SWE) scholarship (208442/2017-0). FGRF thanks the financial support from CNPq (Universal grant 404671/2016-0). MS acknowledges funding from CNPq (Productivity grant 304999/2015-6) and CAPES/Alexander von Humboldt Foundation (BEX 0585/16-5). We further thank Fausto Erritto Barbo, an anonymous reviewer and the editor Robert Jadin for detailed and constructive comments that greatly improved our manuscript.

References

- Ab'Saber AN (1977) Espaços ocupados pela expansão dos climas secos na América do Sul, por ocasião dos períodos glaciais quaternários. Paleoclimas 3: 1–19.
- Abegg AD, Freitas MA, Moura GJB (2017a) First confirmed record of *Atractus maculatus* (Serpentes, Dipsadidae) from the state of Pernambuco, northeastern Brazil. Check List 13: 1–3. https://doi.org/10.15560/13.2.CL2080
- Abegg AD, Freitas MA, Moura GJB (2017b) New records of *Liotyphlops trefauti* Freire, Caramaschi & Argôlo, 2007 (Squamata: Anomalepididae). Herpetology Notes 10: 345–347.
- Albarelli LPP, Santos-Costa MC (2010) Feeding ecology of *Liophis reginae semilineatus* (Serpentes: Colubridae: Xenodontinae) in Eastern Amazon, Brazil. Zoologia 27: 87–91. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-46702010000100013
- Albuquerque NR, Galatti U, Di-Bernardo M (2007) Diet and feeding behaviour of the Neotropical parrot snake (*Leptophis ahaetulla*) in northern Brazil. Journal of Natural History 41: 1237–1243. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222930701400954
- Alencar LRV, Galdino CAB, Nascimento LB (2012) Life History Aspects of Oxyrhopus trigeminus (Serpentes: Dipsadidae) from Two Sites in Southeastern Brazil. Journal of Herpetology 46: 9–13. https://doi.org/10.1670/09-219
- Alencar LRV, Gaiarsa MP, Martins M (2013) The evolution of diet and microhabitat use in Pseudoboine snakes. South American Journal of Herpetology 8: 60–66. https://doi. org/10.2994/SAJH-D-13-00005.1
- Almeida BJL, Almeida MSM, Cavalcante CS, Bernarde PS (2019) Bothrops bilineatus bilineatus (Two-striped Forest Pitviper) Reproduction. Herpetological Review 50: 385–386.
- Alves FQ, Argôlo AJS, Carvalho GC (2014) Reproductive biology of the bushmaster Lachesis muta (Serpentes: Viperidae) in the Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Phyllomedusa 13: 99–109. https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.2316-9079.v13i2p99-109

- Amaral A (1978) Serpentes do Brasil: iconografia colorida. 2a edição. Melhoramentos e ED-USP, São Paulo.
- Amorim DM, Silva MC, Quirino TF, Roberto IJ, Ávila RW (2015) Apostolepis cearensis (Burrowing snake). Diet. Herpetological Review 46: 265–266.
- Andrade-Lima D (1982) Present day forest refuges in Northeastern Brazil. In: Prance GT (Ed.) Biological diversification in the tropics. Columbia University Press, New York, 245–251.
- Andrade RO, Silvano RAM (1996) Comportamento alimentar e dieta da "falsa-coral" Oxyrhopus guibei Hoge & Romano (Serpentes, Colubridae) Revista Brasileira de Zoologia 13: 143–150. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0101-81751996000100014
- Araujo DSD (1992) Vegetation types of sandy coastal plains of tropical Brazil: A first approximation. In: Seeliger U (Ed.) Coastal Plant Communities of Latin America. Academic Press, New York, 392. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-092567-7.50027-1
- Araújo P, França RC, Nascimento FS, Laranjeiras DO, França FGR (2019) New records and range expansion of *Chironius carinatus* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Serpentes, Colubridae) from the state of Paraíba, northeast Brazil. Check List 15: 927–932. https://doi. org/10.15560/15.5.927
- Araújo PF, Silva WM, França RC, França FGR (2018) A case of envenomation by neotropical opisthoglyphous snake *Thamnodynastes pallidus* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Colubridae: Dipsadinae: Tachymenini) in Brazil. Revista do Instituto de Medicina Tropical de São Paulo 60: 11–14. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1678-9946201860038
- Argôlo AJS (2004) Serpentes dos cacauais do sudeste da Bahia. Editus, Ilhéus, 260 pp.
- Arzamendia V (2016) New Southern record of *Erythrolamprus reginae* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Serpentes: Dipsadidae), a vulnerable species in Argentina. Check List 12: 1–4. https://doi.org/10.15560/12.5.1976
- Avila RW, Ferreira VL, Souza VB (2006) Biology of the blindsnake *Typhlops brongersmianus* (Typhlopidae) in a semideciduous forest from Central Brazil. Herpetological Journal 16: 403–405.
- Avila RW, Morais DH (2007) Notes on the ecology of the colubrid snake *Leptodeira annulata* in the Pantanal, Brazil. Herpetological Review 38: 278–280.
- Ávila RW, Ferreira VL, Arruda JAO (2006) Natural History of the South American Water Snake *Helicops leopardinus* (Colubridae: Hydropsini) in the Pantanal, Central Brazil. Journal of Herpetology 40: 274–279. https://doi.org/10.1670/113-05N.1
- Azevedo ACP (1961) Notas sobre cobras-corais (Serpentes- Elapidae) III a IV. Iheringia, Série Zoologia 18: 1–23.
- Bailey JR, Thomas RA, Silva Jr NJ (2005) A revision of the South American snake genus *Thamnodynastes* Wagler, 1830 (Serpentes, Colubridae, Tachymenini). I. Two new species of *Thamnodynastes* from Central Brazil and adjacent areas, with a redefinition of and neotype designation of *Thamnodynastes pallidus* (Linnaeus, 1758). Phyllomedusa 4: 83–101. https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.2316-9079.v4i2p83-101
- Balestrin RL, Di-Bernardo M (2005) Ophiophagy in the colubrid snake *Echinanthera occipitalis* (Jan, 1863) from southern Brazil. Salamandra 41: 221–222.

- Barbo FE, Marques OAV (2003) Do aglyphous colubrid snakes prey on live amphisbaenids able to bite? Phyllomedusa 2: 113–114. https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.2316-9079. v2i2p113-114
- Barbo FE, Marques OAV, Sawaya RJ (2011) Diversity, Natural History, and Distribution of Snakes in the Municipality of São Paulo. South American Journal of Herpetology 6: 135– 160. https://doi.org/10.2994/057.006.0301
- Barbosa VN, Amaral JMS, Lima LFL, França RC, França FGR, Santos EM (2019) A case of melanism in *Dendrophidion atlantica* Freire, Caramaschi & Gonçalves, 2010 (Colubridae) from northeastern Brazil. Herpetology Notes 12: 109–111.
- Barros VA, Rojas CA, Almeida-Santos SM (2014) Reproductive Biology of *Bothrops erythromelas* from the Brazilian Caatinga. Advances in Zoology 2014: 1–11. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/680861
- Beebe W (1946) Field notes on the snakes of Kartabo, British Guiana, and Caripito, Venezuela. Zoologica 31: 11–52.
- Bellini G, Arzamendia V, Giraudo AR (2013) Ecology of *Thamnodynastes hypoconia* in Subtropical – Temperate South America. Herpetologica 69: 67–79. https://doi.org/10.1655/ HERPETOLOGICA-D-12-00027
- Bernarde PS, Abe AS (2006) A snake community at Espigão do Oeste, Rondônia, southwestern Amazon, Brazil. South American Journal of Herpetology 1: 102–113. https://doi. org/10.2994/1808-9798(2006)1[102:ASCAED]2.0.CO;2
- Bernarde PS, Abe AS (2010) Hábitos alimentares de serpentes em Espigão do Oeste, Rondônia, Brasil Introdução Material e Métodos Resultados. Biota Neotropica 10: 167–173. https:// doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032010000100017
- Bernarde PS, Costa HC, Machado RA, São-Pedro VDA (2011) Bothriopsis bilineata bilineata (Wied, 1821) (Serpentes: Viperidae): new records in the states of Amazonas, Mato Grosso and Rondônia, northern Brazil. Check List 7: 343. https://doi.org/10.15560/7.3.343
- Bérnils RS, Giraudo AR, Carreira S, Cechin SZ (2007) Répteis das porções subtropical e temperada da região neotropical. Ciência & Ambiente 35: 101–136.
- Boos HEA (2001) The snakes of Trinidad and Tobago. Texas A&M University Press, 270 pp.
- Borges-Nojosa DM, Lima DC (2001) Dieta de Drymoluber dichrous (Peters, 1863) dos brejosde-altitude do estado do Ceará, Brasil (Serpentes: Colubridae). Boletim do Museu Nacional. Zoologia 468: 1–5.
- Braz HB, Scartozzoni RR, Almeida-Santos SM (2016) Reproductive modes of the South American water snakes: A study system for the evolution of viviparity in squamate reptiles. Zoologischer Anzeiger 263: 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcz.2016.04.003
- Brito PS, Freire EMX (2012) New records and geographic distribution map of *Typhlops amoip-ira* Rodrigues and Juncá, 2002 (Typhlopidae) in the Brazilian Rainforest. Check List 8: 1347–1349. https://doi.org/10.15560/8.6.1347
- Campbell JA, Lamar WW (2004) The Venomous Reptiles of the Western Hemisphere. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, 425 pp.
- Coimbra-Filho AF, Câmara IG (1996) Os limites originais do bioma da Mata Atlântica na Região Nordeste do Brasil. FBCN, Rio de Janeiro, 86 pp.

- Costa HC, Clara M, Gurgel C (2013) *Xenopholis undulatus* (Serpentes: Xenodontinae): Reprodução e alimentação em cativeiro. Herpetologia Brasileira 2: 36–38.
- Costa HC, Pantoja DL, Pontes JL, Feio RN (2010) Serpentes do Município de Viçosa, Mata Atlântica do Sudeste do Brasil Material e Métodos. Biota Neotropica 10: 352–376. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032010000300033
- Cunha OR, Nascimento FP (1981) Ofídios da Amazônia. XII Observações sobre a viviparidade em ofídios do Pará e Maranhão (Ophidia: Aniliidae, Boidae, Colubridae e Viperidae. Boletim do Museu Paraense Emilio Goeldi. Nova Série Zoologia: 24.
- Cunha OR, Nascimento FP (1993) Ofídios da Amazônia. As cobras da região leste do Pará. Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi 9: 1–188.
- Curcio FF, Sales Nunes PM, Harvey MB, Rodrigues MT (2011) Redescription of *Apostolepis longicaudata* (Serpentes: Xenodontinae) with comments on its hemipenial morphology and natural history. Herpetologica 67: 318–331. https://doi.org/10.1655/HERPETO-LOGICA-D-10-00043.1
- Di-Bernardo M (1994) Uma nova espécie de *Echinanthera* Cope, 1894 (Serpentes, Colubridae) do nordeste do Brasil. Biociências 2: 75–81.
- Di-Bernardo M (1996) A new species of the neotropical snake genus *Echinanthera* COPE 1894 from southeastern Brazil (Serpentes, Coluridae). The Snake 27: 120–126.
- Dixon JR (1989) A key and checklist to the neotropical snake genus *Liophis* with country lists and maps. Smithsonian Herpetological Information Service 79: 1–40. https://doi. org/10.5479/si.23317515.79.1
- Dixon JR, Soini P (1986) Milwaukee Public Museum The reptiles of the upper Amazon Basin, Iquitos Region, Peru. Milwaukee, 91 pp.
- Dixon JR, Wiest JA, Cei JM (1993) Revision of the Neotropical Snake Genus Chironius Fitzinger (Serpentes, Colubridae). Museo Regionale di scienze naturali 47: 155–167.
- Duellman WE (2005) Cusco Amazónico: the lives of amphibians and reptiles in an Amazonian rainforest. Cornell University Press, Ithaca and London, 472 pp.
- Fernandes DS, Marques OAV, Argôlo AJS (2010) A new species of *Dipsas* Laurenti from the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. Zootaxa 66: 57–66. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.2691.1.4
- Fowler IR, Salomão MDG, Jordão RS (1998) A description of the female reproductive cycle in four species from the Neotropical colubrid snake *Philodryas* (Colubridae, Xenodontinae). The Snake 28: 71–78.
- Fraga R, Lima AP, Prudente ALC, Magnusson WE (2013) Guia de Cobras da região de Manaus-Amazonia Central. Editora Inpa.
- França FGR, Braz VS (2013) Diversity, activity patterns, and habitat use of the snake fauna of Chapada dos Veadeiros National Park in Central Brazil. Biota Neotropica 13: 74–84. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032013000100008
- França FGR, Mesquita DO, Colli GR (2006) A checklist of snakes from Amazonian Savannas in Brazil, housed in the coleção herpetológica da Universidade de Brasília, with new distribution records. Occasional Papers, Oklahoma Museum of Natural History: 1–13.
- França RC, França FGR (2019) Spatial patterns of snake diversity in an urban area of northeast Brazil. Herpetological Journal 29: 274–281. https://doi.org/10.33256/hj29.4.274281

- França RC, Germano CES, França FGR (2012) Composition of a snake assemblage inhabiting an urbanized area in the Atlantic Forest of Paraíba State, Northeast Brazil. Biota Neotropica 12: 183–195. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032012000300019
- França RC, Morais MSR, Freitas MA, Moura GJB, França FGR (2019) A new record of *Xenopholis scalaris* (Wucherer, 1861) (Dipsadidae) for the state of Pernambuco, Brazil. Herpetology Notes 12: 57–59.
- Franco FL, Ferreira TG (2002) Descrição de uma nova espécie de *Thamnodynastes* Wagler, 1830 (Serpentes, Colubridae) do nordeste brasileiro, com comentários sobre o gênero. Phyllomedusa: Journal of Herpetology 1: 57. https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.2316-9079. v1i2p57-74
- Franco FL, Trevine VC, Montingelli GG, Zaher H (2017) A new species of *Thamnodynastes* from the open areas of central and Northeastern Brazil (Serpentes: Dipsadidae: Tachymenini). Salamandra 53: 339–350.
- Franzini LD, Pedro CKB, Cavalcanti LBDQ, Mesquita DO (2018) Predation of *Hemidactylus mabouia* (Sauria: Gekkonidae) by a vine snake *Oxybelis aeneus* (Serpentes: Colubridae) in an Atlantic Forest fragment, Northeastern Brazil. Pesquisa e Ensino em Ciências Exatas e da Natureza 2: 67–70. https://doi.org/10.29215/pecen.v2i1.587
- Freire EMX, Caramaschi U, Argôlo AJS (2007) A new species of *Liotyphlops* (Serpentes: Anomalepididae) from the Atlantic Rain Forest of Northeastern Brazil. Zootaxa 26: 19–26. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.1393.1.2
- Freire EMX, Caramaschi U, Gonçalves U (2010) A new species of *Dendrophidion* (Serpentes: Colubridae) from the Atlantic Rain Forest of Northeastern Brazil. Zootaxa 2719: 62–68. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.2719.1.5
- Freitas MA, França DPF, Graboski R, Uhlig V, Veríssimo D (2012) Notes on the conservation status, geographic distribution and ecology of *Bothrops muriciensis* Ferrarezzi & Freire, 2001 (Serpentes, Viperidae). North-Western Journal of Zoology 8: 338–343.
- Freitas MA, Abegg AD, Araújo DS, Coelho HEA, Azevedo WS, Chaves MF, Rosa CM, Moura GJB (2019a) Herpetofauna of three "Brejos de altitude" in the interior of the state of Pernambuco, northeastern Brazil. Herpetology Notes 12: 591–602.
- Freitas MA, Barbosa GG, Bernardino KP, Domingos J, Filho P (2019b) First records of the rare snake *Echinanthera cephalomaculata* Di-Bernardo, 1994 in the state of Pernambuco, Brazil (Serpentes: Dipsadidae). Herpetology Notes 12: 1005–1009.
- Gaiarsa MP, Alencar LRV, Martins M (2013) Natural History of Pseudoboine Snakes. Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia 53: 261–283. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0031-10492013001900001
- Goldberg SR (2007) Note on Reproduction of Whipsnakes, Genus *Chironius* (Serpentes: Colubridae), from Costa Rica. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society 42: 148–149.
- Gomes C (2012) História natural das serpentes dos gêneros *Echinanthera* e *Taeniophallus* (Echinantherini). MSc Dissertation, Universidade Estadual Paulista.
- Good M (1989) Pseustes sulphureus. Reproduction. Herpetological Review 20: 73.
- Graboski R, Pereira Filho GA, Silva AAA, Costa Prudente AL, Zaher H (2015) A new species of *Amerotyphlops* from Northeastern Brazil, with comments on distribution of related species. Zootaxa 3920: 443–452. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3920.3.3

- Graboski R, Arredondo JC, Grazziotin FG, Silva AAA, Prudente ALC, Rodrigues MT, Bonatto SL, Zaher H (2019) Molecular phylogeny and hemipenial diversity of South American species of *Amerotyphlops* (Typhlopidae, Scolecophidia). Zoologica Scripta 48: 139–156. https://doi.org/10.1111/zsc.12334
- Grant PBC, Lewis TR (2010) Predation attempt by *Oxybelis aeneus* (Wagler) (Mexican Vinesnake) on *Basiliscus plumifrons* (Cope). Acta Herpetologica 5: 19–22.
- Grego KF, Fernandes W, Croce AP, Vasconcellos DR, Sant'Anna SS, Coragem JT (2012) *Bothriopsis bilineata smaragdinus* (green jararaca) reproduction. Herpetological Review 43: 492.
- Guedes TB, Nogueira C, Marques OAV (2014) Diversity, natural history, and geographic distribution of snakes in the Caatinga, Northeastern Brazil. Zootaxa 3863: 1–93. https://doi. org/10.11646/zootaxa.3863.1.1
- Hamdan B, Fernandes DS (2015) Taxonomic revision of *Chironius flavolineatus* (Jan, 1863) with description of a new species (Serpentes: Colubridae). Zootaxa 4012: 97–119. https:// doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4012.1.5
- Hartmann PA, Marques OAV (2005) Diet and habitat use of two sympatric species of *Philodryas* (Colubridae), in south Brazil. Amphibia-Reptilia 26: 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1163/1568538053693251
- Hartmann PA, Hartmann MT, Martins M (2009) Ecology of a snake assemblage in the Atlantic Forest of southeastern Brazil. 49: 343–360. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0031-10492009002700001
- Hauzman E, Costa ACOR, Scartozonni RR (2005) Spilotes pullatus (Tiger Ratsnake). Reproduction. Herpetological Review 36: 328.
- Henderson RW (1982) Trophic Relationships and Foraging Strategies of some New World Tree Snakes (*Leptophis*, *Oxybelis*, *Uromacer*). Amphibia-Reptilia 3: 71–80. https://doi. org/10.1163/156853882X00185
- Hetherington TE (2006) *Oxybelis aeneus* (Brown Vinesnake). Diet. Herpetological Review 37: 94–95.
- IBGE (2004) Mapa de biomas e vegetação do Brasil. Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística – IBGE. https://www.ibge.gov.br/geociencias/informacoes-ambientais/estudosambientais/15842-biomas.html?=&t=downloads [November 24, 2019]
- Kokobum MNC, Maciel MN (2010) Scinax fuscovarius NCN). Predation. Herpetological Review 41: 480–481.
- Laporta-Ferreira IL, Salomão MG, Sawaya P (1986) Biologia de Sibynomorphus (Colubridae Dipsadinae) – Reprodução e Hábitos Alimentares. Revista Brasileira de Biologia 46: 793–799.
- Leite PT, Nunes SF, Cechin SZ (2007) Dieta e uso de habitat da jararaca-do-brejo, *Mastigodryas bifossatus* Raddi (Serpentes, Colubridae) em domínio subtropical do Brasil. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia 24: 729–734. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0101-81752007000300025
- Lema TD (2003) Os répteis do Rio Grande do Sul: atuais e fósseis, biogeografia e ofidismo. Editora da Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, 485 pp.
- Lima LFL, Amaral JMS, Barbosa VN, Santos EM (2019) Dendrophidion atlantica/Freire, Caramaschi e Gonçalves, 2010 – Contribuições sobre reprodução. Acta Biológica Paranaense 48: 1–4. https://doi.org/10.5380/abpr.v48i(1-2).69161
- Lira-da-Silva RM, Mise YF, Casais-e-Silva LL, Ulloa J, Hamdan B (2009) Serpentes de importância médica do nordeste do Brasil. Gazeta Médica da Bahia 79: 7–20.

- Lira-da-Silva RM, Casais-e-Silva LL, Queiroz IB, Nunes TB (1994) Contribuição á biologia de serpentes da Bahia, Brasil. I. Vivíparas. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia 11: 187–193. https:// doi.org/10.1590/S0101-81751994000200002
- López MS, Giraudo AR (2004) Diet of the large water snake *Hydrodynastes gigas* (Colubridae) from northeast Argentina María. Amphibia-Reptilia 25: 178–184. https://doi. org/10.1163/1568538041231148
- Lynch JD (2009) Snakes of the genus *Oxyrhopus* (Colubridae: Squamata) in Colombia: Taxonomy and geographic variation. Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia 49: 319–337. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0031-10492009002500001
- Marques OAV, Sazima I (2004) História Natural dos Répteis da Estação Ecológica Juréia-Itatins. In: Marques OAV, Duleba W (Eds), Estação Ecológica Juréia-Itatins. Ambiente Físico, Flora e Fauna. Holos, Ribeirão Preto, 257–277.
- Marques OAV (1996a) Biologia reprodutiva da cobra-coral *Erythrolamprus aesculapii* Linnaeus (Colubridae), no Sudeste do Brasil. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia 13: 747–753. https:// doi.org/10.1590/S0101-81751996000300022
- Marques OAV (1996b) Reproduction, seasonal activity and growth of the coral snake, *Micrurus corallinus* (Elapidae), in the southeastern Atlantic forest in Brazil. Amphibia Reptilia 17: 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853896X00441
- Marques OAV, Puorto G (1992) Dieta e comportamento alimentar de *Erythrolamprus aesculapii*, uma serpente ofiófaga. Revista Brasileira de Biologia 54: 253–259.
- Marques OAV, Sazima I (1997) Diet and feeding behavior of the coral snake, *Micrurus corallinus*, from the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. Herpetological Natural History 5: 88–93.
- Marques OAV, Eterovic A, Sazima I (2019) Serpentes da Mata Atlântica guia ilustrado para as florestas costeiras do Brasil. Ponto A, Cotia, 318 pp.
- Marques OAV, Eterovic A, Strüssmann C, Sazima I (2001) Serpentes da Mata Atlântica: guia ilustrado para a Serra do Mar. Holos. Ribeirão Preto, 184 pp.
- Marques OAV, Eterovic A, Strüssmann C, Sazima I (2005) Serpentes do Pantanal: guia ilustrado. Holos. Ribeirão Preto, 184 pp.
- Marques OAV, Eterovic A, Nogueira C, Sazima I (2015) Serpentes do Cerrado: guia ilustrado. Holos. Ribeirão Preto, 248 pp.
- Marques OAV, Eterovic A, Guedes TB, Sazima I (2017a) Serpentes da Caatinga: guia ilustrado. Ponto A, Cotia, 240 pp.
- Marques OAV, Pereira DN, Barbo FE, Germano VJ, Sawaya RJ (2009) Os Répteis do Município de São Paulo: diversidade e ecologia da fauna pretérita e atual Métodos. Biota Neotropica 9: 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032009000200014
- Marques OAV, Muniz-Da-Silva DF, Barbo FE, Cardoso SRT, Maia DC, Almeida-Santos SM (2014) Ecology of the Colubrid Snake *Spilotes pullatus* from the Atlantic Forest of Southeastern Brazil. Herpetologica 70: 407–416. https://doi.org/10.1655/HERPETOLOGI-CA-D-14-00012
- Marques R, Rödder D, Solé M, Tinôco MS (2017b) Diversity and habitat use of snakes from the coastal Atlantic rainforest in northeastern Bahia, Brazil. Salamandra 53: 34–43.
- Marques R, Mebert K, Fonseca É, Rödder D, Solé M, Tinôco MS (2016) Composition and natural history notes of the coastal snake assemblage from Northern Bahia, Brazil. ZooKeys 611: 93–142. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.611.9529

- Martins M, Oliveira ME (1998) Natural history of snakes in forests of the Manaus region, Central Amazonia, Brazil. Herpetological Natural History 6: 78–150.
- Martins M, Molina FB (2008) Panorama geral dos répteis ameaçados do Brasil. In: Machado AB, Drummond G, Paglia A (Eds) Livro vermelho da fauna brasileira ameaçada de extinção. MMA, Brasília, Fundação Biodiversitas, Belo Horizonte, 327–334.
- Martins M, Marques OAV, Sazima I (2002) Ecological and phylogenetic correlates of feeding habits in neotropical pitvipers of the genus *Bothrops*. In: Schuett GW, Hoggren M, Douglas ME, Greene HW (Eds) Biology of the Vipers. Eagle Mountain, 307–328. http:// jararacailhoa.org/conservacaoinsularis/bothrops_feeding.pdf
- Mesquita DO, Alves BCF, Pedro CKB, Laranjeiras DO, Caldas FLS, Pedrosa IMMC, Rodrigues JB, Drummond LO, Cavalcanti LBQ, Nogueira-Costa P, França RC, França FGR (2018) Herpetofauna in two habitat types (*tabuleiros* and Stational Semidecidual Forest) in the Reserva Biológica Guaribas, northeastern Brazil. Herpetology Notes 11: 455–474.
- Mesquita PCMD, Brito W, Borges-Nojosa DM (2011a) Natural History Notes: Psomophis joberti (NCN). Reproduction. Herpetological Review 42: 302.
- Mesquita PCMD, Passos DC, Borges-Nojosa DM, Beyerra CH (2009) *Apostolepis cearensis* (Gomes' Burrowing snake) diet. Herpetological Review 40: 440.
- Mesquita PCMD, Borges-Nojosa DM, Passos DC, Bezerra CH (2011b) Ecology of *Philodryas nattereri* in the Brazilian semi-arid region. Herpetological Journal 21: 193–198.
- Mesquita PCMD, Passos DC, Borges-Nojosa DM, Cechin SZ (2013) Ecologia e história natural das serpentes de uma área de Caatinga no nordeste Brasileiro. Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia 53: 99–113. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0031-10492013000800001
- ICMBio [Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade/MMA–Ministério do Meio Ambiente] (2018) Livro Vermelho da Fauna Brasileira Ameaçada de Extinção: Volume IV–Répteis.
- Morais MSR, França RC, Delfim FR, França FGR (2018) Eggs and hatchling morphometry of *Spilotes sulphureus* (Wagler in Spix, 1824) (Serpentes: Colubridae: Colubrinae: Colubroidea: Caenophidia) from northeastern Brazil. Herpetology Notes 11: 441–444.
- Morellato LPC, Haddad CFB (2000) Introduction: The Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Biotropica 32: 786–792. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2000.tb00618.x
- Moura GJB, Santos EMS, Oliveira MAB, Cabral MCC (2011) Herpetofauna de Pernambuco. Brasília, Instituto Brasileiro do Meio Ambiente e dos Recursos Naturais Renováveis, 443 pp.
- Moura JM (1999) *Leptodeira annulata* (Culebra Desteñida, Banded Cat-eyed Snake). Diet. Herpetological Review 30: 102.
- Myers N, Mittermeier R, Mittermeier C, DaFonesca G, Kent J (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Conservation Biology 403: 853. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002501
- Nogueira C, Colli GR, Costa G, Machado RB (2010) Diversidade de répteis Squamata e evolução do conhecimento faunístico no Cerrado. In: Diniz IR, Marinho-Filho J, Machado RB, Cavalcanti RB (Eds) Cerrado: conhecimento científico quantitativo como subsídio para ações de conservação. Editora UNB, Brasília, 329–372.
- Nunney L, Campbell KA (1993) Assessing minimum viable population size: Demography meets population genetics. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 8: 234–239. https://doi. org/10.1016/0169-5347(93)90197-W

- Orofino RDP, Pizzatto L, Marques OAV (2010) Reproductive biology and food habits of *Pseudoboa nigra* (Serpentes: Dipsadidae) from the Brazilian cerrado. Phyllomedusa 9: 53–61. https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.2316-9079.v9i1p53-61
- Passos P, Fernandes R (2008) Revision of the *Epicrates cenchria* Complex (Serpentes: Boidae). Herpetological Monographs: 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1655/06-003.1
- Passos P, Fernandes R, Bérnils RS, Moura-Leite JC (2010) Taxonomic revision of the Brazilian Atlantic Forest *Atractus* (Reptilia: Serpentes: Dipsadidae). Zootaxa 2364: 1–63. https:// doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.2364.1.1
- Pennington RT, Lewis GP, Ratter JA (2006) An overview of the plant diversity, biogeography and conservation of neotropical savannas and seasonally dry forests. In: T. PR, Ratter JA, Lewis GP (Eds) Neotropical savannas and seasonally dry forests: Plant biodiversity, biogeography and conservation. CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1–29. https://doi. org/10.1201/9781420004496-1
- Pereira Filho GA, Vieira WLS, Alves RRN, França FGR (2017) Serpentes da Paraíba: Diversidade e Conservação. João Pessoa, 316 pp.
- Pereira Filho GA, Montingelli GG (2011) Check list of snakes from the Brejos de Altitude of Paraíba and Pernambuco, Brazil. Biota Neotropica 11: 145–151. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S1676-06032011000300011
- Pergentino HES, Ribeiro LB (2017) Anurophagy by the snake *Thamnodynastes phoenix* (Squamata: Dipsadidae: Tachymenini) in dry forested areas of Northeastern Brazil. Herpetology Notes 10: 597–600.
- Petzold HG (1969) Observations on the reproductive biology of the American ringed snake *Leptodeira annulata* at East Berlin Zoo. International Zoo Yearbook 9: 54–56. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1748-1090.1969.tb02613.x
- Pinto RR, Fernandes R, Otavio AVM (2008) Morphology and diet of two sympatric colubrid snakes, *Chironius flavolineatus* and *Chironius quadricarinatus* (Serpentes: Colubridae). Amphibia-Reptilia 29: 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853808784125027
- Pires MG, Silva JR NJ, Feitosa DT, Prudente ALC, Filho GAP, Zaher H (2014) A new species of triadal coral snake of the genus *Micrurus* Wagler, 1824 (Serpentes: Elapidae) from northeastern Brazil. Zootaxa 3811: 569–584. https://doi.org/10.11646/ zootaxa.3811.4.8
- Pizzatto L, Marques OAV (2002) Reproductive biology of the false coral snake Oxyrhopus guibei (Colubridae) from southeastern Brazil. Amphibia-Reptilia 23: 495–504. https:// doi.org/10.1163/15685380260462392
- Pizzatto L, Marques OAV (2006) Interpopulational variation in sexual dimorphism, reproductive output, and parasitism of *Liophis miliaris* (Colubridae) in the Atlantic forest of Brazil. Amphibia-Reptilia 27: 37–46. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853806776052128
- Pizzatto L, Marques OAV (2007) Reproductive Ecology of Boine Snakes with Emphasis on Brazilian Species and a Comparison to Pythons. South American Journal of Herpetology 2: 107–122. https://doi.org/10.2994/1808-9798(2007)2[107:REOBSW]2.0.CO;2
- Pizzatto L, Marques OAV, Facure K (2010) Food habits of Brazilian boid snakes: Overview and new data, with special reference to *Corallus hortulanus*. Amphibia-Reptilia 30: 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853809789647121

- Pizzatto L, Cantor M, Oliveira JL, Marques OAV, Capovilla V, Martins M (2008) Reproductive Ecology of Dipsadine Snakes, with emphasis on South American species. Herpetologica 64: 168–179. https://doi.org/10.1655/07-031.1
- Prance GT (1982) Biological diversification in the tropics. Columbia University Press, New York, 714 pp.
- Prieto YA, Giraudo AR, López MS (2012) Diet and Sexual Dimorphism of *Liophis poecilo-gyrus* (Serpentes, Dipsadidae) from the Wetland Regions of Northeast Argentina. Journal of Herpetology 46: 402–406. https://doi.org/10.1670/10-228
- Protázio AS, Protázio AS, Conceição LC, Ribeiro AC, Cruz SJ (2017) *Thamnodynastes pallidus* (Serpentes: Dipsadidae) predation on *Boana semilineata* (Anura: Hylidae) in fragment of Atlantic Forest, northeastern Brazil. Herpetology Notes 10: 521–523.
- Prudente AL da C, Menks AC, Silva FM, Maschio GF (2014) Diet and reproduction of the western indigo snake *Drymarchon corais* (serpentes: Colubridae) from the Brazilian Amazon. Herpetology Notes 7: 99–108.
- Ranta P, Blom T, Niemelä J, Joensuu E, Siitonen M (1998) The fragmented Atlantic rain forest of Brazil: Size, shape and distribution of forest fragments. Biodiversity and Conservation 7: 385–403. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008885813543
- Reis PMAG, Coehlo RDF, Menezes LMN, Ribeiro LB (2015) Contribution to the reproductive biology of *Bothrops erythromelas* (Squamata: Viperidae) in the semiarid region of Brazil. Herpetological Review 46: 327–331.
- Ribeiro MC, Metzger JP, Martensen AC, Ponzoni FJ, Hirota MM (2009) The Brazilian Atlantic Forest: How much is left, and how is the remaining forest distributed? Implications for conservation. Biological Conservation 142: 1141–1153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.02.021
- Roberto IJ, Ávila RW, Melgarejo AR (2015) Répteis (Testudines, Squamata, Crocodylia) da Reserva Biológica de Pedra Talhada. In: Studer A, Nusbaumer L, Spichiger R (Eds) Biodiversidade da Reserva Biológica de Pedra Talhada (Alagoas, Pernambuco – Brasil). Boissiera 68: 357–375.
- Roberto IJ, Oliveira CR, Araujo Filho JA, Oliveira HF, Ávila RW (2012) The herpetofauna of the Serra do Urubu mountain range: a key biodiversity area for conservation in The brazilian atlantic forest. Papeis Avulsos de Zoologia 57: 347–373. https://doi.org/10.11606/0031-1049.2017.57.27
- Rocha LA, Aleixo A, Allen G, Almeda F, Baldwin CC, Barclay MV, Berumen ML (2014) Specimen collection: An essential tool. Science 344: 814–815. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.344.6186.814
- Rodrigues GM, Maschio GF, Prudente ALC (2016) Snake assemblages of Marajó Island, Pará state, Brazil. Zoologia 33: 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-4689zool-20150020
- Rodrigues JB, Gama SCA, Pereira Filho GA, França FGR (2015) Composition and ecological aspects of a snake assemblage on the savanna enclave of the Atlantic Forest of the Guaribas Biological Reserve in Northeastern Brazil. South American Journal of Herpetology 10: 143–156. https://doi.org/10.2994/SAJH-D-15-00016.1

- Rufino N, Bernardi JAR (1999) Natural History Notes. *Pseustes sulphureus sulphureus*. Diet. Herpetological Review 30: 103–104.
- Sampaio ILR, Santos CP, França RC, Pedrosa IMMC, Solé M, França FGR (2018) Ecological diversity of a snake assemblage from the Atlantic Forest at the south coast of Paraíba, northeast Brazil. ZooKeys 2018: 107–125. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.787.26946
- Santos-Silva CR, Andrade IS, Araújo MLN, Barros LCS, Gomes L, Ferrari SF (2014) Predation of six anuran species by the banded cat-eyed snake, *Leptodeira annulata* (Serpentes: Dipsadidae), in the Caatinga scrub of northeastern Bahia, Brazil. Herpetology Notes 7: 123–126.
- Scartozzoni RR, Almeida-Santos SM (2006) *Helicops leopardinus* (Water snake): Reproduction. Herpetological Bulletin: 30–40.
- Seigel RA (1993) Summary: future research on snakes, or how to combat" lizard envy.". In: Seigel RA, Collins JT (Eds) Snakes: Ecology and Behavior. New York, 395–402.
- Silva JMC, Casteleti CHM (2003) Status of the biodiversity of the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. In: Galindo-Leal C, Câmara IG (Eds) The Atlantic Forest of South America: Biodiversity Status, Threats and Outlook.
- Silva Jr NJ (2016) As cobras-corais do Brasil: biologia, taxonomia, venenos e envenenamentos. Editora da PUC, Goiânia, 417 pp.
- Silva MV, Souza MB, Bernarde PS (2010) Riqueza e dieta de serpentes no Estado do Acre, Brasil. Revista Brasileira de Zoociências 12: 165–176.
- Sousa BM, Cruz CAG (2000) *Echinanthera affinis* (NCN). Diet. Herpetological Review 31: 178–178.
- Sousa KRM, Prudente ALC, Maschio GF (2014) Reproduction and diet of *Imantodes cenchoa* (Dipsadidae: Dipsadinae) from the Brazilian Amazon. Zoologia 31: 8–19. https://doi. org/10.1590/S1984-46702014000100002
- Souza RCG (2007) Reproduction of the Atlantic Bushmaster (*Lachesis muta rhombeata*) for the first time in captivity. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society 42: 41–43.
- Strussmann C, Sazima I (1993) The snake assemblage of the Pantanal at Poconé, Western Brazil: Faunal composition and ecological summary. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment 28: 157–168. https://doi.org/10.1080/01650529309360900
- Tabarelli M, Marins JF, Silva JMC (2002) La biodiversidad brasileña, amenazada. Investigación y Ciencia 308: 42–49.
- Tabarelli M, Siqueira Filho JA, Santos AMM (2006a) A Floresta Atlântica ao Norte do Rio São Francisco. In: Pôrto CK (Ed) Diversidade Biológica e Conservação da Floresta Atlântica ao Norte do Rio São Francisco. Ministério do Meio Ambiente, Brasília, 25–40.
- Tabarelli M, Melo MD, Lira OC (2006b) Nordeste; Piauí; Ceará; Rio Grande do Norte; Paraíba; Pernambuco e Alagoas: O Pacto Murici. In: Campanili M, Prochnow M (Eds) Mata Atlântica: uma rede pela floresta. São Paulo, 149–164.
- Tabarelli M, Pinto LP, Silva JMC, Hirota MM, Bedê LC (2005) Desafios e oportunidades para a conservação da biodiversidade na Mata Atlântica brasileira. Megadiversidade, 132–138.
- Turci LCB, Albuquerque S, Bernarde PS, Miranda DB (2009) Uso do hábitat, atividade e comportamento de *Bothriopsis bilineatus* e de *Bothrops atrox* (Serpentes: Viperidae) na floresta

do Rio Moa, Acre, Brasil. Biota Neotropica 9: 197–206. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032009000300020

- Uchoa Neto CAM, Tabarelli M (2002) Diagnóstico e estratégia de conservação do Centro de Endemismo Pernambuco. Centro de Pesquisas Ambientais do Nordeste CEPAN: 1–69.
- Vitt LJ, Vangilder LD (1983) Ecology of a Snake Community in Northeastern Brazil. Amphibia-Reptilia 4: 273–296. https://doi.org/10.1163/156853883X00148
- Vogel Z (1958) Surucucu do Pantanal. Aquarien- und Terrarienzeitschrift 11: 178–181.
- Zacariotti RL, Gomes CA (2010) Diet of the black-headed forest racer *Taeniophallus affinis* Günther, 1858 in the Brazilian Atlantic forest. Herpetology Notes 3: 11–12.

CHECKLIST



Amphibians and reptiles of Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras: an important center of endemism within the Atlantic Forest in southern Bahia, Brazil

Omar Rojas-Padilla^{1,2}, Vinícius Queiroz Menezes¹, Iuri Ribeiro Dias¹, Antônio Jorge Suzart Argôlo¹, Mirco Solé^{1,3}, Victor Goyannes Dill Orrico¹

Laboratório de Herpetologia Tropical, Departamento de Ciências Biológicas, Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz, Rodovia Jorge Amado, km 16, 45662-900, Ilhéus, Bahia, Brazil 2 Laboratório de Sistemática de Vertebrados, Pontificia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul, Av. Ipiranga, 6681, 90619-900, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil 3 Herpetology Section, Zoologisches Forschungsmuseum Alexander Koenig, Adenauerallee 160, D-53113 Bonn, Germany

Corresponding author: Omar Rojas-Padilla (projasomar@gmail.com)

Academic editor: Anthony Herrel Received 6 May 2020 Accepted 5 June 2020 Published 10 Decem	ıber 2020
http://zoobank.org/F664DE71-2E42-4016-9FF8-17126D6BD55F	

Citation: Rojas-Padilla O, Menezes VQ, Dias IR, Argôlo AJS, Solé M, Orrico VGD (2020) Amphibians and reptiles of Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras: an important center of endemism within the Atlantic Forest in southern Bahia, Brazil. ZooKeys 1002: 159–185. https://doi.org/10.3897/zooKeys.1002.53988

Abstract

Information gaps about species distribution hamper the evaluation of conservation status and decisions on biodiversity conservation, affecting to a greater extent, areas with high species richness and endemism. In this context, biological inventories are an important tool to fill these gaps by providing data on the composition, richness, and abundance of species in each locality. The Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras (PNSL) protects various mountain range just up 1000 m. in altitude, and, together with other conservation units, forms an ecological corridor in the southern part of the state of Bahia, within the Atlantic Forest hotspot. We conducted systematic samplings on transects, and opportunistic records in ponds and streams, in order to record amphibian and reptile species in the PNSL. We complement the sampling with the information available in the literature and in scientific collections. A total of 100 species (49 amphibians and 51 reptiles) was recorded, 53 of them endemic to the Atlantic Forest, 13 to the state of Bahia, and two known only from the PNSL. Hylidae was the most diverse family of amphibians (22 spp.) and Colubridae of reptiles (33 spp.). New information on the distribution and natural history of these species is provided, many of which have not yet been assessed by the IUCN while others have already been categorized as at risk of extinction at the regional level. Results confirm the high species richness and rates of endemism in southern Bahia and highlight the importance of protecting high altitude areas for the preservation of evolutionary and ecological processes within the Atlantic Forest.

Copyright Omar Rojas-Padilla et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY 4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Keywords

Anura, Reptilia, Herpetofauna, biological inventory, species distribution

Introduction

Biodiversity inventories are crucial in megadiverse countries, particularly in those that still have areas that are poorly sampled or without information about the species that inhabit them (Trindade-Filho et al. 2012; Verdade et al. 2012). These inventories provide data on natural history, behavior and make it possible to find taxa previously unknown to the region or still undescribed (Verdade et al. 2012; Oliveira et al. 2017). At the same time, they provide updated data on the state of conservation of the locality sampled and the threats present for the reported populations.

Deforestation, climate change, pollution, invasive species and diseases are among the main threats to biodiversity (Lips et al. 2005; Butchart et al. 2010). According to IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature), 41% of amphibian species and 22% of reptiles are included in some threat category (Hoffmann et al. 2010). In fact, many species of reptiles still lack enough information to allow their categorization (Böhm et al. 2013) making it even more difficult to implement effective actions for their conservation.

The Atlantic Forest biome stands out for having a high species richness and endemism rate. Despite harboring species not yet described and discovered (Morellato and Haddad 2000), it is estimated that it houses half of the endangered species of Brazil, 38.5% of which are endemic to this biome (ICMBio 2018a). However, the biome has also shown high rates of deforestation and is considered one of the biodiversity hotspots in the world (Myers et al. 2000). The south of the state of Bahia, located in Northeastern Brazil, is still home to the largest forest remnants of the Atlantic Forest in this part of the country, most of them associated with slopes or altitude zones (Thomas et al. 1998; Oliveira-Filho and Fontes 2000; Amorim et al. 2009). In these zones, high levels of plant richness and endemism (Amorim et al. 2009) and the second largest number of amphibian species for the entire biome have been recorded (Dias et al. 2014).

The Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras (PNSL), together with two more conservation units, the Refúgio de Vida Silvestre Una and the Reserva Biológica Una, form an ecological corridor which protects from low areas of the Atlantic coast to mountain peaks of just over 1000 m. in altitude. From the PNSL the presence of 709 species of angiosperms has been documented, the largest number of species reported for an altitude area in southern Bahia (Amorim et al. 2009). Also, 295 species of birds have already been recorded, 18 of them threatened with extinction (Silveira et al. 2005). For amphibians, 16 species were reported (Silvano and Pimenta 2003). However, the sampling effort was very low and there is no list of reptiles available for the region. Even so, new species of birds, amphibians and reptiles have been described with material collect in the PNSL (see Pacheco et al. 1996; Recorder et al. 2010; Teixeira et al. 2013). In order to provide information that can help in the elaboration of species management

plans, conservation plans and aid the categorization of species, we complement and update the list of amphibians and present, for the first time, a list of reptiles for this conservation unit.

Materials and methods

Study area

The PNSL (Fig. 1) is a federal conservation unit located in the municipalities of Arataca and Una, in the southern region of Bahia, Brazil (15.16979°S, 39.35047°W). It is located 56 km away from Ilhéus and 265 km from Salvador, the state capital and has an extension of 113.43 km² with an altitudinal gradient from 300 to just over 1000 m. of altitude. The climate is classified as equatorial rainforest, fully humid (Af) (Kottek et al. 2006).

The vegetation of the PNSL is formed by a mosaic of forest cover, with predominance of primary and late secondary forests, areas in recovery and areas of "cabruca" (cocoa crops shaded by native trees). The altitude gradient facilitates the presence of different plant formations, where thin tall trees with a closed canopy and shrubby vegetation predominate up to 750–800 m altitude, and smaller trees with epiphytes and a more open canopy dominate in higher altitudes (Fig. 2).



Figure 1. Location of the Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras and the evaluated transects. **A** The Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras **B** trails and transects sampled during 2017 and 2018.



Figure 2. General and detail view of the change of vegetation in the Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras. **A** Panoramic view from "Peito de Moça" (930 m altitude) **B** view of the "Peito de Moça" **C** primary vegetation with thin and tall trees with closed canopy below 750–800 m altitude **D** smaller vegetation with epiphytes and canopy more open in the peaks.

Data collection

We used the following methodologies for the sampling of the herpetofauna in the PNSL: i) visual and acoustic active search in transects in the forest (Heyer et al. 1994), ii) active search in water bodies: streams, temporary and permanent ponds (Heyer et al. 1994), iii) opportunistic records during our displacement, and iv) review of material deposited in the Museu de Zoologia of the Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz. To complement the list of recorded species, we included the records of other studies carried out in the PNSL (Silvano and Pimenta 2003; Recoder et al. 2010; Teixeira et al. 2013).

Fieldwork was carried out during 44 sampling days during seven sampling campaigns: December 9–11 2014; March 9 and 10 2015; October 23–26 2017; and February 19–29, March 6–12, October 8–15, and December 10–18 in 2018.

In the years 2014 and 2015 we sampled 14 transects of 50 meters in length, localized between 700 and 900 m of altitude inside the primary forest. Each transect was sampled by two researchers only once for 40 minutes, totaling a sampling effort of 9.3 man hours. This sampling was complemented with active non-standard searches in streams and temporary ponds inside the forest.

In 2017, we conducted non-standardized searches in the interior of the forest during the opening of trails and definition of places for the installation of complementary transects. Active searches without time limits were also carried out in streams and ponds.

In 2018, we installed two new 50 m long transects in each of the following altitudes: 450, 550, 650, 750, and 850 m in two mountains. Ten transects were installed on each mountain, totaling 20 transects. Each was sampled for 50 minutes by two researchers only once per campaign. In this period, each transect was evaluated three times, adding up to a sampling effort of 50 man hours. By the end of the study, we completed 59.30 man hours of sampling in the PNSL.

For the nomenclature of amphibian species, we follow Frost (2020). Regarding *Adelophryne* spp. we follow Lourenço-de-Moraes et al. (2018), and for *Adenomera* we follow Fouquet et al. (2014). For reptiles we follow Uetz and Hošek (2020); and for the particulary case of *Thamnodynastes*, we follow the sugestions by Franco and Ferreira (2002). We identified the endemic species of the Atlantic Forests and for Bahia state. Each recorded species was identified according to the proposals made for the biome by Rossa-Feres et al. (2017) and Tozetti et al. (2017) for amphibians and reptiles, respectively. Regarding the state; we revised the distribution sections in Frost (2020) for the amphibians, and the detailed list provided by Costa and Bérnils (2018) for reptiles.

Sampling of specimens and conservation status

All individuals collected in this work were covered by a license issued by the Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade (ICMBio 59889-1) and they were deposited in the herpetological collection of the Museu de Zoologia of the Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz (**MZUESC**) in Ilhéus, Bahia, Brazil. We identified the conservation status of each species at the state, federal and international scale using reference lists from the Secretaria de Meio Ambiente do Estado da Bahia – SEMA (2017), from the Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade – ICM-Bio (2018b, 2018c), and the IUCN (2019). The SEMA and ICMBio list provide only the categorization of species considered to be at risk of extinction. The categories of the identified species are as follows: DD, data deficient; LC, Least Concern; NT, Near Threatened; VU, Vulnerable; and EN, Endangered.

Results

We recorded 100 species, 49 of amphibians, and 51 of reptiles in the PNSL (Table 1, Figs 3–5). Ten families of amphibians, being the most diverse Hylidae (22 spp.), followed by Craugastoridae (06 spp.), Centrolenidae and Bufonidae (04 spp. each), Brachycephalidae and Leptodactylidae (03 spp. each), Eleutherodactylidae, Phyllomedusidae and Hemiphractidae (02 spp. each), and Hylodidae (01 sp.). In turn, we report 13 families of reptiles: Colubridae (33 spp.), Viperidae (04 spp.), Amphisbaenidae, Boidae, and Gymnophthalmidae (02 spp. each), and a species each of the families Chelidae, Dactyloidae, Elapidae, Gekkonidae, Leiosauridae, Polychrotidae, Teiidae, and Tropidophiidae.

Table 1. Amphibians and reptiles in the Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras, Bahia, Brazil. Key: **C.S.**-Conservation Status, DD: Data Deficient, LC: Least Concern; EN: Endangered, VU: Vulnerable, according: 1: Secretaria de Meio Ambiente – Bahia state, 2: Instituto Chico Mendes de Biodiversidade, 3: International Union for Conservation of Nature. **EN.**– endemism, AF: Atlantic Forest, BA: Bahia. **S.M**– sampling method, AS: Active search, Tr: visual and acoustic active search in transects, Op: opportunistic records, Bi: bibliographic revision, Mu: individuals deposited in the herpetological collection of the Museu de Zoologia of the Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz.

Class / Order / Family / Species	C.S.	EN.	S.M.
Amphibia			
Anura			
Brachycephalidae			
Brachycephalus pulex Napoli, Caramaschi, Cruz & Dias, 2011		AF, BA	Tr, AS, Mu
Ischnocnema verrucosa (Reinhardt & Lütken, 1862)	EN1	AF	AS
Ischnocnema cf. parva		AF	Tr, AS
Bufonidae			
Dendrophryniscus oreites Recoder, Teixeira, Cassimiro, Camacho &		AF, BA	Bi
Rodrigues, 2010			
Dendrophryniscus proboscideus (Boulenger, 1882)	DD ³	AF	AS, Bi
Rhinella crucifer (Wied-Neuwied, 1821)	LC ³	AF	Op, Mu, Bi
Rhinella hoogmoedi Caramaschi & Pombal, 2006	LC ³	AF	Op, Bi
Centrolenidae			
Vitreorana baliomma Pontes, Caramaschi & Pombal, 2014		AF	AS
Vitreorana eurygnatha (Lutz, 1925)	EN ¹ , LC ³		Tr, AS
Vitreorana sp. nov.		AF	AS
Vitreorana uranoscopa (Müller, 1924)	LC ³	AF	AS, Mu
Craugastoridae			-
<i>"Eleutherodactylus" bilineatus</i> (Bokermann, 1975)	LC ³	AF, BA	Op
Haddadus binotatus (Spix, 1824)	LC ³	AF	Tr, Op, Bi
Pristimantis sp. 1			Tr, AS
Pristimantis sp. 2			Tr, AS
Pristimantis paulodutrai (Bokermann, 1975)	LC ³	AF, BA	Tr, AS
Pristimantis vinhai (Bokermann, 1975)	LC ³	AF, BA	Tr, Op, Mu,
			Bi
Eleutherodactylidae			
Adelophryne sp. 2 (sensu Lourenço-de-Moraes et al. 2018)		AF	Tr, AS
Adelophryne sp. 8 (sensu Lourenço-de-Moraes et al. 2018)		AF	Tr, AS
Hemiphractidae			
Gastrotheca pulchra Caramaschi & Rodrigues, 2007		AF	Op
Gastrotheca recava Teixeira, Vechio, Recoder, Carnaval, Strangas,		AF, BA	Tr, AS, Op
Damasceno, Sena & Rodrigues, 2012			-
Hylidae			
Aplastodiscus ibirapitanga (Cruz, Pimenta & Silvano, 2003)	LC ³	AF	Op
Aplastodiscus weygoldti (Cruz & Peixoto, 1987)	NT ³	AF	Tr, Op
Boana albomarginata (Spix, 1824)	LC ³	AF	Op
Boana crepitans (Wied-Neuwied, 1824)			Bi, Mu
Boana exastis (Caramaschi & Rodrigues, 2003)	DD ³	AF	AS
Boana faber (Wied-Neuwied, 1821)	LC ³		Op, Bi
Boana pombali (Caramaschi, Pimenta & Feio, 2004)	LC ³	AF	Op
Bokermannohyla lucianae (Napoli & Pimenta, 2003)	DD ³	AF, BA	Tr, Op, Bi
Dendropsophus bipunctatus (Spix, 1824)	LC ³	AF	Bi
Dendropsophus branneri (Cochran, 1948)	LC ³	AF	AS
Dendropsophus aff. bromeliaceus		AF	Tr
Dendropsophus elegans (Wied-Neuwied, 1824)	LC ³	AF	AS, Bi

Class / Order / Family / Species	C.S.	EN.	S.M.
Dendropsophus haddadi (Bastos & Pombal, 1996)	LC ³	AF	AS
Dendropsophus minutus (Peters, 1872)	LC ³		Bi
Ololvgon strigilata (Spix, 1824)	DD ³	AF, BA	Op, Bi
Phyllodytes cf. maculosus		AF	Tr
Phyllodytes sp. 1		AF	Tr, AS, Op
Phyllodytes sp. 2		AF	Tr, AS, Op
Phyllodytes megatympanum Marciano, Lantver-Silva & Solé, 2017		AF, BA	Tr, AS
Scinax juncae Nunes & Pombal, 2010		AF, BA	AS, Bi
Scinax eurydice (Bokermann, 1968)	LC ³	AF	Mu
Scinax cf. x-signatus			AS, Op, Bi
Hylodidae			
Crossodactylus sp.			AS
Leptodactylidae			
Adenomera clade M (sensu Fouquet et al. 2014)		AF	AS
Crossodactylodes septentrionalis Teixeira, Recoder, Amaro, Damasceno,		AF, BA	AS
Cassimiro & Rodrigues, 2013			
Leptodactylus cf. latrans			Op, Bi
Phyllomedusidae			
Phasmahyla spectabilis Cruz, Feio & Nascimento, 2008	VU ¹ , DD ³	AF	Op
Phyllomedusa burmeisteri Boulenger, 1882	LC ³	AF	Tr, Bi
Reptilia			
Testudines			
Chelidae			
Hydromedusa maximiliani (Mikan, 1820)	EN ¹ , VU ³	AF	Mu
Squamata			
Amphisbaenidae			
Amphisbaena pretrei Duméril & Bibron, 1839	LC ³		Mu
Leposternon sp.			Mu
Boidae			
Corallus hortulanus (Linnaeus, 1758)	LC ³		Op, Mu
Epicrates cenchria (Linnaeus, 1758)			Mu
Colubridae			
Cercophis auratus (Schlegel, 1837)	VU ¹ , DD ³		Mu
Chironius exoletus (Linnaeus, 1758)			Mu
Chironius foveatus Bailey, 1955	LC ³	AF	Mu
Chironius fuscus (Linnaeus, 1758)			Tr, Op, Mu
Chironius laevicollis (Wied-Neuwied, 1824)	LC ³	AF	Mu
Coronelaps lepidus (Reinhardt, 1861)	LC ³	AF	Mu
Dipsas catesbyi (Sentzen, 1796)	LC ³		AS, Mu
Dipsas indica Laurenti, 1768			Mu
Dipsas neuwiedi (Ihering, 1911)	LC ³	AF	AS, Mu
Dipsas variegata (Duméril, Bibron & Duméril, 1854)			Mu
Drymoluber dichrous (Peters, 1863)	LC ³		Mu
Echinanthera cephalostriata Di Bernardo, 1996	LC ³	AF	Mu
Elapomorphus wuchereri Günther, 1861		AF	Mu
Erythrolamprus aesculapii (Linnaeus, 1758)			Mu
Erythrolamprus miliaris (Linnaeus, 1758)	LC ³		Mu
Erythrolamprus poecilogyrus (Wied-Neuwied, 1825)			Mu
Erythrolamprus reginae (Linnaeus, 1758)			Op, Mu
Erythrolamprus taeniogaster (Jan, 1863)	LC ³		Mu
Imantodes cenchoa (Linnaeus, 1758)	LC ³		Tr, Mu
Leptodeira annulata (Linnaeus, 1758)	LC ³		Mu
Oxybelis aeneus (Wagler, 1824)			Op, Mu

Class / Order / Family / Species	C.S.	EN.	S.M.
Oxyrhopus clathratus Duméril, Bibron & Duméril, 1854	VU ¹		Op
Oxyrhopus formosus (Wied-Neuwied, 1829)	EN1		Op, Mu
Oxyrhopus guibei Hoge & Romano, 1977	LC ³		Tr, Mu
Oxyrhopus petolarius (Linnaeus, 1758)			Mu
Philodryas olfersii (Lichtenstein, 1823)			Mu
Pseudoboa nigra (Duméril, Bibron & Duméril, 1854)			Mu
Siphlophis compressus (Daudin, 1803)	LC ³		Mu
Spilotes pullatus Linnaeus, 1758			Op, Mu
Spilotes sulphureus (Wagler, 1824)			Mu
Thamnodynastes cf. nattereri (Mikan, 1828)	LC ³		AS, Mu
Xenodon rabdocephalus (Wied-Neuwied, 1824)			Mu
Xenopholis scalaris (Wucherer, 1861)	LC ³		Op
Dactyloidae			<u> </u>
Anolis fuscoauratus D'Orbigny, 1837			Tr, Op
Elapidae			
Micrurus corallinus (Merrem, 1820)		AF	Mu
Gekkonidae			
Hemidactylus mabouia (Moreau de Jonnès, 1818)			Op
Gymnophthalmidae			
Leposoma nanodactylus Rodrigues, 1997	EN ¹ , ²	AF, BA	Tr, AS
Leposoma scincoides Spix, 1825		AF	Op
Leiosauridae			
Enyalius catenatus (Wied-Neuwied, 1821)	LC ³	AF	Tr, Op, Mu
Polychrotidae			
Polychrus marmoratus (Linnaeus, 1758)	LC ³		Mu
Teiidae			
Ameiva ameiva (Linnaeus, 1758)			Mu
Tropidophiidae			
Tropidophis grapiuna Curcio, Nunes, Argôlo, Skuk & Rodrigues, 2012	EN^1 , VU^2	AF, BA	Tr
Viperidae			
Bothrops bilineatus (Wied-Neuwied, 1821)	VU ¹		Op, Mu
Bothrops jararaca (Wied-Neuwied, 1824)		AF	Tr, Op, Mu
Bothrops leucurus Wagler, 1824			Mu
Lachesis muta (Linnaeus, 1766)	VU ¹		Mu

Forty amphibians and 13 reptiles are endemic of the Atlantic Forest biome. Of these, eleven species of anurans and two of reptiles are restricted to the state of Bahia; and two anurans, *Dendrophryniscus oreites* and *Crossodactylus septentrionalis*, to the PNSL (Table 1). Although some individuals of amphibian are identified as "sp.", "cf.", or "aff.", individuals of the genus *Phyllodytes* are being considered endemic to the biome, as, until now, they have not been reported from other biomes.

Conservation status

According to SEMA (2017), six of our recorded species are considered endangered at state level: *Ischnocnema verrucosa*, *Oxyrhopus formosus*, *Tropidophis grapiuna*, and *Vitreorana eurygnatha* are categorized as EN, and *O. clathratus* and *Phasmahyla spectabilis* as VU. At federal level, according to ICMBio (2018b, c) *Leposoma nanodactylus* is categorized as EN,



Figure 3. Amphibians recorded in the Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras: A Brachycephalus pulex
B Ischnocnema verrucosa C Ischnocnema cf. parva D Rhinella crucifer E Vitreorana baliomma F V. eurygnatha G Vitreorana sp.nov. H V. uranoscopa I Haddadus binotatus J Pristimantis sp. 1 K Pristimantis sp. 2
L Pristimantis paulodutrai M Pristimantis vinhai N Adelophryne sp. 8 O Adelophryne sp. 2 P Gastrotheca recava Q Aplastodiscus ibirapitanga R A. weygoldti S Boana faber T Bokermannohyla lucianae.

and *T. grapiuna* as VU. On the other hand, according to IUCN, *Bokermannohyla lucianae* and *P. spectabilis* are considered as DD, *Aplastodiscus weygoldti* as NT, and other 18 species as LC. However, 42 of the recorded species have not been categorized by IUCN (Table 1).

Discussion

Brazil is currently home to 1137 species of amphibians and 795 reptiles (Costa and Bérnils 2018; Segalla et al. 2019). However, new species are constantly being described from different biomes (Ferrão et al. 2017; Orrico et al. 2017; Vörös et al. 2017; Arias et al. 2018; among others), reflecting our scant knowledge about the species richness of these groups. From the state of Bahia, approximately 190 species of amphibians and



Figure 4. Amphibians and reptiles recorded in the Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras. A Dendropsophus branneri B Dendropsophus aff. bromeliaceus C D. elegans D D. haddadi E Ololygon strigilata F Phyllodytes sp. 1 G Scinax cf. x-signatus H Crossodactylus sp. I Adenomera clade M J Crossodactylodes septentrionalis
K Leptodactylus cf. latrans L Phasmahyla spectabilis M Phyllomedusa burmeisteri N Corallus hortulanus
O Chironius fuscus P Dipsas catesbyi Q Dipsas neuwiedi R Erythrolamprus reginae, S Imantodes cenchoa
T Oxybelis aeneus.

278 reptiles with ca. 129 species of snakes (Hamdan and Lira-da-Silva 2012; Dias et al. 2014; Costa and Bérnils 2018) have been reported so far. Here we report 49% of the total amphibian species and 19% of reptiles known for the state from an area slightly larger than 110 km². We believe that this number does not reflect the real diversity of amphibians and reptiles in the PNSL.

The first amphibian inventory undertaken at PNSL recorded 16 species (Silvano and Pimenta 2003). Due to taxonomic changes in different groups after that publication, we updated the binomial names and discuss some of the identifications. In order to avoid under- or overestimation of species richness, we assign the names to the species that were also found in our samples and hypothesize the presence of other species based on other records in nearby areas.

Species of *Bufo* were transferred to the genus *Rhinella* (Frost et al. 2006). *Rham-phophryne proboscidea* is now included in *Dendrophryniscus* (Fouquet et al. 2012a);



Figure 5. Reptiles recorded in the Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras. A Oxyrhopus clathratus B O. formosus C O. guibei D Xenopholis scalaris E Anolis fuscoauratus F Hemidactylus mabouia G Leposoma nanodactylus H L. scincoides L Enyalius catenatus J Tropidophis grapiuna K Bothrops bilineatus L B. jararaca.

we did not record this species, but its presence was confirmed in the last revision of the genus (see Cruz et al. 2019) and has also been reported in nearby areas (Silva et al. 2011). The ancient specious genus Eleutherodactylus was revised and several of its species have been transferred to other genera, thus E. binotatus moved to Haddadus (Hedges et al. 2008), and E. vinhai first to Ischnocnema (Heinicke et al. 2007, Hedges et al. 2008) and later to Pristimantis (Canedo and Haddad 2012). Likewise, the six reported species of Hyla currently belong to the following binomials: Boana crepitans, B. faber, Bokermannohyla lucianae, Dendropsophus bipunctatus, D. elegans, and D. minutus (Faivovich et al. 2005; Dubois 2017). We note that the record of Bokermannohyla lucianae was identified as "Hyla sp. n3" (Silvano and Pimenta 2003), with the species being described a year later (see Napoli and Pimenta 2004). We consider the record of Scinax cuspidatus as S. juncae because we recorded several individuals vocalizing in a pond. In the same way, the record of S. fuscovarius is now attributed to S. cf. x-signatus. Finally, we relate Leptodactylus ocellatus to L. cf. latrans, given that there are species delimitation problems, being barely distinguishable from the species complex including L. chaquensis and L. macrosternum (de Sá et al. 2014).

Dias et al. (2014) carried out an amphibian inventory in an area close to the PNSL, the RPPN Serra Bonita (SB), where they found 80 species. The SB, in addition to being close the PNSL (31.15 km away as a straight line), it shares the same relief characteristics (200–950 m) and vegetation types (Amorim et al. 2009). Our research differs from that developed by Dias et al. (2014) regarding the sampling effort (192 man hours in transects in the forest, versus 59.3 man hours in PNSL), installation of transects close to streams, and installation of pitfall traps. Although we sampled for several days in the rainy season (approximately one week), the presence of seasonal ponds was limited and, when formed, the number of species with expected explosive reproduc-

tion were not found (Duellman and Trueb 1994; Wells 2008). We also highlight that the area sampled in the PNSL represents only a small fraction of the park's extension.

We found 49 species of amphibians that represent more than half of those known from SB, an area considered to harbor the second largest species richness in the Atlantic Forest (Dias et al. 2014). PNSL and SB share 31 species of anurans. We believe that with more sampling efforts in streams, temporary and permanent ponds, and in other areas of the PNSL, we would find several of the species already reported from SB: *Boana semilineata, Bokermannohyla circumdata, Ceratophrys aurita, Chiasmocleis crucis, Dendropsophus anceps, D. giesleri, D. oliverai, Leptodactylus cupreus, L. mystaceus, Physalaemus camacan, P. erikae, Pipa carvalhoi, Pithecopus rhodei, Proceratophrys renalis, Pr. schirchi, Rhinella granulosa, R. jimi, Ololygon argyreonata, Siphonops annulatus, Sphaenorhynchus prasinus, Stereocyclops histrio, S. incrassatus,* and *Trachycephalus mesophaeus* which would increase our list by another 24 species. However, in the PNSL we have recorded four species not yet reported from the SB, *Dendropsophus cf. bromeliaceus, Gastrotheca recava, Vitreorana baliomma,* and *Vitreorana* sp. nov.

Considering the taxonomic uncertainties and the possibility of undescribed entities in the region, we try to assign identifications to the finest possible level. *Pristimantis* sp. 1 differs from all other species of *Pristimantis* found in the PNSL by its eye color, spotted dorsal pattern, and call parameters. *Pristimantis* sp. 2 is the same species reported as *Pristimantis* sp. from the Reserva Ecológica Michelin (Mira-Mendes et al. 2018). Fouquet et al. (2012b) defined *Adelophryne* populations from neighboring areas as *A. pachydactyla* but further research refuted this hypothesis (see Dominato et al. 2018; Lourenço-de-Moraes et al. 2018). In our sampling we found two species of this genus and due to their morphological characteristics, we identified them as *Adelophryne* sp. 2 and *Adelophryne* sp. 8 sensu Lourenço-de-Moraes et al. (2018). Likewise, individuals from *Adenomera* are attributed to clade M, sensu Fouquet et al. (2014).

The flea-toad, *Brachycephalus pulex*, was known only from the upper parts of the type locality in Serra Bonita (Napoli et al. 2011). Our record expands its distribution by 31 km in a straight line. *Bokermannohyla lucianae* appears to have a distribution bounded by the Cachoeira and Jequitinhonha rivers in the southern part of Bahia (Dias et al. 2011), with PNSL being only the fourth known location for the species. *Pristimantis* sp. 2 is distributed in lowland forest of southern Bahia (Mira-Mendes et al. 2018).

Five species of the genus *Vitreorana* are known from the Atlantic Forest biome (Rossa-Feres et al. 2017). Although Rossa-Feres et al. (2017) considered *V. eurygnatha* as endemic to the Atlantic Forest, the species was reported in a locality within the Cerrado biome (Cintra et al. 2013). However, the PNSL, with four syntopic species (*V. baliomma, V. eurygnatha, V. uranoscopa*, and one species as yet undescribed) is the most diverse site for the genus in the Atlantic Forest, where usually only one or two species are found (see Pontes et al. 2014; Dias et al. 2014; Mira-Mendes et al. 2018). We heard vocalizations of *V. eurygnatha* and *V. uranoscopa* in the months of February and April, and *V. baliomma* only in April, all records being made in 2018. All these species use the vegetation on the banks of streams to vocalize, mate, and for oviposition (Haga et al. 2014; Zaracho 2014), with *V. baliomma* and *V. eurygnatha* sharing vocalization

microhabitats. The new species of *Vitreorana* differs from the others by morphological and genetic characters.

Most of the reptile's records were obtained from material deposited at MZUESC. During our systematic sampling, we did not install pitfall traps, which could have increased the number of lizards and snakes of terrestrial and fossorial habitats in our records (Cechin and Martins 2000). At the same time, the fact that our samplings were carried out mainly at night may have privileged the record of amphibian species (Doan 2003). We emphasize that, in the methodological evaluations, eleven species were recorded by a single individual. In absolute numbers, the PNSL can be considered as the third locality with the greatest reptile richness in the state of Bahia, being only surpassed by the Serra da Jibóia and the Serra do Timbó, with 59 and 54 species, respectively (vs. 51 from PNSL) (Freitas et al. 2018; Freitas et al. 2019).

The rare turtle *Hydromedusa maximiliani* has records associated to water bodies within primary forests in mountainous regions, with previous records from other localities in Bahia (Argôlo and Freitas 2002). Although Tozetti et al. (2017) considered *Oxyrhopus formosus* to be endemic to the Atlantic Forest, its distribution is unclear with records scattered through the Brazilian, Ecuadorian, and Peruvian Amazon (Catenazzi et al. 2013; Wallach et al. 2014; Costa and Bérnils 2018). This taxon is considered a species complex with populations in Guyana, Colombia, and some places in Ecuador having been reidentified as *O. occipitalis* (Lynch 2009; MacCulloch et al. 2009). In the Atlantic Forest, *O. formosus* is considered a rare species categorized as EN in the state of Bahia (Argôlo 2004; SEMA 2017), and reported from four localities within this biome: Almadina and Coaraci (Argôlo et al. 2012; Dias et al. 2014b) and Mucuri, the type locality (sensu Vanzolini and Myers 2015), all in the state of Bahia; and Duas Barras in Espírito Santo state (Tonini et al. 2010). Considering the conservation status and doubts about its geographical distribution, molecular, pholidosic, and other morphological data can help solve the taxonomic problem of this species with disjunct distribution.

Oxyrhopus clathratus inhabits dense coastal ombrophilous and mixed ombrophilous forests from the northeast and southeast of Brazil (Tozetti et al. 2017), and reaches the north of Argentina (Di-Bernardo et al. 2012). Di-Bernardo et al. (2012) suggested that the color patterns of individuals are related to altitude, and the pattern of our individual is consistent with the one most common in lowland areas, although found at ~750 m. Our record represents the third for Bahia, having previously been found in Barra do Choça (Argôlo 2001) and in the SB (Medeiros et al. 2010).

Only two individuals of *Tropidophis grapiuna* are known in the literature, both collected in ombrophilous forest between 725–750 m altitude in the southern portion of Bahia (Curcio et al. 2012). Since its description, no other individuals have been collected. We found an individual in the leaf litter at 550 m, representing the first collected male, the lowest altitudinal record, and the first record inside a conservation area for this species.

The species *Cercophis auratus, Echinanthera cephalostriata, Hydromedusa maximiliani, Oxyrhopus clathratus*, and *Tropidophis grapiuna* represent populations restricted to montane forests in the latitude range of this study (Argôlo and Freitas 2002; Argôlo 2009). In fact, long-term sampling in southern Bahia has never detected any of these species in the lowlands of the region (Argôlo 2004). The lizards *Leposoma nanodactylus* and *L. puk* are known principally from mountain forests of southern Bahia. *Leposoma nanodactylus* has records in the PNSL and, in view of the known distribution of *L. puk* (Rodrigues et al. 2002; Rodrigues et al. 2013), it is likely that this species also occurs there. This information helps to highlight the importance of the PNSL for biodiversity conservation.

Of the 100 species reported in the PNSL, 53 are endemic to the Atlantic Forest and 13 of these are endemic to the state of Bahia, of which only two, *Crossodactylodes septentrionalis* and *Dendrophryniscus oreites*, are, until now, restricted to the park. One of the theories to explain the large number of endemic species in this biome is that of the Pleistocene refuge hypothesis (Haffer 1997). The PNSL is located inside the "Refúgio da Bahia", identified as the one with the greatest extension in the biome, a zone of climatic stability that allowed the maintenance of different species during the last glacial maximum (Carnaval et al. 2009). In this way, the altitude areas of the region may have functioned as opportune places of climatic stability and, subsequently allowed a diversification of the surviving fauna (Graham et al. 2014).

Climatic conditions in these areas can shape the lives of the amphibians and reptiles that inhabit them (Duellman and Trueb 1994). It has been proposed that small frogs of the genus *Brachycephalus* inhabit areas of altitude due to a dependence on temperature and microclimate that are modulated by mist (Haddad et al. 2008). The scarcity of water bodies in the higher parts of the mountains may have favored these places to be occupied by species of genera with direct development, such as *Adelophryne*, *Brachycephalus*, *Ischnocnema*, and *Pristimantis* (Siqueira and Rocha 2013), and those using bromeliads for tadpole development, *Crossodactylodes* spp. and *Phyllodytes* spp. (Sabagh et al. 2017). In fact, we found species of these genera in the highest locals of the PNSL where bromeliads are more abundant.

Lastly, the expansion of agricultural activities, particularly coffee crops, seems to be a threat to the PNSL. During our fieldwork, we found that areas destined for this cultivation are being expanded between Arataca municipality and the PNSL borders. Within the PNSL, we noted the absence of monkey vocalizations and other mammal footprints on the trails and edges of streams. During the days in the field, although we did not hear shotguns, we did find some traps set up for hunting small mammals. Some residents have reported that hunting activity was frequent in the region. The areas of cabruca are still being utilized and we did not record any expansion of use during our visits. On one of the trails towards a mountain ridge, called "Peito de Moça" by locals, we saw an open area under recovery with abundant ferns and shrub vegetation and the presence of an abandoned wooden house. Among these threats, habitat loss was identified as the most visible and probably the main threat for amphibian and reptile species in Brazil (Rodrigues 2005; Silvano and Segalla 2005).

We conclude that the Parque Nacional da Serra das Lontras harbors a representative number of species of amphibians and reptiles, many of which are endemic to the Atlantic Forest and to the state. The new records of endemic, endangered, and species new to science reveal it as an outstanding area for the conservation and maintenance of ecological and evolutionary processes in this portion of southern Bahia, a region already known for its abundant biodiversity.

Acknowledgements

First of all, we want to dedicate this work to the memory of Zezito; his kindness, hospitality, and advice were of great importance to the fieldwork and the successful completion of this work. We thank Caio V. de Mira-Mendes, Camila Cassano, Carol Barreto, Elaine Macêdo, Gabriel Novaes e Fagundes, Leildo Carilo, Ramon Dominato Renan Nunes Costa, Rudolf von May, Paulo Machado, Pedro Peloso, and Tadeu Medeiros for the support and suggestions in different stages of the work. Pablo Monan, Fernanda Natascha Pimentel Freitas, Laísa Santos, Marcos Vinicius Coutinho Ferreira, Marcelo Sena, Erick Leandro Santos, and Victor Zucchetti for their company during the field trips. To Nathalie Yonow, Pedro Calixto, Pedro Taucce, and Santiago Castroviejo-Fisher for comments on drafts of the manuscript. To Paula and Zirlene for their support and for sharing Zezito's house with us after his unexpected departure. ORP thanks Programa de Alianzas para la Educación y la Capacitación de la Organización de Estados Americanos and the Grupo Coimbra de Universidades Brasileñas (PAEC OEA-GCUB) and the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) – Finance Code 001, to Idea Wild for donation of field equipment, and particularly to Ariadne Angulo and Meri Ushiñahua. MS acknowledges funding by the Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) (304999/2015-6) and Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES)/Alexander von Humboldt Foundation (AvH) for an experienced researcher grant (BEX 0585/16-5). VGDO thanks CNPq (Project numbers: 310467/2017-9 and 431772/2018-4). IRD is grateful for the scholarships provided by CNPq (Project: 406899/2017-7, Process: 167387/2017-0 and 155198/2018-1).

References

- Amorim AM, Jardim JG, Lopes MMM, Fiaschi P, Borges RAX, Perdiz R de O, Thomas WW (2009) Angiospermas em remanescentes de floresta montana no sul da Bahia, Brasil. Biota Neotropica 9: 313–348. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032009000300028
- Argôlo AJS (2001) Geographic distribution. Oxyrhopus clathratus. Herpetological Review 32(1): 61.
- Argôlo AJS, Freitas MA (2002) Geographic distribution. *Hydromedusa maximiliani*. Herpetological Review 33(2): 147.
- Argôlo AJS (2004) As serpentes dos cacauais do sudeste da Bahia. Editus. Ilhéus, 260 pp.
- Argôlo AJS (2009) Composição faunística e distribuição geográfica de serpentes na Mata Atlântica do sul da Bahia. PhD thesis, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro.
- Argôlo AJS, Dias IR, de Jesus JA, Medeiros TT (2012) *Oxyrhopus formosus* (False Coralsnake). Elevation. Herpetological Review 43(1): 150.
- Arias FJ, Recoder RS, Álvarez BB, Ethcepare E, Quipildor M, Lobo F, Rodrigues MT (2018) Diversity of teiid lizards from Gran Chaco and Western Cerrado (Squamata: Teiidae). Zoologica Scripta 47(2): 144–158. https://doi.org/10.1111/zsc.12277

- Bernardo PH, Machado FA, Murphy RW, Zaher H (2012) Redescription and morphological variation of Oxyrhopus clathratus Duméril, Bibron and Duméril, 1854 (Serpentes: Dipsadidae: Xenodontinae). South American Journal of Herpetology 7(2): 134–148. https://doi. org/10.2994/057.007.0203
- Böhm M, Collen B, Baillie JEM, Bowles P, Chanson J, Cox N, Hammerson G, Hoffman M, Livingstone SR, Ram M, Rhodin AGJ, Stuart SN, van Dijk PP, Young BE, Afuang LE, Aghasyan A, García A, Aguilar C, Ajtic R, Akarsu F, Alencar LRV, Allison A, Ananjeva N, Anderson S, Andrén C, Ariano-Sánchez D, Arredondo JC, Auliya M, Austin C, Avci A, Baker PJ, Barreto-Lima AF, Barrio-Amorós CL, Basu D, Bates MF, Batistella A, Bauer A, Bennett D, Böhme W, Broadley D, Brwon R, Burgess J, Captain A, Carreira S, Castañeda MdR, Castro F, Catenazzi A, Cedeño-Vázqeuz JR, Chappel DG, Cheylan M, Cisneros-Heredia DF, Cogalniceanu D, Cogger H, Corti C, Costa GC, Couper PJ, Courtney T, Crnobrnja-Isailovic J, Crochet P-A, Crother B, Cruz F, Daltry JC, Daniels RJR, Das I, de Silva A, Diesmos AC, Dirksen L, Doan TM, Dood Jr CK, Doody JS, Dorcas ME, Filho JDB, Egan VT, El Mouden EH, Embert D, Espinoza RE, Fallabrino A, Feng X, Feng Z-J, Fitzgerald L, Flores-Villela O, França FGR, Frost D, Gadsden H, Gamble T, Ganesh SR, Garcia MA, García-Pérez JE, Gatus J, Gaulke M, Geniez P, Georges A, Gerlach J, Goldberg S, Gonzalez J-CT, Gower DJ, Grant T, Greenbaum E, Grieco C, Guo P, Hamilton AM, Hare K, Hedges B, Heideman N, Hilton-Taylor C, Hitchmough R, Hollingsworth B, Hutchinson M, Ineich I, Iverson J, Jaksic FM, Jenkins R, Joger U, Jose R, Kaska Y, Kaya U, Keogh JS, Köhler G, Kuchling G, Kumulats Y, Kwet A, La Marca E, Lamar W, Lanae A, Lardner B, Latta C, Latta G, Lau M, Lavin P, Lawson D, LeBetron M, Lehr E, Limpus D, Lipczynski N, Lobo AS, López-Luna MA, Luiselli L, Lukoschek V, Lundberg M, Lymberakis P, Macey R, Magnusson WE, Mahler DL, Malhotra A, Mariaux J, Martiz B, Marques OAV, Márquez R, Martins M, Masterson G, Mateo JA, Mathew R, Mathews N, Mayer G, McCranie J, Measey GJ, Mendoza-Quijano F, Menegon M, Métrailler S, Milton DA, Montgomery C, Morato SAA, Mott T, Muñoz-Alonso A, Murphy J, Nguyen TQ, Nilson G, Nogueira C, Núñez H, Orlov N, Ota H, Ottenwalder J, Papenfuss T, Pasachnik S, Passos P, Pauwels OSG, Pérez-Buitrago N, Pérez-Mellado V, Pianka ER, Pleguezuelos J, Pollock C, Ponce-Campos P, Powell R, Pupin F, Quintero Díaz G, Radder R, Ramer J, Rasmussen AR, Raxworthy C, Reynolds R, Richman N, Rico EL, Riservato E, Rivas G, Rocha PLB, Rödel M-O, Rodríguez Schettino L, Roosenburg WM, Ross JP, Saked R, Sanders K, Santos-Barrera G, Schleich HH, Schmidt B, Schmitz A, Sharifi M, Shea G, Shi H-T, Shine R, Sindaco R, Slimani T, Somaweera R, Spawls S, Stafford P, Stuebing R, Sweet S, Sy E, Temple HJ, Tognelli MF, Tolley K, Tolson PJ, Tuniyev B, Tuniyev S, Üzüm N, van Buurt G, Van Sluys M, Velasco A, Vences M, Veselý M, Vinke S, Vinke T, Vogel G, Vogrin M, Vogt RC, Wearn OR, Werner YL, Whiting MJ, Wiewandt T, Wilkinson J, Wilson B, Wren S, Zamin T, Zhou K, Zub G (2013) The conservation status of the world's reptiles. Biological Conservation 157: 372-385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.07.015
- Butchart SHM, Walpole M, Collen B, van Strein A, Scharlemann JPW, Almond RE, Baillie JEM, Bomhard B, Brown C, Bruno J, Carpenter KE, Carr GM, Chanson J, Chenery AM, Csirke J, Davidson NC, Dentener F, Foster M, Galli A, Galloway JN, Genovesi P, Gregory RD, Hockings M, Kapos V, Lamarque J-F, Leverington F, Loh J, McGeoch MA, McRae L, Minasyan A, Hernández Morcillo M, Oldfield TEE, Pauly D, Quader S, Revenga C, Sauer JR, Skolnik B, Spear D, Stanwell-Smith D, Stuart SN, Symes A, Tierney M, Tyrrel

TD, Vié J-C, Watson R (2010) Global Biodiversity: Indicators of Recent Declines. Science 328(5982): 1164–1168. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1187512

- Canedo C, Haddad CFB (2012) Phylogenetic relationships within anuran clade Terrarana, with emphasis on the placement of Brazilian Atlantic rainforest frog genus *Ischnocnema* (Anura: Brachycephalidae). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 65(2): 610–620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2012.07.016
- Carnaval AC, Hickerson MJ, Haddad CFB, Rodrigues MT, Moritz C (2009) Stability predicts genetic diversity in the Brazilian Atlantic Forest Hotspot. Science 323(5915): 785–789. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1166955
- Catenazzi A, Lehr E, von May R (2013) The amphibians and reptiles of Manu National Park and its buffer zone, Amazon basin and eastern slopes of the Andes, Peru. Biota Neotropica 13(4): 269–283. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032013000400024
- Cintra CED, da Silva HLR, da Silva Jr NJ (2013) New state record of *Vitreorana eurygnatha* (Lutz 1925) (Anura: Centrolenidae) in Brazil. Herpetology Notes 6: 587–590.
- Cechin SZ, Martins M (2000) Eficiência de armadilhas de queda (pitfall traps) em amostragens de anfíbios e répteis no Brasil. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia 17(3): 729–740. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0101-81752000000300017
- Costa HC, Bérnils RS (2018) Répteis do Brasil e suas Unidades Federativas: Lista de espécies. Herpetologia Brasileira 7(1): 11–57.
- Cruz CAG, Caramaschi U, Fusinatto LA, Brasileiro CA (2019) Taxonomic review of *Den-drophryniscus brevipollicatus* Jiménez de la Espada, 1870, with revalidation of *D. imitator* (Miranda-Ribeiro, 1920) and *D. lauroi* Miranda-Ribeiro, 1926, and description of four new related species (Anura, Bufonidae). Zootaxa 4648(1): 027–062. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4648.1.2
- Curcio FF, Nunes PMS, Argôlo AJS, Skuk G, Rodrigues MT (2012) Taxonomy of the South American Dwarf Boas of the genus *Tropidophis* Bibron, 1840, with the description of two new species from the Atlantic Forest (Serpentes: Tropidophiidae). Herpetological Monographs 26(1): 80–121. https://doi.org/10.1655/HERPMONOGRAPHS-D-10-00008.1
- de Sá RO, Grant T, Camargo A, Heyer WR, Ponssa ML, Stanley E (2014) Systematics of the Neotropical genus of *Leptodactylus* Fitzinger, 1826 (Anura: Leptodactylidae): Phylogeny, the relevance of non-molecular evidence, and species accounts. South American Journal of Herpetology 9(s1): S1–S100. https://doi.org/10.2994/SAJH-D-13-00022.1
- Dias IR, Medeiros TT, Nova MFV, Solé M (2014) Amphibians of Serra Bonita, Southern Bahia: A new hotpoint within Brazil's Atlantic Forest hotspot. ZooKeys 449: 105–130. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.449.7494
- Dias IR, Medeiros TT, Solé M, Pimenta BVS (2011) Amphibia, Anura, Hylidae, Bokermannohyla lucianae (Napoli and Pimenta, 2003): Distribution extension and geographic distribution map. Check List 7(2): 108–109. https://doi.org/10.15560/7.2.108
- Dias IR, Mira-Mendes CV, Solé M (2014b) Rapid inventory of herpetofauna at the APA (Environmental Protection Area) of the Lagoa Encantada and Rio Almada, Southern Bahia, Brazil. Herpetology Notes 7: 627–637.
- Doan TM (2003) Which methods are most effective for surveying Rain Forest Herpetofauna? Journal of Herpetology 37(1): 72–81. https://doi.org/10.1670/0022-1511(2003)037[0072:WMAMEF]2.0.CO;2

- Dominato RC, Cassini CS, Silva JG, Orrico VGD (2018) On the identity of Adelophryne pachydactyla Hoogmoed, Borges, and Cascon, 1994 (Brachycephaloidae: Eleutherodactylidae). Zootaxa 4444(5): 575–583. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4444.5.5
- Dubois A (2017) The nomenclatural status of *Hysaplesia*, *Hylaplesia*, *Dendrobates* and related nomina (Amphibia, Anura), with general comments on zoological nomenclature and its governance, as well as on taxonomic databases and websites. Bionomina 11: 1–48. https:// doi.org/10.11646/bionomina.11.1.1
- Duellman WE, Trueb L (1994) Biology of Amphibians. McGraw-Hill Publishing Company, Baltimore-Maryland, 613 pp.
- Faivovich J, Haddad CFB, Garcia PCA, Frost DR, Campbell JA, Wheller WC (2005) Systematic review of the frog family Hylidae, with special reference to Hylinae: Phylogenetic analysis and taxonomic revision. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 294: 1–240. https://doi.org/10.1206/0003-0090(2005)294[0001:SROTFF]2.0.CO;2
- Ferrão M, Moravec J, de Fraga R, de Almeida AP, Kaefer IL, Lima AP (2017) A new species of Scinax from the Purus-Madeira interfluve, Brazilian Amazonia (Anura, Hylidae). ZooKeys 706: 137–162. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.706.14691
- Fouquet A, Recorder R, Teixeira Jr M, Cassimiro J, Amaro RC, Camacho A, Damasceno R, Carnaval AC, Moritz C, Rodrigues MT (2012a) Molecular phylogeny and morphometric analyses reveal deep divergence between Amazonia and Atlantic Forest species of *Dendrophryniscus*. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 62(3): 826–838. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ympev.2011.11.023
- Fouquet A, Loebmann D, Castroviejo-Fisher S, Padial JM, Orrico VGD, Lyra ML, Roberto IJ, Kok PJR, Haddad CFB, Rodrigues MT (2012b) From Amazonia to the Atlantic forest: Molecular phylogeny of Phyzelaphryninae frogs reveals unexpected diversity and a striking biogeographic pattern emphasizing conservation challenges. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 65(2): 547–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2012.07.012
- Fouquet A, Cassini CS, Haddad CFB, Pech N, Rodrigues MT (2014) Species delimitation, patterns of diversification and historical biogeography of the Neotropical frog genus Adenomera (Anura, Leptodactylidae). Journal of Biogeography 41(5): 855–870. https://doi. org/10.1111/jbi.12250
- Franco FL, Ferreira TG (2002) Descrição de uma nova espécie de *Thamnodynastes* Wagler, 1830 (Serpentes, Colubridae) do nordeste brasileiro, com comentários sobre o gênero. Phyllomedusa 1(2): 57–74. https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.2316-9079.v1i2p57-74
- Freitas MA, Abegg AD, Dias IR, Moraes EPF (2018) Herpetofauna from Serra da Jibóia, an Atlantic Rainforest remnant in the state of Bahia, northeastern Brazil. Herpetology Notes 11: 59–72.
- Freitas MA, Silva TFS, Fonseca PM, Hamdan B, Filadelfo T, Abegg AD (2019) Herpetofauna of Serra do Timbó, an Atlantic Forest remnant in Bahia state, northeastern Brazil. Herpetology Notes 12: 245–260.
- Frost DR, Grant T, Faivovich J, Bain RH, Hass A, Haddad CFB, de Sá RO, Channing A, Wilkinson M, Donnellan SC, Raxworthy CJ, Campbell JA, Blotto BL, Moler P, Drewes RC, Nussbaum RA, Lynch JD, Green DM, Wheeler WC (2006) The amphibian tree of life. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 297: 1–291. https://doi. org/10.1206/0003-0090(2006)297[0001:TATOL]2.0.CO;2

- Frost DR (2020) Amphibian Species of the World: an Online Reference. Version 6.0. American Museum of Natural History. http://research.amnh.org/vz/herpetology/amphibia/
- Graham CH, Carnaval AC, Cadena CD, Zamudio KR, Roberts TE, Parra JL, Mccain CM, Bowie RCK, Moritz C, Baines SB, Schneider CJ, Vanderwal J, Rahbek C, Kozak KH, Sanders NJ (2014) The origin and maintenance of montane diversity: integrating evolutionary and ecological processes. Ecography 37(8): 711–719. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ecog.00578
- Haddad CFB, Giovanelli JGR, Alexandrino J (2008) O aquecimento global e seus efeitos na distribuição e declínio dos anfíbios. In: Buckeridge MS (Ed.) Biologia e Mudanças Climáticas no Brasil. RiMa, São Carlos, 195–206.
- Haffer J (1997) Alternative models of vertebrate speciation in Amazonia: An overview. Biodiversity & Conservation 6(3): 451–476. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018320925954
- Haga IA, de Andrade FS, Toscano NP, Kwet A, Giaretta AA (2014) Advertisement call and habitat of *Vitreorana uranoscopa* (Anura: Centrolenidae) in Brazil. Salamandra 50(4): 236–240.
- Hamdan B, Lira-da-Silva RM (2012) The snakes of Bahia state, northeastern Brazil: species richness, composition and biogeographical notes. Salamandra 48(1): 31–50.
- Hedges SB, Duellman WE, Heinicke MP (2008) New World direct-developing frogs (Anura: Terrana): molecular phylogeny, classification, biogeography, and conservation. Zootaxa 1737: 1–182. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.1737.1.1
- Heinicke MP, Duellman WE, Hedges SB (2007) Major Caribbean and Central American frog faunas originated by ancient oceanic dispersal. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104: 10092–10097. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0611051104
- Heyer WR, Donnelly MA, McDiarmid RW, Hayek L-AC, Foster MS (1994) Measuring and monitoring biological diversity: standard methods for Amphibians. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, 320 pp.
- Hoffmann M, Hilton-Tayor C, Angulo A, Böhm M, Brooks TM, Butchart SHM, Carpenter KE, Chanson J, Collen B, Cox NA, Darwall WRT, Dulvy NK, Harrison LR, Katariya V, Pollock CM, Quader S, Richman NI, Rodrigues ASL, Tognelli MF, Vié J-C, Aguiar JM, Allen DJ, Allen GR, Amori G, Ananjeva NB, Andreone F, Andrew P, Aquino Ortiz AL, Baillie JEM, Baldi R, Bell BD, Biju SD, Bird JP, Black-Decima P, Blanc JJ, Bolaños F, Bolivar-G W, Burfield IJ, Burton JA, Capper DR, Castro F, Catullo G, Cavanagh RD, Channing A, Chao NL, Chenery AM, Chiozza F, Clausnitzer V, Collar NJ, Collet LC, Collete BB, Cortez Fernandez CF, Craig MT, Crosby MJ, Cumberlidg N, Cuttelod A, Derocher AE, Diesmos AC, Donaldson JS, Duckworth JW, Durson G, Dutta SK, Emslie RH, Farjon A, Fowler S, Freyhof J, Garshelis DL, Gerlach J, Gower DJ, Grant TD, Hammerson GA, Harris RB, Heaney L, Hedges SB, Hero J-M, Hughes B, Hussain SA, Icochea JM, inger RF, Ishii N, Iskandar D, Jenkins RKB, Kaneko Y, Kottelat M, Kovacs KM, Kuzmin SL, La Marca E, Lamoreux JF, Lau MWN, Lavilla EO, Leus K, Lewison RL, Lichtestein G, Livingstone SR, Lukoschek V, Mallon DP, McGowan PJK, McIvor A, Moehlman PD, Molur S, Muñoz Alonso A, Musick JA, Nowell K, Nussbaum RA, Olech W, Orlov NL, Papenfuss TJ, Parra-Olea G, Perrin WF, Polidoro BA, Pourkazemi M, Racey PA, Ragle JS, Ram M, Rathbun G, Reynolds RP, Rhoding AGJ, Richards SJ, Rodríguez LO, Ron SR, Rondinini C, Rylands AB, Mitcheson YS, Sanciangco JC, Sanders KL, Santos-Barrera G, Schipper J, Self-Sullivan C, Shi Y, Shoemaker A, Short FT, Sillero-Zubiri C, Silvano DL, Smith KG, Smith AT, Snoeks J, Statters-

field AJ, Symes AJ, Taber AB, Talukdar BK, Temple HJ, Timmins R, Tobias JA, Tsytsulina K, Tweddle D, Ubeda C, Valenti S, van Dijk PP, Veiga LM, Veloso A, Wege DC, Wilkinson M, Williamson, Xie F, Young BE, Akçakaya HR, Bennun L, Blackburn TM, Boitani L, Dublin HT, da Fonseca GAB, Gascon C, Lacher Jr TE, Mace GM, Mainka SA, McNeely JA, Mittermeier RA, Red GM, Rodriguez JP, Rosenberg AA, Samways MJ, Smart J, Stein BA, Stuart SN (2010) The Impact of Conservation on the Status of the World's Vertebrates. Science 330(6010): 1503–1509. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1194442

- ICMBio (2018a) Livro Vermelho da Fauna Brasileira Ameaçada de Extinção. Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade/Ministerio do Meio Ambiente, Brasilia, 492 pp.
- ICMBio (2018b) Livro Vermelho da Fauna Brasileira Ameaçada de Extinção. Volume IV -Répteis. Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade/Ministerio do Meio Ambiente, Brasília, 1–252 pp.
- ICMBio (2018c) Livro Vermelho da Fauna Brasileira Ameaçada de Extinção. Volume V Anfíbios. Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade/Ministerio do Meio Ambiente, Brasília, 1–127.
- IUCN (2019) IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2019-2 http://www.iucnredlist.org/
- Kottek M, Grieser J, Beck C, Rudolf B, Rubel F (2006) WorldMap of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. Meteorologische Zeitschrift 15(3): 259–263. https://doi. org/10.1127/0941-2948/2006/0130
- Lips KR, Burrowes PA, Mendelson III JR, Parra-Olea G (2005) Amphibian declines in Latin America: widespread population declines, extinctions, and impacts. Biotropica 37(2): 163–165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2005.00023.x
- Lourenço-de-Moraes R, Dias IR, Mira-Mendes CV, de Oliveira RM, Barth A, Ruas DS, Vences M, Solé M, Bastos RP (2018) Diversity of miniaturized frogs of the genus *Adelophryne* (Anura: Eleutherodactylidae): A new species from the Atlantic Forest of northeast Brazil. PLoS ONE 13(9): e0201781. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201781
- Lynch JD (2009) Snakes of the genus *Oxyrhopus* (Colubridae: Squamata) in Colombia: taxonomy and geographic variation. Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia (São Paulo) 49(25): 319–337. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0031-10492009002500001
- Macculloch RD, Lathrop A, Kok PJR, Ernst R, Kalamandeen M (2009) The genus Oxyrhopus (Serpentes: Dipsadidae: Xenodontinae) in Guyana: morphology, distributions and comments on taxonomy. Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia 49(36): 487–495. https://doi. org/10.1590/S0031-10492009003600001
- Medeiros TT, Dias IR, Nova MFV, Argôlo AJS (2010) *Oxyrhopus clathratus* (False Coral Snake). Herpetological Review 41(4): 517.
- Mira-Mendes CV, Ruas DS, de Oliveira RM, Castro IM, Dias IR, Baumgarten JE, Juncá FA, Solé M (2018) Amphibians of the Reserva Ecológica Michelin: a high diversity site in the lowland Atlantic Forest of southern Bahia, Brazil. ZooKeys 753: 1–21. https://doi. org/10.3897/zookeys.753.21438
- Morellato LPC, Haddad CFB (2000) Introduction: The Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Biotropica 32(4): 786–792. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2000.tb00618.x
- Myers N, Mittermeier RA, Mittermeier CG, Fonseca GAB, Kent J (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature 403: 853–858. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002501

- Napoli MF, Pimenta BVS (2003) Nova espécie do grupo de *Hyla circumdata* (Cope, 1870) do sul da Bahia, Brasil (Amphibia, Anura, Hylidae). Arquivos do Museu Nacional, Rio de Janeiro 61(3): 189–194.
- Napoli MF, Caramaschi U, Cruz CAG, Dias IR (2011) A new species of flea-toad genus *Brachycephalus* Fitzinger (Amphibia: Anura: Brachycephalidae), from the Atlantic rainforest of southern Bahia, Brazil. Zootaxa 2739(1): 33–40. https://doi.org/10.11646/ zootaxa.2739.1.3
- Oliveira-Filho A, Fontes MAL (2000) Patterns of Floristic Differentiation among Atlantic Forests in Southeastern Brazil and the Influence of Climate. Biotropica 32(4b): 793–810. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2000.tb00619.x
- Oliveira U, Soares-Filho BS, Paglia AP, Brescovit AD, de Carvalho CJB, Silva DP, Rezende DT, Leite FSF, Batista JAN, Barbosa JPPP, Stehmann JR, Ascher JS, de Vasconcelos MF, De Marco P, Löwenberg-Neto P, Ferro VG, Santos AJ (2017) Biodiversity conservation gaps in the Brazilian protected areas. Scientific Reports 7: 9141. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-017-08707-2
- Orrico VGD, Nunes I, Mattedi C, Fouquet A, Lemos AW, Rivera-Correa M, Lyra ML, Loebmann D, Pimenta BVS, Caramaschi U, Rodrigues MT, Haddad CFB (2017) Integrative taxonomy supports the existence of two distinct species within *Hypsiboas crepitans* (Anura: Hylidae). Salamandra 53: 99–113.
- Pacheco JF, Whitney BM, Gonzaga LP (1996) A new genus and species of furnariid (Aves: Furnariidae) from the cocoa-growing region of southeastern Bahia, Brazil. Wilson Bulletin 108(3): 397–606.
- Recoder RS, Teixeira MJ, Cassimiro J, Camacho A, Rodrigues MT (2010) A new species of *Dendrophryniscus* (Amphibia, Anura, Bufonidae) from the Atlantic Rainforest of southern Bahia, Brazil. Zootaxa 44: 36–44. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.2642.1.3
- Rodrigues MT (2005) The conservation of Brazilian reptiles: challenges for a megadiverse country. Conservation Biology 19(3): 659–664. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2005.00690.x
- Rossa-Feres D, Garey MV, Caramaschi U, Napoli MF, Nomura F, Bispo AA, Aguirre Brasileiro C, Thomé MT, Sawaya R, Conte CE, da Cruz CAG, Nascimento L, Gasparini J, Almeida AP, Haddad CFB (2017) Anfíbios da Mata Atlântica: Lista de espécies, histórico dos estudos, biologia e conservação. In: Monteiro-Filho ELA and Conte CE (Eds) Revisões em Zoologia, Mata Atlântica. Editora UFPR, Curitiba, 237–314.
- Sabagh LT, Ferreira RB, Rocha CFD (2017) Host bromeliads and their associated frog species: Further considerations on the importance of species interactions for conservation. Symbiosis 73(3): 201–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13199-017-0500-9
- Segalla MV, Caramaschi U, Cruz CAG, Garcia PCA, Grant T, Haddad CFB, Santana DJ, Toledo LF, Langone JA (2019) Brazilian Amphibians: List of species. Herpetologia Brasileira 8: 65–96.
- SEMA (2017) Secretaria do Meio Ambiente do Estado da Bahia Portaria Nº 37 de 16 de agosto de 2017.
- Silvano DL, Pimenta BVS (2003) Diversidade e distribuição de anfíbios na Mata Atlântica do Sul da Bahia. In: Prado PI, Landau EC, Moura RT, Pinto LP, Fonseca GAB, Alger K (Eds) Corredor de Biodiversidade na Mata Atlântica do Sul da Bahia, IESB/CI/CABS/IFMG/ UNICAMP, 1–22.

- Silvano D, Segalla M (2005) Conservation of Brazilian amphibians. Conservation Biology 19(3): 653–658. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2005.00681.x
- Silveira LF, Develey PF, Pacheco JF, Whitney BM (2005) Avifauna of the Serra das Lontras-Javi montane complex, Bahia, Brazil. Cotinga 24: 45–54.
- Siqueira CC, Rocha CFD (2013) Altitudinal gradients: concepts and implications on the biology, the distribution and conservation of anurans. Oecologia Australis 17(2): 92–112. https://doi.org/10.4257/oeco.2013.1702.09
- Teixeira MJ, Recoder RS, Amaro RC, Damasceno RP, Cassimiro J, Rodrigues MT (2013) A new *Crossodactylodes* Cochran, 1938 (Anura: Leptodactylidae: Paratelmatobiinae) from the highlands of the Atlantic Forests of southern Bahia, Brazil. Zootaxa 3702(5): 459–472. https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3702.5.5
- Thomas WW, Carvalho AMV, Amorim AM, Garrison J, Arbeláez AL (1998) Plant endemism in two forests in southern Bahia, Brazil. Biodiversity and Conservation 7(3): 311–322. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008825627656
- Tonini JFR, Carão LM, Pinto IS, Gasparini JL, Leite YLR, Costa LP (2010) Non-volant tetrapods from Reserva Biológica de Duas Bocas, State of Espírito Santo, Southeastern Brazil. Biota Neotropica 10(3): 339–351. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-06032010000300032
- Tozetti AM, Sawaya RJ, Molina FB, Bérnils RS, Barbo FE, Cesar J, Leite DM, Borges-Martins M, Recoder RS, Teixeira M, Rodrigues MT (2017) Répteis. In: Monteiro-Filho ELA, Conte CE (Eds) Revisões em Zoologia, Mata Atlântica. Editora UFPR, Curitiba, 315–364.
- Trindade-Filho J, de Carvalho RA, Brito D, Loyola RD (2012) How does the inclusion of Data Deficient species change conservation priorities for amphibians in the Atlantic Forest? Biodiversity and Conservation 21(10): 2709–2718. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-012-0326-y
- Uetz P, Hošek J (2020) The Reptile Database. http://www.reptile-database.org/
- Vanzolini PE, Myers CW (2015) The Herpetological Collection of Maximilian, Prince of Wied (1782–1867), with special reference to Brazilian materials. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 395: 1–155. https://doi.org/10.1206/910.1
- Verdade VK, Valdujo PH, Carnaval AC, Schiesari L, Toledo LF, Mott T, Andrade GV, Eterovick PC, Menin M, Pimenta BVS, Nogueira C, Lisboa CS, de Paula CD, Silvano DL (2012) A leap further: the Brazilian Amphibian Conservation Action Plan. Alytes 29(1–4): 28–43.
- Vörös J, Dias IR, Solé M (2017) A new species of *Phyllodytes* (Anura: Hylidae) from the Atlantic Rainforest of southern Bahia, Brazil. Zootaxa 4337(4): 584–594. https://doi. org/10.11646/zootaxa.4337.4.9
- Wallach V, Williams KL, Boundy J (2014) Snakes of the world a catalogue of living and extinct species. Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, 1237 pp.
- Wells KD (2008) The ecology and behavior of amphibians. The University of Chicago Press, Illinois, 1148 pp.
- Zaracho VH (2014) Re-description of the Advertisement Call of Vitreorana uranoscopa (Müller, 1924) (Anura, Centrolenidae) from the Argentinean Atlantic Forest, with notes on Natural History. South American Journal of Herpetology 9(2): 83–89. https://doi.org/10.2994/ SAJH-D-14-00005.1
Appendix I

Specimens deposited and examined in the herpetological collection of the Museu de Zoologia of the Universidade Estadual de Santa Cruz.

AMPHIBIA

Brachycephalidae

Brachycephalus pulex – MZUESC 21691–21697. Ischnocnema verrucosa – MZUESC 21303, 21304, 21359, 21361, 21362. Ischnocnema cf. parva – MZUESC 21306, 21393, 21404, 21405.

Bufonidae

Rhinella crucifer - MZUESC 21300, 21351, 21354, 21389, 21417, 21650, 21652, 21653.

Centrolenidae

Vitreorana baliomma – MZUESC 21037, 21039.

Vitreorana eurygnatha – MZUESC 21034, 21038, 21040, 21042, 21043, 21045.

Vitreorana sp. nov. - MZUESC 21044.

Vitreorana uranoscopa - MZUESC 21035, 21036, 21046.

Craugastoridae

"Eleutherodactylus" bilineatus – MZUESC 17025.

Haddadus binotatus – MZUESC 21298, 21309, 21385, 21387, 21390, 21392, 21394–21396, 21399–21401, 21403, 21408–21411, 21413, 21419, 21424, 21429, 21434.
Pristimantis sp. 1 – MZUESC 20995, 2009–21001, 21004, 21005, 21008, 21009, 21012, 21013, 21015, 21016, 21021, 21024, 21027, 21030, 21032, 21033.

- Pristimantis sp. 2 MZUESC 21443, 21454, 21482, 21495, 21692, 21692, 21693.
 Pristimantis sp. 2 MZUESC 21443, 21454, 21482, 21495, 21496, 21513, 21535, 21550, 21559, 21577, 21580, 21584, 21588, 21590, 21591, 21594, 21604, 21610–21612, 21632, 21643, 21644, 21647.
- *Pristimantis paulodutrai* MZUESC 21447, 21485, 21486, 21492, 21497, 21507, 21538, 21539, 21541, 21593, 32452.
- Pristimantis vinhai MZUESC 21020, 21439–21441, 21448–21451, 21453, 21461, 21462, 21484, 21487–21491, 21494, 21494, 21508–21511, 21514–21518, 21525, 21526, 21528, 21531, 21532, 21537, 21540, 21549, 21551–21556, 21563–21567, 21571–21573, 21578, 21579, 21586, 21587, 21603, 21606, 21613, 21618–21622, 21641, 21642, 21648.

Eleutherodactylidae

Adelophryne sp. 2 – MZUESC 21445, 21446, 21502, 21504, 21505, 21519, 21522, 21529, 21575, 21583, 21602, 21638.

Adelophryne sp. 8 – MZUESC 21444, 21450, 21483, 21498, 21499, 21506, 21512, 21520, 21521, 21523, 21524, 21527, 21530, 21533, 21534, 21536, 21557, 21560, 21568–21570, 21576, 21585, 21589, 21596–21601, 21605, 21607– 21609, 21615, 21616, 21623–21631, 21634–21637, 21639, 21645, 21646.

Hemiphractidae

Gastrotheca recava – MZUESC 21350, 21353, 21357, 21358.

Hylidae

Aplastodiscus ibirapitanga – MZUESC 21305. Aplastodiscus weygoldti – MZUESC 21356. Boana crepitans – MZUESC 2222, 2223. Boana faber - MZUESC 21388, 21391, 21428, 21651, 21655, 21656. Boana pombali – MZUESC 21397. Bokermannohyla lucianae - MZUESC 21299, 21307, 21386, 21406, 21412, 21414, 21415, 21418, 21422, 21423, 21425–21427, 21430, 21431, 21437, 21438. Dendropsophus branneri – MZUESC 21500, 21592. Dendropsophus aff. bromeliaceus – MZUESC 21041, 21047. Dendropsophus elegans – MZUESC 21558. Dendropsophus haddadi - MZUESC 21456-21460, 21501, 21542-21548, 21581, 21582. Ololygon strigilata – MZUESC 21352, 21402, 21407, 21416, 21433, 21435, 21436. *Phyllodytes* sp. 1 – MZUESC 20994, 20996, 20997, 21000, 21002, 21003, 21006, 21007, 21010, 21011, 21014, 21017-21019, 21022, 21023, 21025, 21026, 21028, 21029, 21031, 21442, 21561, 21640. *Scinax* cf. *x-signatus* – MZUESC 20408–20410, CFBH 44693.

Hylodidae

Crossodactylus sp. - MZUESC 20965-20971.

Leptodactylidae:

Adenomera clade M. – MZUESC 21713, 21714. Crossodactylodes septentrionalis – MZUESC 14363, 21668. Leptodactylus cf. latrans – MZUESC 21384, 21654.

Phyllomedusidae

Phasmahyla spectabilis – MZUESC 21301, 21360. Phyllomedusa burmeisteri – MZUESC 21308, 21363.

REPTILIA

Amphisbaenidae

Amphisbaena petrei – MZUESC 16975. *Leposternon* sp. – MZUESC 6707.

Boidae

Corallus hortulanus – MZUESC 1231, 1732, 3151, 3152, 6682. *Epicrates cenchria* – MZUESC 2161, 4897, 8891.

Chelidae

Hydromedusa maximiliani – MZUESC 1235, 2189.

Colubridae

Cercophis auratus – MZUESC 1131.

- Chironius exoletus MZUESC 1102, 1122, 1228, 2167, 2236, 2237, 2904, 2905, 8861.
- Chironius foveatus MZUESC 1124, 8864.
- *Chironius fuscus* MZUESC 1101, 1003, 1125, 1130, 1137, 1138, 1220, 1744, 1755, 2234–2235, 6698, 6700.
- Chironius laevicollis MZUESC 6699.
- Coronelaps lepidus MZUESC 2227.
- Dipsas catesbyi MZUESC 21664, 2166, 4873.
- Dipsas indica MZUESC 1730, 4882.
- *Dipsas neuwiedi* MZUESC 1104–1106, 1127–1129, 1221–1223, 1232, 1233, 1736–1738, 1750, 2173, 2174, 21398, 2230–2233, 4272, 4425, 4493, 4874, 4875, 6687–6691, 6702, 8867.
- Dipsas variegata MZUESC 1108-1111, 1136, 1739, 1740, 2191, 2192, 4883, 6704, 6705.
- Drymoluber dichrous MZUESC 1528, 2247, 4881, 6683.
- Echinanthera cephalostriata MZUESC 1213.
- Elapomorphus wuchereri MZUESC 4489, 8890.
- Erythrolamprus aesculapii MZUESC 4876, 6692.

- Erythrolamprus miliaris MZUESC 2249.
- *Erythrolamprus poecilogyrus* MZUESC 2172.
- Erythrolamprus reginae MZUESC 1747, 1748, 21660, 2246, 2895, 6694.
- Erythrolamprus taeniogaster MZUESC 2901.
- Imantodes cenchoa MZUESC 1227, 19220, 21663.
- *Leptodeira annulata* MZUESC 1107, 1123, 1743, 2190, 2897, 4268, 4270, 4493, 4500, 6703.
- Oxybelis aeneus MZUESC 1224, 21662, 2171, 4427.
- Oxyrhopus formosus MZUESC 19221.
- Oxyrhopus guibei MZUESC 21665, 2226, 3791, 4878, 4879, 6706, 8887.
- *Oxyrhopus petolarius* MZUESC 1112, 1113, 1218, 1219, 1749, 2170, 2229, 2900, 4275, 4880.
- Philodryas olfersii MZUESC 8892.
- *Pseudoboa nigra* MZUESC 8862.
- Siphlophis compressus MZUESC 1234, 2168.
- Spilotes pullatus MZUESC 18800, 2164, 8881, 8882.
- *Spilotes sulphureus* MZUESC 2243, 3153, 4426, 4495, 4503, 4852, 8863.
- *Thamnodynastes* cf. *nattereri* MZUESC 19722, 2169, 2241, 2242, 2248, 4269, 4271, 4502, 6701.
- Xenodon rabdocephalus MZUESC 1133–1135, 1214, 1215, 1229, 1230, 1529, 1729, 1741, 1742, 2175–2179, 2193–2197, 2228, 2244, 2245, 2902, 2903, 2989, 3792, 4496–4999, 4273, 4274, 4424, 4884–4889, 6684–6686, 6696, 6697.

Dactyloidae

Anolis fuscoauratus – MZUESC 21420, 21421.

Elapidae

Micrurus corallinus – MZUESC 1746, 4877, 6693.

Gekkonidae

Hemidactylus mabouia – MZUESC 21355.

Gymnophtalmidae

Leposoma nanodactylus – MZUESC 21562, 21573, 21595, 21633. Leposoma scincoides – MZUESC 21614.

Leiosauridae

Enyalius catenatus – MZUESC 1116, 1731, 2165, 21302, 21310, 21311, 21349, 21432, 21657–21659.

Polychrotidae

Polychrus marmoratus – MZUESC 1115, 1117.

Teiidae

Ameiva ameiva – MZUESC 1114, 1139–1140.

Tropidophiidae

Tropidophis grapiuna – MZUESC 19219.

Viperidae

- Bothrops bilineatus MZUESC 1119–1120, 1530, 21661, 2899, 3790, 4428–4430, 4869–4872, 6708.
- Bothrops jararaca MZUESC 1091–1100, 1121, 1126, 1132, 1216, 1225, 1226, 1727, 1728, 1733–1735, 2180–2188, 2198–2203, 3147–3150, 3787–3789, 4265–4267, 4501, 4417–4419, 4421–4423, 4431, 4490–4492, 6709–6721, 6695, 8865, 8866, 8868–8880, 8883–8886, 8888, 17480, 17822, 19719, 21666, 2238–2240, 4890–4896, 6670–6681.

Bothrops leucurus – MZUESC 1217, 2896, 4264, 4416, 4418, 4420. *Lachesis muta* – MZUESC 2162, 2163, 4263, 4232–4434, 4504, 4898.